

Epidermals & other animal proteins

Allergy – Which allergens?





Authors: Dr Harris Steinman and Dr Sarah Ruden, Allergy Resources International, P O Box 565, Milnerton 7435, South Africa, harris@zingsolutions.com. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form without the written consent of Phadia AB. ©Phadia AB, 2009

Design: RAK Design AB, 2009 Printed by: X-O Graf Tryckeri AB, Uppsala, Sweden ISBN 91-973440-4-4

Contents

Introdu	ction	5
e204	BSA (bovine serum albumin)	9
e77	Budgerigar droppings	13
e78	Budgerigar feathers	17
e79	Budgerigar serum proteins	21
e201	Canary bird feathers	25
e1	Cat dander	29
e220	Cat serum albumin	39
e218	Chicken droppings	43
e85	Chicken feathers	47
Re219	Chicken, serum proteins	51
Re208	Chinchilla epithelium	55
e4	Cow dander	57
Re216	Deer epithelium	61
e5	Dog dander/	
	Re221 Dog serum albumin	63
e86	Duck feathers	73
Re217	Ferret epithelium	75
Re214	Finch feathers	77
Re210	Fox epithelium	79
Re209	Gerbil epithelium	81
e80	Goat epithelium	83
e70	Goose feathers	85
e6	Guinea pig epithelium	87
e84	Hamster epithelium	91
e3	Horse dander	93
Re205	Horse, serum proteins	97
Re203	Mink epithelium	. 101
e71	Mouse epithelium	. 103
e88	Mouse epithelium, serum proteins and	
	urine proteins	. 107
e76	Mouse serum proteins	. 113
e72	Mouse urine proteins	. 119
e213	Parrot feathers	. 125
e7	Pigeon droppings	. 129
e215	Pigeon feathers	. 133
e82	Rabbit epithelium	. 137
Re206	Rabbit, serum proteins	. 141
Re211	Rabbit, urine proteins	. 143

e73	Rat epithelium	147
e87	Rat epithelium, serum proteins and	
	urine proteins	151
e75	Rat serum proteins	157
e74	Rat urine proteins	161
Re202	Reindeer epithelium	167
e81	Sheep epithelium	169
e83	Swine epithelium	171
Re222	Swine serum albumin	175
Re212	Swine, urine proteins	179
e89	Turkey feathers	183
Mixes		
ex1 - e	x73	185

Epidermal and Animal Protein Allergens

The non-ingested allergens produced by mammals and birds comprise a large and complex group. Incidence of sensitisation appears to be increasing, and this is partly attributable to three factors. One is the longstanding but growing practice of keeping pets. Western ways are winning out, with record levels of Dog and Cat ownership, and with companion animals living within homes, sleeping on furniture or even with humans on their beds, and being handled and otherwise interacted with quite closely and frequently. With birth rates decreasing almost worldwide, pets help fill in for relationships that are rarer than previously: relationships with children, with younger siblings, and with grandchildren. For this reason and others, a pet allergy can be a particularly distressing one. In purely medical and practical terms, the treatment of choice is obvious: removal of the animal from the home. In emotional and social terms, things can be much more difficult, and this makes it crucial to begin with a correct diagnosis and a thorough understanding of the mechanisms of the allergy.

The second reason for the growth in allergy in this area is the increasing concentration and scale of agriculture and food manufacture. On the traditional farm of previous generations a variety of foodstuffs - meat, plant and dairy - were produced seasonally, usually limiting the exposure of farm workers to any one substance. With massive and monotonous exposure of workers to allergenic substances, it is not surprising that occupational allergy has risen dramatically. One of the predominant risks is allergy to epidermal and other animal proteins. Another important source of occupational animal allergies is laboratories. Rats, Mice, Guinea pigs and other animals are kept in large numbers for large-scale, statistically meaningful research, and workers who feed and handle them and clean their cages receive a high dose of their proteins.

The third important factor is growth in pest populations. Pigeons, Mice and Rats have found a solid ecological niche in the human urban environment, where they have ready food supplies and few predators. Rodents and some birds also infest agricultural environments. which are especially rich in food. Fabulous-sounding accounts are publicised of millions of pests living in certain districts. Modern sanitation and other hygiene measures have limited the infectious diseases pests and their parasites previously spread, but the problem of the presence of the animals and exposure to their various proteins remains. Animal pests are small enough to nest practically anywhere, and they live by foraging excursions, spreading their proteins efficiently wherever food might be found - which is almost everywhere. Rats are the chief offenders: they can pass through very tiny holes, and they can gnaw through concrete. They are also the most difficult to exterminate. As a complicating factor, certain strains of Rats, Mice and Pigeons are also kept as pets.

Animal allergen exposure is by several routes. In the case of birds, it is usually by their dried dung that becomes airborne as particulates, or by substances shed from their feathers. Mammals tend to shed allergens when proteins flake away from the outer layer of skin or epithelium; through serum albumin that is found in their saliva; or through dander, which comprises particles from their hair or fur. But these chemically distinct substances are very often combined, especially in the case of animals like Cats and rodents that wash themselves by licking, spreading saliva on both skin and fur. The urine of some mammals like Rats is a significant allergen and can be found either on the animal or in its environment. Bovine serum albumin occurs in meat and milk and so can act as a food allergen. It is also a substance very frequently employed in laboratories, for testing and for culturing cells and bacteria.

Common symptoms of bird allergy are asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis. A more severe syndrome, which can even result in death, is extrinsic allergic alveolitis (also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung), an inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Bird-Egg Syndrome is characterised by cross-reactivity between extrinsic bird proteins and ingested egg. Symptoms include rhinitis, urticaria, angioedema, and gastro-intestinal problems. Where exposure to bird proteins is intense, as in chicken farming and the feather processing industry, occupational allergies can occur.

Also where mammals are concerned, asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis are the most common symptoms. Dermatological symptoms can occur from exposure to some mammals (e.g., Cows), and angioedema and dyspnoea have also been reported after exposure to some (e.g., Deer). In farming, laboratories, and the fur industry, occupational allergies have been reported. Laboratory workers may experience anaphylactic reactions after bites, scratches and needle pricks (1-3). Swine Breeder's Lung, a form of extrinsic allergic alveolitus, is in rare cases associated with pig farming (4-5).

Cross-reactivity

Within this group of allergens, crossreactivity must be viewed in the context of enormous genetic diversity. The animals in question have nothing universally in common but the fact that they are warmblooded, terrestrial vertebrates, and in some cases their evolutionary divergence goes back more than a hundred million years. Nevertheless, broad cross-reactivity can be demonstrated. Sub-groups such as the birds naturally display cross-reactive attributes. For example, Budgerigar and Chicken feather and egg yolk extracts have common epitopes, which may be important in the cross-sensitisation necessary for Bird-Egg Syndrome (6-8). There is an association between Horse, Cow and Deer (9-11), and between Ferret and Mink (12). Allergies to Dog and to Cat have been frequently linked (13-16), and the link has been extended to Fox and Mink.(17) In contrast, the Guinea pig and the Siberian Hamster appear distinctly un-cross-reactive (18-19).

But as indicated above, immunological relationships are not limited to the species among which they might be more or less expected. Cow's hair and Cow's milk represent one instance of cross-reactivity between a respiratory allergen and a food allergen (20-22). Cat and ingested Pork have a special immunological connection (23). Studies have demonstrated the potential for cross-reactivity to albumins from animals as different as Dog, Cat, Mouse, Chicken, Rat and even human (24-25). The lipocalin family of proteins is common to practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and even Cockroach, and also occurs in the betalactoalbumin of Cow's milk: a certain degree of cross-reactivity can therefore be expected (26).

$\label{eq:limit} ImmunoCAP^{\rm \tiny M} \mbox{ epidermal and animal protein allergens available for IgE antibody testing}$

e204	BSA (bovine serum albumin) <i>Bos spp.</i>	Re205	Horse, serum proteins <i>Equus caballus</i>
e77	Budgerigar droppings	Re203	Mink epithelium Mustela spp.
e78	Melopsittacus undulatus Budgerigar feathers Melopsittacus undulatus	e88	Mouse epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins <i>Mus spp.</i>
e 79	Budgerigar serum proteins Melopsittacus undulatus	e71 e76	Mouse epithelium <i>Mus spp.</i> Mouse serum proteins <i>Mus spp</i>
e201	Canary bird feathers Serinus canarius	e72	Mouse urine proteins <i>Mus spp.</i>
e1	Cat dander Felis domesticus	ez 13	Parlot reathers Ara spp.
e220	Cat serum albumin Felis domesticus	e215	Pigeon feathers <i>Columba livia</i>
e218	Chicken droppings Gallus domesticus	e82	Rabbit epithelium Oryctolagus cuniculus
e85	Chicken feathers	Re206	Rabbit, serum proteins Oryctolagus cuniculus
Re219	Chicken, serum proteins	Re211	Rabbit, urine proteins Oryctolagus cuniculus
Re 208	Chinchilla epithelium Chinchilla laniger	e87	Rat epithelium, serum, proteins and urine proteins <i>Rattus norvegicus</i>
e4	Cow dander Bos taurus	e73	Rat epithelium <i>Rattus norvegicus</i>
Re216	Deer epithelium Dama dama	e75	Rat serum proteins
e5	Dog dander Canis familiaris		Rattus norvegicus
Re221	Dog serum albumin Canis familiaris	e74	Rat urine proteins Rattus norvegicus
e86 Ro217	Duck feathers Anas platyrhynca	Re202	Reindeer epithelium Rangifer tarandus
NC217	Mustela putorius	e81	Sheep epithelium Ovis aries
Re214	Finch feathers	e83	Swine epithelium Sus scrofa
Re210	Lonchura domestrica Fox enithelium Vulpes vulpes	Re222	Swine serum albumin Sus scrofa
Re209	Gerbil epithelium Meriopes unquiculatus	Re212	Swine, urine proteins <i>Sus scrofa</i>
e80	Goat epithelium <i>Capra hircus</i>	e89	Turkey feathers
e70	Goose feathers Anser anser		Meleagris gallopavo
e6	Guinea pig epithelium Cavia porcellus	Mixes:	ex1 ex2
e84	Hamster epithelium Cricetus cricetus, Phodopus sungorus, Mesocricetus auratus		ex70 ex71 ex72
e3	Horse dander Equus caballus		ex73

References

- Watt AD, McSharry CP. Laboratory animal allergy: anaphylaxis from a needle injury. Occup Environ Med 1996;53(8):573-4
- Wolfle T, Bush RK. The Science and Pervasiveness of Laboratory Animal Allergy ILAR 2001;42(1):1-3
- Hesford JD, Platts-Mills TA, Edlich RF. Anaphylaxis after laboratory rat bite: an occupational hazard. J Emerg Med 1995;13(6):765-8
- Schlegel V, Liebetrau G, Pohl WD. Swine breeder's lung – a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis. [German] Z Erkr Atmungsorgane 1990;174(2):143-8
- Baur X. Case report published by V. Schlegel, G. Liebetrau, W. D. Pohl, "Swine breeder's lunga form of exogenous allergic alveolitis". [Letter] [German] Pneumologie 1992;46(9):491
- Szepfalusi Z, Ebner C, Pandjaitan R, Orlicek F, Scheiner O, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Kraft D, Ebner H. Egg yolk alpha-livetin (chicken serum albumin) is a cross-reactive allergen in the bird-egg syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(5):932-42
- Mandallaz MM, de Weck AL, Dahinden CA. Bird-egg syndrome. Cross-reactivity between bird antigens and egg-yolk livetins in IgEmediated hypersensitivity. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1988;87(2):143-50.
- de Blay F, Hoyet C, Candolfi E, Thierry R, Pauli G. Identification of alpha livetin as a cross reacting allergen in a bird- egg syndrome. Allergy Proc 1994;15(2):77-8.
- Spitzauer S, Valenta R, Muhl S, Rumpold H, Ebner H, Ebner C. Characterization of allergens from deer: cross-reactivity with allergens from cow dander. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(2):196-200
- Huwyler T, Wuthrich B. A case of fallow deer allergy. Cross-reactivity between fallow deer and horse allergy. Allergy 1992;47(5):574-5
- Nahm DH, Park JW, Hong CS. Occupational asthma due to deer dander. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1996;76(5):423-6
- Codina R, Reichmuth D, Lockey RF, Jaen C. Ferret allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;107(5):927
- 13 Boutin Y, Hebert H, Vrancken ER, Mourad W. Allergenicity and cross reactivity of cat and dog allergenic extracts. Clin Allergy 1988;18(3):287 93
- Cabanas R, Lopez-Serrano MC, Carreira J, Ventas P, Polo F, Caballero MT, Contreras J, Barranco P, Moreno-Ancillo A. Importance of albumin in cross-reactivity among cat, dog and horse allergens. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2000;10(2):71-7

- 15. Viander M, Valovirta E, Vanto T, Koivikko A. Cross-reactivity of cat and dog allergen extracts. RAST inhibition studies with special reference to the allergenic activity in saliva and urine. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1983;71(3):252-60
- Spitzauer S, Pandjaitan B, Muhl S, Ebner C, Kraft D, Valenta R, Rumpold H. Major cat and dog allergens share IgE epitopes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99(1 Pt 1):100-6
- Savolainen J, Uitti J, Halmepuro L, Nordman H. IgE response to fur animal allergens and domestic animal allergens in fur farmers and fur garment workers. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(5):501-9
- Fahlbusch B, Rudeschko O, Szilagyi U, Schlott B, Henzgen M *et al.* Purification and partial characterization of the major allergen, Cav p 1, from guinea pig *Cavia porcellus.* Allergy 2002;57(5):417-22
- Berto JM, Pelaez A, Fernandez E, Lombardero M, Ferrer M. Siberian hamster: a new indoor source of allergic sensitization and respiratory disease. Allergy 2002;57(2):155-9
- Valero Santiago AL, Rosell Vives E, Lluch Perez M, Sancho Gomez J, Piulats Xanco J, Malet Casajuana A. Occupational allergy caused by cow dander: detection and identification of the allergenic fractions. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 1997;25(6):259-65
- Prahl P, Bucher D, Plesner T, Weeke B, Lowenstein H. Isolation and partial characterisation of three major allergens in an extract from cow hair and dander. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1982;67(4):293-301
- Osvath P, Endre L, Peter F. Cross reaction of specific IgE antibodies directed against cow's milk and bovine hair (author's transl). [German] Allerg Immunol (Leipz) 1979;25(3):203-6
- Hilger C, Kohnen M, Grigioni F, Lehners C, Hentges F. Allergic cross-reactions between cat and pig serum albumin. Study at the protein and DNA levels. Allergy 1997;52(2):179-87
- 24. Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P, Muhl S, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H *et al.* Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a cross-reactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27
- Pandjaitan B, Swoboda I, Brandejsky-Pichler F, Rumpold H, Valenta R, Spitzauer S. *Escherichia coli* expression and purification of recombinant dog albumin, a cross-reactive animal allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000 Feb;105(2 Pt 1):279-85
- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17

e204 BSA (bovine serum albumin)

Bos spp.Family:BovidaeSource
material:Serum albuminSee also:Beef f27Direct or indirect contact with Bovine
serum albumin often causes
sensitisation.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Serum albumin is the main protein in mammalian blood tissue. It plays a very important role in the transport of nutritional substances into the system by virtue of its ability to bind with a large number of molecules.

Beef contains BSA and gamma globulin. These are heat-labile proteins found also in Cow's milk. BSA is a distinct milk allergen comprising approximately 1% of the total milk protein.

Environment

BSA is a protein found in Beef and in milk. It may be obtained from Bovine plasma, which is collected in slaughterhouses, highly purified, and used in biochemistry, immunochemistry, haematology and microbiology, in all countries where these sciences are practiced. It is most often employed in the production of diagnostic test systems, as a growth medium for bacteria, and as a cell culture.

Unexpected exposure

It is used in the manufacture of anti-wrinkle skin-tightener and is a basic protein for biological reactants. It may be used as a medium for *in vitro* fertilisation techniques.

Allergens

Bos d 6, a 67 kDa, heat-labile protein, is a major allergen in Beef and a minor allergen in milk (1-4).

Heat treatment and chemical denaturation are not able to decrease BSA's capacity to bind serum-specific IgE (5).



Potential cross-reactivity

Bovine serum albumin occurs as a major allergen in Beef, and a minor allergen in Cow's milk. Beef-allergic individuals are at risk of being allergic to Cow's milk and vice versa.

BSA and OSA (Ovine serum albumin) are important Beef and Lamb allergens. They have similar proteic sequences and allergenic properties (6).

Thiomucase (a mucopolysaccharidase obtained from Ovine tissues and used mainly to facilitate the diffusion of local anaesthetics and in the treatment of cellulitis) is partially cross-reactive with BSA, Cat dander and Sheep dander (7).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Food allergy (Beef/Milk), asthma, allergic rhinitis and anaphylaxis often occur following exposure to BSA (8). In Beef allergy, Bovine serum albumin (BSA) and actin have been reported to be the proteins most frequently involved in binding with the circulating IgE (9-10).

e204 BSA (bovine serum albumin)

BSA can also be an occupational allergen. Recurrent rhinoconjunctivitis and wheezing following repeated exposure to purified lyophilised Bovine serum albumin (BSA) have been described in a laboratory technician (11).

Eosinophilic gastroenteritis is a disease characterised histologically by an eosinophilic infiltration of the gut. A study reports on a 22-year-old man in whom gastrointestinal symptoms first appeared in childhood. He had high IgE blood levels, and his skin-specific IgE test was positive to Bovine, Pig, and Lamb sera. The patient's serum contained specific IgE to Bovine serum albumin. The authors report that their data suggests a possible role for IgE-mediated hypersensitivity mechanisms in the pathogenesis of eosinophilic gastroenteritis (12).

The proliferative responses of peripheral blood mononuclear cells to Ovalbumin or Bovine serum albumin in children with atopic dermatitis who are sensitive to Hen's egg or Cow's milk have been reported to be significantly higher than the response of peripheral blood mononuclear cells of healthy children and Hen's egg- or Cow's milk-sensitive children with immediate symptoms (13-14).

A number of studies have reported severe allergic reactions during artificial insemination as a result of exposure to BSA present in the growth medium.

A 33-year-old woman without a history of atopic diseases or drug allergies developed a severe anaphylactic reaction with asthma, vomiting, itching, generalised urticaria, and angioedema during artificial insemination with her husband's sperm. The spermprocessing medium contained Bovine serum albumin (BSA). Bovine serum albumin is present in the follicle-rinsing fluid and in the medium used for embryo culture. The authors point out that artificial insemination with fluid containing potential allergens can represent an unnecessary risk for atopic females, even in the absence of prior clinical symptoms of allergic diseases (15-18).

Other reactions

A 27-year-old woman with severe recurrent angioedema and urticaria since the age of 5 years was found to have high levels of circulating immune complexes in the peripheral blood. These immune complexes contained antibodies against Bovine serum albumin. Elimination of Bovine products from the diet resulted in the disappearance of immune complexes within 2 days. Reintroduction of Bovine products to the diet resulted in the reappearance of these immune complexes within 24 hours (19).

In an *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) program in which a medium containing Bovine serum albumin (Menezo's medium) was employed for rinsing follicles, 5 (15%) of 32 women involved developed a symptom complex compatible with serum sickness within 8-12 days after oocyte retrieval by echographic puncture. All the patients had specific IgG antibodies against BSA, and intradermal skin testing with BSA and Menezo's medium were positive. The presence of specific IgE against BSA in serum could not be demonstrated. The authors suggest that this is probably due to the presence of high levels of specific IgG antibodies, which can interfere in the RAST procedure (20).

e204 BSA (bovine serum albumin)

References

- Szepfalusi Z, Ebner C, Urbanek R, Ebner H, Scheiner O, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Kraft D. Detection of IgE antibodies specific for allergens in cow milk and cow dander. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1993;102(3):288-94
- Han GD, Matsuno M, Ito G, Ikeucht Y, Suzuki A. Meat allergy: investigation of potential allergenic proteins in beef. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 2000;64(9):1887-95
- 3. Fiocchi A, Restani P, Riva E. Beef allergy in children. Nutrition 2000;16(6):454-7
- Fiocchi A, Restani P, Riva E, Mirri GP, Santini I, Bernardo L, Galli CL. Heat treatment modifies the allergenicity of beef and bovine serum albumin. Allergy 1998;53(8):798-802
- Restani P, Fiocchi A, Beretta B, Velona T, Giovannini M, Galli CL. Effects of structure modifications on IgE binding properties of serum albumins. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1998;117(2):113-9
- Fiocchi A, Restani P, Riva E, Qualizza R, Bruni P, Restelli AR, Galli CL. Meat allergy: I--Specific IgE to BSA and OSA in atopic, beef sensitive children.
 J Am Coll Nutrition 1995;14(3):239-44
- Caballero T, Alonso A, De Miguel S, Martin-Esteban M, Varga B, Pascual CY, Lopez-Serrano MC. IgE-mediated anaphylaxis to Thiomucase, a mucopolyssacharidase: allergens and cross-reactivity. Allergy 2002;57(3):254-7
- Kanny G, de Hauteclocque C, Moneret-Vautrin DA. Food anaphylaxis to bovine serum albumin. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101(1 Pt 1):137-9
- Restani P, Fiocchi A, Beretta B, Velona T, Giovannini M, Galli CL. Meat allergy: III--Proteins involved and cross-reactivity between different animal species. J Am Coll Nutr 1997;16(4):383-9
- Werfel S, Cooke SK, Sampson HA. Clinical reactivity to beef in children allergic to cow's milk.

J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99(3):293-300

 Joliat TL, Weber RW. Occupational asthma and rhinoconjunctivitis from inhalation of crystalline bovine serum albumin powder. Ann Allergy 1991;66(4):301-4

- Verdaguer J, Corominas M, Bas J, Valls A, Mestre M, Romeu A, Gonzalez L, Massip E, Buendia E. IgE antibodies against bovine serum albumin in a case of eosinophilic gastroenteritis. Allergy 1993 Oct;48(7):542-6
- Kondo N, Agata H, Fukutomi O, Motoyoshi F, Orii T. Lymphocyte responses to food antigens in patients with atopic dermatitis who are sensitive to foods. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990;86(2):253-60
- 14. Agata H, Kondo N, Fukutomi O, Shinoda S, Nishida T, Orii T. Evaluation of lymphocyte proliferative responses to food antigens with regard to age and food-specific IgE antibodies in food-sensitive atopic dermatitis. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1993;3(4):174-7
- Wüthrich B, Stern A, Johansson SG. Severe anaphylactic reaction to bovine serum albumin at the first attempt of artificial insemination. Allergy 1995;50(2):179-83
- Moneret-Vautrin A, Wal JM, Guillet-Rossof F, Gerard H, Boulard P. Bovine serum albumin immunization: a new risk of allergy during protocols for *in vitro* fertilization. Allergy 1991;46(3):228-34
- de Blay F, Tomb R, Vouillot C, Thierry R, Grosshans E, Pauli G. Urticaria and angioedema during insemination with fluid containing bovine serum albumin. Contact Dermatitis 1993;28(2):119
- Sonenthal KR, McKnight T, Shaughnessy MA, Grammer LC, Jeyendran RS. Anaphylaxis during intrauterine insemination secondary to bovine serum albumin. Fertil Steril 1991;56(6):1188-91
- 19. Lefvert AK. Recurrent angioedema caused by circulating immune complexes containing antibodies against bovine proteins. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1993;102(1):112-6
- Morales C, Braso JV, Pellicer A, Ruiz A, Pelaez A. Serum sickness due to bovine serum albumin sensitization during *in vitro* fertilization. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1994;4(5):246-9

e77 Budgerigar droppings

Melopsittacus undulatus

•	
Family:	Psittacidae
Common	
names:	Budgerigar, Budgie,
	Parakeet
Source	
material:	Droppings
See also:	Budgerigar
	 feathers e78 and
	Budgerigar
	– serum albumin e79

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components in house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Budgerigar and Parakeet are the common names for a widespread group of small Parrots, native to the Indo-Malayan-Australian region and now the most popular cage birds in the world. Parakeets have long, pointed tails, unlike the chunky Lovebirds with which they are sometimes confused. The wild Budgerigar of Australia is usually green or blue with black and yellow markings; as a cage bird, however, it has been bred in many color varieties.

Environment

Large flocks, sometimes in the tens of thousands, inhabit the open grasslands in central Australia, nesting in the spring and summer in the southern areas of the continent. In most of the world, however, Budgerigars are familiar only as pets.

Allergens

No allergens from this bird have yet been fully characterized.

Canary and Budgerigar feathers contain IgE-binding antigens that are not present in the corresponding bird sera and droppings (1).



Potential cross-reactivity

Cross-reactivity between Chicken and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Chicken-allergic patients significant IgE titers to Parrot, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (2-3), even in patients without known exposure (6).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result on exposure to Budgerigars (1,4).

In a prospective study, 258 adults were investigated for sensitisation against bird antigens (Budgerigar, Canary, Pigeon) using an intracutaneous test. Eighteen of 78 Budgerigar keepers reacted against Budgerigar feathers. Thirty (38%) showed a positive skin reaction with at least 1 of the 3 extracts tested. In non-bird-exposed persons a reaction was found in 18/96 (19%) against Budgerigar and in 24/96 (25%) against at least 1 of the 3 allergen extracts. Late reactions occurred in 5/70 (7%) Budgerigar keepers. The frequency of sensitization against Budgerigar antigens

e77 Budgerigar droppings

increased to 48% of bird keepers (24/50) if the birds could fly around in their homes instead of being always caged (4/22, 18%). Three of the 78 Budgerigar keepers (4%) had a positive nasal provocation with feather extract, and they were skin-positive against all 3 bird antigens tested (6).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulin antibodies including IgE (6), IgM (7), IgA and various IgG subclasses (8-10). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (11) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (12).

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and, in the case of Pigeons, Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their lofts, or exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling or roof where birds nest.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (13).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (14).

A woman with alveolitis due to her Budgerigar developed recurrent symptoms when exposed to dropping allergens left on her artificial Christmas tree (15).

Other reactions

See also: Budgerigar – feathers e78 and Budgerigar – serum albumin e79.

e77 Budgerigar droppings

References

- van Toorenenbergen AW, Gerth van Wijk R, van Dooremalen G, Dieges PH. Immunoglobulin E antibodies against budgerigar and canary feathers. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1985;77(4):433-7
- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Annals of Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Gerth Van Wijk R, Van Toorenenbergen AW, Dieges PH. Nasal allergy to avian antigens. Clin Allergy 1987;17(6):515-21
- Bosenecker A, Musken H, Bergmann KC. Sensitization in budgerigar owners. [German] Pneumologie 1998;52(4):209-13
- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T et al. Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9

- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C *et al*. Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease. Occup Environ Med 200057(3):159-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- 14. Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Baverstock AM, White RJ. A hazard of Christmas: Bird Fancier's Lung and the Christmas tree. Respir Med 2000;94(2):176

Melopsittacus undulatus

Family:	Psittacidae
Common	
names:	Budgerigar, Budgie,
	Parakeet
Source	
material:	Feathers
See also:	Budgerigar – serum
	proteins e79 and
	Budgerigar – droppings
	e77
Direct or indire	ct contact with bird

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Budgerigar and Parakeet are the common names for a widespread group of small Parrots, native to the Indo-Malayan-Australian region and now the most popular cage birds in the world. Parakeets have long, pointed tails, unlike the chunky Lovebirds with which they are sometimes confused. The wild Budgerigar of Australia is usually green or blue with black and yellow markings; as a cage bird, however, it has been bred in many color varieties.

Environment

Large flocks, sometimes in the tens of thousands, inhabit the open grasslands in central Australia, nesting in the spring and summer in the southern areas of the continent. In most of the world, however, Budgerigars are familiar only as pets.

Allergens

Well-defined major allergenic bands with molecular mass of 20-30 kDa and 67 kDa have been detected and identified in IgE immunoblots with feather extracts as well as with serum proteins of Budgerigar, Parrot, Pigeon, Canary, and Hen. Inhalable feather dust was shown to contain several allergenic

e78 Budgerigar feathers



components which cross-react with serum allergens/antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

The allergens have not been fully characterized yet.

Potential cross-reactivity

As noted above, inhalable feather dust contains several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/ antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

Cross-reactivity between Chicken and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Chicken-allergic patients significant IgE antibody titers to Parrot, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (2-3), even in patients without known exposure (1).

Budgerigar and Hen feather and egg yolk alpha-livetin have been shown to have common epitopes, and the authors of the study suggest that alpha-livetin (Chicken serum albumin) leads to a cross-sensitization and consequently to Bird-Egg Syndrome (4).

e78 Budgerigar feathers

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result on exposure to Budgerigars (5-6). The allergic manifestations may present as Bird Fancier's Asthma and as the so-called Bird-Egg Syndrome, with symptoms such as rhinitis, urticaria and angioedema, and also as gastrointestinal problems (3,7).

In 212 sera from Budgerigar and Canary fanciers with symptoms of rhinitis and/or bronchial asthma, in 25 of 98 Canary feather-specific IgE antibody measurements, and in 28 of 154 Budgerigar feather-specific IgE antibody measurements, a significant level of specific IgE was found. In 3 sera, IgE antibodies against sera from both birds were present. IgE antibodies against Canary and/or Budgerigar feathers were present in about 20% of Canary and Budgerigar fanciers with symptoms of atopic disease. Canary and Budgerigar feathers contain IgEbinding antigens that are not present in the corresponding bird sera and droppings (6).

In a prospective study, 258 adults were investigated for sensitisation against bird antigens (Budgerigar, Canary, Pigeon) using an intracutaneous test. Eighteen of 78 Budgerigar keepers reacted against Budgerigar feathers. Thirty (38%) showed a positive skin reaction with at least 1 of the 3 extracts tested. In persons not exposed to birds, 18/96 (19%) were found to react to at least 1 of the 3 allergen extracts. Late reactions occurred in 5/70 (7%) Budgerigar keepers. The frequency of sensitization against Budgerigar antigens increased to 48% of bird keepers (24/50) if the birds could fly around in their homes instead of being always caged (4/22, 18%). Three of the 78 Budgerigar keepers (4%) had a positive nasal provocation with feather extract, and they were skin-positive against all 3 bird antigens tested (7).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulins including IgE (1), IgM (8), IgA and various IgG subclasses (9-11). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (12) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (13).

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and, in the case of Pigeons, Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their lofts, or exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling or roof where birds nest.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (14).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (15).

Other reactions

Feather Mites are a major source of soluble proteins derived from feathers, accounting for up to 10% of the total weight of the feather. RAST inhibition indicated feather Mites had species-specific epitopes as well as ones that cross-reacted with *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* (16-17).

e78 Budgerigar feathers

References

- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Annals of Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Szepfalusi Z, Ebner C, Pandjaitan R, Orlicek F, Scheiner O, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Kraft D, Ebner H. Egg yolk alpha-livetin (chicken serum albumin) is a cross-reactive allergen in the bird-egg syndrome.
 - J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(5):932-42
- Gerth Van Wijk R, Van Toorenenbergen AW, Dieges PH. Nasal allergy to avian antigens. Clin Allergy 1987;17(6):515-21
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Gerth van Wijk R, van Dooremalen G, Dieges PH. Immunoglobulin E antibodies against budgerigar and canary feathers. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1985;77(4):433-7
- Bosenecker A, Musken H, Bergmann KC. Sensitization in budgerigar owners. [German] Pneumologie 1998;52(4):209-13
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- 12. McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64

- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C *et al.* Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease.
 Occup Environ Med 2000;57(3):159-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- 15. Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Colloff MJ, Merrett TG, Merrett J, McSharry C, Boyd G. Feather mites are potentially an important source of allergens for pigeon and budgerigar keepers. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(1):60-7
- Merrett TG, Colloff M, McSharry C, Merret J. Feather mite specific IgE antibodies are commonly found among pigeon keepers. Ann Allergy 1993;70:65

e79 Budgerigar serum proteins

Melopsittacus undulatus

Family:	Psittacidae
Common names:	Budgerigar, Budgie, Parakeet
Source material:	Serum
See also:	Budgerigar – feathers e78 and Budgerigar

- droppings e77 Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of

Allergen Exposure

house dust.

Geographical distribution

Budgerigar and Parakeet are the common names for a widespread group of small Parrots, native to the Indo-Malayan-Australian region and now the most popular cage birds in the world. Parakeets have long, pointed tails, unlike the chunky Lovebirds with which they are sometimes confused. The wild Budgerigar of Australia is usually green or blue with black and yellow markings; as a cage bird, however, it has been bred in many color varieties.

Environment

Large flocks, sometimes in the tens of thousands, inhabit the open grasslands in central Australia, nesting in the spring and summer in the southern areas of the continent. In most of the world, however, Budgerigars are familiar only as pets.

Allergens

Well-defined major allergenic bands with molecular mass of 20-30 kDa and 67 kDa have been detected and identified in IgE immunoblots with feather extracts as well as with serum proteins of Budgerigar, Parrot,



Pigeon, Canary, and Hen. Inhalable feather dust was shown to contain several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

Canary and Budgerigar feathers contain IgE-binding antigens that are not present in the corresponding bird sera and droppings (2).

A 60 kDa allergen has been determined (3), but this and other allergens have not been fully characterised yet.

Potential cross-reactivity

As noted above, inhalable feather dust contains several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/ antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

Budgerigar and Hen feather and egg yolk alpha-livetin have been shown to have common epitopes, and the authors of the study suggest that alpha-livetin (Chicken serum albumin) leads to a cross-sensitisation and consequently to Bird-Egg Syndrome (4).

e79 Budgerigar serum proteins

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result on exposure to Budgerigars (5,2). The allergic manifestations may present as Bird Fancier's Asthma and as the so-called Bird-Egg Syndrome, with symptoms such as rhinitis, urticaria and angioedema, and also as gastrointestinal problems (3,6).

In a prospective study, 258 adults were investigated for sensitisation against bird antigens (Budgerigar, Canary, Pigeon) using an intracutaneous test. Eighteen of 78 Budgerigar keepers reacted against Budgerigar feathers. Thirty (38%) showed a positive skin reaction with at least 1 of the 3 extracts tested. In persons not exposed to birds, 18/96 (19%) were found to react to at least 1 of the 3 allergen extracts. Late reactions occurred in 5/70 (7%) Budgerigar keepers. The frequency of sensitization against Budgerigar antigens increased to 48% of bird keepers (24/50) if the birds could fly around in their homes instead of being always caged (4/22, 18%). Three of the 78 Budgerigar keepers (4%) had a positive nasal provocation with feather extract, and they were skin-positive against all 3 bird antigens tested (6).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung' and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulins including IgE (1), IgM (7), IgA and various IgG subclasses (8-10). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (11) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (12). The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and, in the case of Pigeons, Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their lofts, or exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling or roof where birds nest.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (13).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (14).

e79 Budgerigar serum proteins

References

- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Gerth van Wijk R, van Dooremalen G, Dieges PH. Immunoglobulin E antibodies against budgerigar and canary feathers. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1985;77(4):433-7
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Szepfalusi Z, Ebner C, Pandjaitan R, Orlicek F, Scheiner O, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Kraft D, Ebner H. Egg yolk alpha-livetin (chicken serum albumin) is a cross-reactive allergen in the bird-egg syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(5):932-42
- 5. Gerth Van Wijk R, Van Toorenenbergen AW, Dieges PH. Nasal allergy to avian antigens. Clin Allergy 1987;17(6):515-21
- Bosenecker A, Musken H, Bergmann KC. Sensitization in budgerigar owners. [German] Pneumologie 1998;52(4):209-13
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000;14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C *et al.* Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease.

Occup Environ Med 2000;57(3):159-64

- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- 14. Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)

e201 Canary bird feathers

Serinus canarius

Family:FringillidaeCommonnames:CanarySourcematerial:FeathersDirect or indirect contact with birdallergens may cause sensitisation. Birdallergens may be major components ofhouse dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Canary is one of the most common domestic birds, together with Budgerigars and Parrots. In 1994, these birds were estimated at 25 million in US households, and more than 8 millions in German ones (1).

These birds descend from the wild Serin Finch or the very similar Wild canary, and their ancestors were brought from the Canary Islands, Madeira, or the Azores. The Wild canary, which still exists, is brownish green and looks like a Sparrow. Captive breeding has gone on for 500 years, during most of which time Canaries were the most popular cage birds in the world, because of their singing and mimicry and the ease with which they breed in captivity. The yellow mutation (with the bird remaining the size and shape of a Finch) has been the most popular, but Canaries are available in many colors and a range of sizes, shapes, patterns and songs. The German (or Hartz Mountain) roller is the classic song Canary and was the most numerous Canary breed in the world for many years. The American singer is a newer song breed that was developed in the United States. Usually somewhat aloof in nature, they do not typically bond with people.

Environment

See above.



Allergens

Well-defined major allergenic bands with molecular mass of 20-30 kDa and 67 kDa have been detected and identified in IgE immunoblots with feather extracts as well as with serum proteins of Budgerigar, Parrot, Pigeon, Canary, and Hen. Inhalable feather dust was shown to contain several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1). The allergens have not been fully characterized yet.

Potential cross-reactivity

As noted above, inhalable feather dust contains several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/ antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

Cross-reactivity between Canary and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Canary-allergic patients, significant IgE antibody titers to Parrot, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (2-3), then in patients without known exposure (1). Moreover, cross-reactivity to Hen's egg,

e201 Canary bird feathers

Bird-Egg Syndrome, should be considered,. Here the livetins present in egg yolk have been suggested as the major cross-reacting allergen (4-5). This adult type of egg intolerance must be distinguished from the common egg-white allergy of atopic children.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to Canary feathers, epithelial cells or droppings (6). The allergic manifestations may present as Bird Fancier's Asthma and as Bird-Egg Syndrome, with symptoms such as rhinitis, urticaria and angioedema (2), and also as gastro-intestinal problems (3). Specific IgE has been found in patients exposed to Canary (1-3,6).

In a study, IgE antibodies to Canary were present in about 25% of the bird fanciers investigated (6). Among 212 sera from Budgerigar and Canary fanciers with symptoms of rhinitis and/or bronchial asthma, in 25 of 98 Canary feather-specific IgE antibody measurements, a significant level of specific IgE was found. In 3 sera, IgE antibodies against sera from both birds were present. Canary feathers were shown to contain IgE-binding antigens that were not present in the bird sera and droppings (6).

In a prospective study, 258 adults were investigated for sensitisation against bird antigens (Budgerigar, Canary, Pigeon) using an intracutaneous test. Thirty (38%) showed a positive skin reaction with at least 1 of the 3 extracts tested. In persons not exposed to birds, 24/96 (25%) were found to react to at least one of the three allergen extracts (7). Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves and Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulin antibodies including IgE (1), IgM (8), IgA and various IgG subclasses (9-11). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (12) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (13).

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and, in the case of Pigeons, Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their lofts, or exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling or roof where birds nest.

This is typified in a report of a 54-yearold man who presented with features consistent with extrinsic allergic alveolitis occurring after contact with his pet birds (14).

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (15).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (16).

e201 Canary bird feathers

References

- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Ann Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Mandallaz MM, de Weck AL, Dahinden CA. Bird-egg syndrome. Cross-reactivity between bird antigens and egg-yolk livetins in IgEmediated hypersensitivity. International Archives of Allergy & Applied Immunology 1988;87(2):143-50
- de Blay F, Hoyet C, Candolfi E, Thierry R, Pauli G. Identification of alpha livetin as a cross reacting allergen in a bird- egg syndrome. Allergy Proc 1994;15(2):77-8.
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Gerth van Wijk R, van Dooremalen G, Dieges PH. Immunoglobulin E antibodies against budgerigar and canary feathers. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1985;77(4):433-7
- Bosenecker A, Musken H, Bergmann KC. Sensitization in budgerigar owners. [German] Pneumologie 1998;52(4):209-13
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- 12. McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64

- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C *et al.* Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease. Occup Environ Med 200057(3):159-64
- 14. Sutton PP, Pearson A, du Bois RM. Canary fancier's lung. Clin Allergy 1984;14(5):429-31
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- 16. Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)

e1 Cat dander

Felis domesticus

Family:	Felidae
Common	Cat Domostic cat
Source	Cat, Domestic Cat
material:	Dander
See also:	Cat serum albumin

Cat-allergic patients with IgE antibodies to Fel d 1 have been shown also to react to the corresponding protein of ocelot, puma, serval, Siberian tiger, lion, jaguar, and snow leopard (24).

Allergen Exposure

Sensitisation to Cat is strongly associated with asthma, especially in environments free of Mite and Cockroach (1). The presence of domestic pets increases the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in asthmatic children (2), and children sensitised to Cat allergen are more likely to develop a more severe asthma than children with negative tests to Cat (3).

Potential cross-reactivity

Cat-allergic patients with IgE antibodies to Fel d 1 have been shown also to react to the corresponding protein of ocelot, puma, serval, Siberian tiger, lion, jaguar, and snow leopard (24).

A subgroup of cat-allergic patients also react to Dogs and sometimes to other animals. Serum albumin is the main common component (25-26). Extensive crossreactivity even occurs between albumins of distantly related species (27), and subjects with IgE antibodies to cat albumin may also react to Horse, Cattle, Pig, Rodents (28), and fur animals like Mink and Fox (29). However, great variability exists between patients, and selective sensitivity to limited numbers of species occurs (28), indicating shared and specific epitopes.

Common and species-restricted epitopes have also been observed on the major Cat and Dog allergens Fel d 1 and Can f 1 (30).

Allergy to Cat dander and Pork meat, also referred to as the Pork/Cat Syndrome (31), was shown to be mediated by IgE antibodies



recognizing Cat and Pig serum albumin (32). In addition, other kinds of meat may be a risk for patients with this type of sensitivity, as indicated by a case with Cat-specific IgE antibodies and exercise-induced anaphylaxis after eating Pork or Beef (33).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

IgE-mediated sensitisation to Cat is a risk factor for asthma attacks. Allergen exposure plays a causal role in the development of bronchial hyperreactivity and of the chronic inflammatory responses seen in patients with asthma (40). Infants exposed to Cats developed skin prick test sensitivity about 3 times more often than those without such exposure (41).

Review

Cat allergy

Sensitisation to Cat is strongly associated with asthma, especially in environments free of Mite and Cockroach (1). The presence of domestic pets increases the prevalence of respiratory symptoms in asthmatic children (2), and children sensitised to Cat allergen are more likely to develop a more severe asthma than children with negative tests to Cat (3).

e1 Cat dander

Tobacco smoke, prenatal and postnatal, has been shown to have an adjuvant effect on Cat sensitisation in exposed children (4).

Allergic reactivity to pollens may be aggravated by environmental priming with ubiquitous animal dander (5). Allergy to Cats or Dogs also seems to be an important risk factor for the development of laboratory animal allergy (6).

Data strongly suggest that those with a predisposition for allergy should avoid having pets in the home (2).

Cat allergens

Several Cat-derived proteins are involved in allergy. An acidic glycoprotein and Cat serum albumin are common sensitisers (7-9).

The glycoprotein, now called Fel d 1, is a major allergen, and more than 80% of Catallergic patients have been reported to have IgE antibodies against this molecule (10).

Fel d 1 has an apparent molecular weight of about 36 kDa and is a dimer of a polypeptide comprised of two covalently bound chains called 1 and 2, or a and b (11). Chains 1 and 2 contain 70 and 92 amino acid recidues respectively (12). The IgE binding epitopes appear to be primarily conformational and do not involve carbohydrate residues, although chain 2 carries an oligosaccharide (13-16). Studies on recombinant chain 1 and chain 2 showed that both chains contain IgE-binding epitopes and contribute to the allergenicity of the protein (17).

Allergen localization

Fel d 1 is present on the skin surface and in the fur of the Cat. The protein has been demonstrated in, and may be produced by, salivary glands and lacrimal glands (18), skin sebaceous glands (19-20) and anal glands (21). The allergen production appears to be hormonally regulated, and male Cats produce more Fel d 1 than females and castrated males (22-23)

Cross-reactivity

Domestic cats and wild cats

Cat-allergic patients with IgE antibodies to Fel d 1 have been shown to also react to the corresponding protein of ocelot, puma, serval, Siberian tiger, lion, jaguar, and snow leopard (24).

Cat and dog and fur animals

A subgroup of Cat-allergic patients also react to Dogs and sometimes to other animals. Serum albumin is the main common component (25-26). Extensive crossreactivity even occurs between albumins of distantly related species (27), and subjects with IgE antibodies to cat albumin may also react to Horse, Cattle, Pig, Rodents (28), and fur animals like Mink and Fox (29). However, great variability exists between patients, and selective sensitivity to limited numbers of species occurs (28), indicating shared and specific epitopes.

Common and species-restricted epitopes have also been observed on the major Cat and Dog allergens Fel d 1 and Can f 1 (30).

Cat and meat

Allergy to Cat dander and Pork meat, also referred to as the Pork/Cat Syndrome (31), was shown to be mediated by IgE antibodies recognizing Cat and Pig serum albumin (32). In addition, other kinds of meat may be a risk for patients with this type of sensitivity, as indicated by a case with Cat-specific IgE antibodies and exercise-induced anaphylaxis after eating pork or beef (33).

Cat parasites

It is also worth mentioning that Cats may carry exoparasites that could contribute allergens and possibly add confusion in the investigation of allergy related to animals.

The Cat flea is an example. Carried by the cat and occasionally biting humans, it is also an allergenic insect among many subjects, and may add to the allergen content of indoor dust (34-36).

Prevalence of cat allergy

Exposure to Cat allergens is one of the most common causes of respiratory allergic disease and is of worldwide importance. The prevalence varies because of cultural differences and environmental factors. Keeping Cats as pets in homes is an obvious risk, leading to prevalences up to 80% or above in atopics (1, 37-39). Cold climates may contribute to the risk because the cats spend more time indoors (38). Cat is the major cause of indoor asthma in dry, highaltitude areas like Los Alamos, New Mexico, USA, where Mites and Cockroaches are virtually absent (1) and it adds severely to the burden in more humid climates with high level Mite exposure (39).

Fel d 1 exposure

IgE-mediated sensitisation to Cat is a risk factor for asthma attacks. Allergen exposure plays a causal role in the development of bronchial hyperreactivity and of the chronic inflammatory responses seen in patients with asthma (40). Infants exposed to Cats developed skin prick test sensitivity about 3 times more often than those without such exposure (41).

The concentration of Cat allergen Fel d 1 is highest in homes with a Cat, but is usually also measurable in houses where Cats are not kept (42- 45). In many cases, the Fel d 1 level exceeds proposed threshold levels for Cat sensitisation (46). Furthermore, the lowlevel Cat exposure that occurs in many homes without Cats is capable of inducing symptoms in some patients who are sensitive to Cats (47).

In dry climates, Fel d 1 is a major cause of indoor allergy, e.g. in northern Sweden, where Mite and Cockroach allergens are undetectable in homes (48). Even in Japanese homes, the airborne Fel d 1 concentration is much higher (160 times) than those of the major Mite allergens (49).

Carpets, matresses and upholstered chairs are reservoirs of Cat allergens (50-52). Cat allergen is carried on human clothing into environments never visited by Cats (53-55). Transport of Fel d 1 on clothing from the domestic to the school environment is in fact a major source of classroom Cat allergen (56). The Cat allergen concentration in classes with many cat owners may be higher than that found in the homes of non-Cat owners (57).

Avoidance

Avoidance of Cat allergens is an important measure to take in the treatment of sensitised asthmatics, decreasing symptoms and the need for drugs (58). The Fel d 1 concentration in dust is significantly lower in homes from which the Cat has been removed than in homes keeping the pet (51,59).

Encasing covers and hot washing of linen reduce Cat allergens in matresses in the absence of Cats (60). Washing the clothes of Cat owners is an effective method for prevention of Cat allergen dispersal (61).

Dry heat up to 140 °C has little effect on the Fel d 1 content of house dust (62), and tannic acid treatment is not a reliable method for reduction of indoor Cat allergen (63). The effect of air cleaners in homes with Cat seems uncertain in terms of reducting symptoms (64-66). In addition, washing or spraying Cats does not lead to significant reduction of Fel d 1 shedding.

Only removal of the cat leads to a lasting decrease of the allergen exposure (67-69).

Diagnostic efficiency of IgE antibody measurements

The aggreement between IgE antibody and *in vivo* tests is generally high. A study of optimization of skin testing showed 94% concordance between Phadebas RAST and SPT (70). Pharmacia CAP System showed 91% efficiency relative to SPT in one study (71) and was considered superior to skin testing in another (72). A contributing factor to the variability of the degree of agreement may be the variability of the skin test extracts (73). Also, it has been shown that even low levels of naturally induced Fel d 1-specific IgG antibodies affect the skin reactivity (74).

e1 Cat dander

Table 1

Region		Preval. %	Study group	n	Procedure	Reference
America						
USA	Chicago, III	29	Child asthma	138	SPT	75
		40	Asthma	592	SPT	76
	New York, NY	38	Adult asthma	73	SPT	77
	Morgantown, WV	14	Infantile asthma	196	SPT	78
	Los Alamos, NM	62	Child asthma	21	lgE Ab (PCS)	1
	San Diego, Cal	10	Child asthma	41	SPT	79
	California	39	Asthma and/ or rhinitis	141	SPT	80
Canada	Vancouver, BC	13	Asthma/asthma- like/bronchitis	504	SPT	81
	Sainte-Foy, Quebec	77	Atopic	2698	SPT	82
	Montreal, Quebec	84	Atopic	155	SPT	37
Mexico	Mexico Valley	13	Atopic children	247	SPT	83
Puerto Rico	Ponce	17	Asthma	576	SPT	84
Brasil	São Paulo	11	Child asthma	80	SPT	85
Europe						
Sweden	Uppsala	14	Random adults (34% atopic)	527	SPT	86
	Uppsala	15		472	IgE Ab (PCS)	
	Umeå (north)	73	Child asthma	41	IgE Ab (PCS)	38
	Linköping (center)	62		37		
	Helsingborg (south)	39		46		
United Kingdom	Birmingham	59	Asthma	54	SPT	87
Germany	Hamburg	12	Random adults	739	IgE Ab (PCS)	88
	Erfurt	8		718		
	Freiburg	18	Child, general population	583	SPT	89
Austria	Vienna	20	Random adults	191	SPT	90
	Vienna	40	Adult asthma	70		
	Vienna	44	Adult rhinitis	117		
Spain		21	Adult asthma	136	IgE Ab (PCS)	91
	Barcelona	16	Random adults	342	IgE Ab (PCS)	92
	Albacete	4		170		

Region		Preval. %	Study group	n	Procedure	Reference
East Mediterran.						
Turkey		16	Asthma and/ or rhinitis	614	SPT	93
Saudi Arabia	Dhahran	17	Atopic, Saudi Arabs	806	SPT	94
	Dhahran	32	Atopic, Expatriates	241		
South Atlantic						
Tristan da Cunha		20	General population	282	SPT	95
Tristan da Cunha		13	Born >1y after cat extermination	51		
South East Asia						
Thailand	Bangkok	10	Child asthma	100	SPT	96
	Bangkok	29	Adult rhinitis	100	SPT	97
Malaysia	Kuala Lumpur	73	Rhinitis	314	SPT	98
Japan						
	Sagamihara	78	Adult asthma	90	IgE Ab	99
	Sagamihara	31	Asthma and/ or rhinitis	458	SPT	100
	Tokyo	70	Child asthma, cat at home	44	IgE Ab (PCS)	39
	Tokyo	34	Child asthma, no cat at home	394		
Australia						
	Sydney	4	Child, general population	1217	SPT	101

PCS = Pharmacia CAP System®

References

- Ingram JM, Sporik R, Rose G, Honsinger R, Chapman MD, Platts-Mills TAE. Quantitative assessment of exposure to dog (Can f 1) and cat (Fel d 1) allergens: Relation to sensitization and asthma among children living in Los Alamos, New Mexico. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;96:449-56
- 2. Chew FT, Teo J, Quak SH, Connett GJ, Lee BW. Presence of domestic pets and respiratory symptoms in asthmatic children. Ann Acad Med Singapore 1997;26:294-8
- Sarpong SB, Karrison T. Skin test reactivity to indoor allergens as a marker of asthma severity in children with asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1998;80:303-8
- Kulig M et al. Effect of pre- and postnatal tobacco smoke exposure on specific sensitization to food and inhalant allergens during the first 3 years of life. Allergy 1999;54:220-8
- Toth J *et al.* Environmental priming influences allergen-specific nasal reactivity. Allergy 1998;53:1172-7
- 6. Hollander A, Doekes G, Heederik D. Cat and dog allergy and total IgE as risk factors of laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98:545-54
- 7. Brandt R, Ponterius G, Yman L. The Allergens of Cat Epithelia and Cat Serum. Int Arch Allergy 1973;45:447-55

e1 Cat dander

- Ohman JL Jr, Lowell FC, Bloch KJ. Allergens of Mammalian Origin.
 III. Properties of a Major Feline Allergen.
 J Immunol 1974;113:1668-77
- Ohman JL Jr, Bloch KJ, Kendall S, Lowell FC. Allergens of mammalian origin. IV. Evidence for common allergens in cat and dog serum. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1976;57:560-8
- Ohman JL Jr, Kendall S, Lowell FC. IgE antibody to cat allergens in an allergic population. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1977;60:317-23
- Duffort OA, Carreira J, Nitti G, Polo F, Lombardero M. Studies on the Biochemical Structure of the Major Cat Allergen *Felis domesticus I.* Mol Immunol 1991;28:301-9
- Morgenstern JP *et al.* Amino acid sequence of Fel d 1 the major allergen of the domestic cat: Protein sequence analysis and cDNA cloning. Proc Natl Acad Sci 1991;88:9690-4
- Vailes LD, Li Y, Bao Y, DeGroot H, Aalberse RC, Chapman MD. Fine specificity of B-cell epitopes on *Felis domesticus* allergen I (Fel d 1): Effect of reduction and alkylation or deglycosylation on Fel d 1 structure and antibody binding. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93:22-33
- 14. van Milligen FJ, van't Hof W, van den Berg M, Aalberse RC. IgE epitopes on the cat (*Felis domesticus*) major allergen Fel d 1: A study with overlapping synthetic peptides. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93:34-43
- Kristensen AK, Schou C, Roepstorff P. Determination of isoforms, N-linked glycan structure and disulfide bond linkages of the major cat allergen Fel d 1 by a mass spectrometric approach. Biol Chem 1997;378:899-908
- Bond JF *et al.* Native and recombinant Fel d 1 as probes into the relationship of allergen structure to human IgE immunoreactivity. Mol Immunol 1993;30:1529-41
- Rogers BL, Morgenstern JP, Garman RD, Bond JF, Kuo M-C. Recombinant Fel d 1: Expression, purification, IgE binding and reaction with cat-allergic human T cells. Mol Immunol 1993;30:559-68
- van Milligen FJ, Vroom TM, Aalberse RC. Presence of *Felis domesticus* Allergen I in the Cat's Salivary and Lacrimal Glands. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1990;92:375-8
- Dabrowski AJ *et al.* Cat skin as an important source of Fel d I allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990;86;462-5
- Charpin C, Mata P, Charpin D, Lavaut MN, Allasia C, Vervloet D. Fel d 1 allergen distribution in cat fur and skin. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991;88:77-82
- Dornelas de Andrade A *et al.* Fel d 1 levels in cat anal glands. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26:178-80
- 22. Vervloet D. Origine des allergènes du chat. Bull Acad Natle Mèd 1994;178:1667-76

- Ramadour M, Birnbaum J, Magalon C, Lanteaume A, Charpin D, Vervloet D. Cat sex differences in major allergen production (Fel d 1). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101:282-4
- de Groot H, van Swieten P, Aalberse RC. Evidence for a Fel d I-like molecule in the "big cats" (*Felidae* species).
 J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990;86:107-16
- 25. Yman L, Blomberg F, Schröder H. Characterization of dog and cat allergens. Direct specific detection of electrophoretically separated allergens by means of IgE antibodies and enzyme labelled anti-IgE. In: Oeling A *et al* editors.Advances in Allergology and Immunology. Pergamon Press Oxford and New York, 1980:499-504
- Boutin Y, HH, Vrancken ER, Mourad W. Allergenicity and cross-reactivity of cat and dog allergenic extracts. Clin Allergy 1988;18:287-93
- Goubran Botros H, Gregoire C, Rabillon J, David B, Dandeu JP. Cross-antigenicity of horse serum albumin with dog and cat albumins; study of three short peptides with significant inhibitory activity towards specific human IgE and IgG antibodies. Immunology 1996;88:340-7
- Spitzauer S *et al.* IgE cross-reactivities against albumins in patients allergic to animals. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;96:951-9
- Savolainen J, Uitti J, Halmepuro L, Nordman H. IgE response to fur animal allergens and domestic animal allergens in fur farmers and fur garment workers. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27:501-9
- Spitzauer S *et al.* Major cat and dog allergens share IgE epitopes.
 J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99:100-6
- Drouet M, Sabbah A. The Pork/Cat Syndrome or Crossed Reactivity between Cat Epithelia and Pork Meat. Monogr Allergy 1996;32:164-73
- Hilger C, Kohnen M, Grigioni F, Lehners C, Hentges F. Allergic cross-reactions between cat and pig serum albumin. Allergy 1997;52:179-87
- Biedermann T, Schöpf P, Ruëff F, Przybilla B. Anstrengungsinduzierte Anaphylaxie auf Schweine- und Rindfleisch. Dtsch Med Wschr 1999;124:456-8
- Rolfsen W, Schröder H, Tibell C, Tibell M. Detection of specific IgE antibodies towards cat flea (*Ctenocephalides felis felis*) in patients with suspected cat allergy. Allergy 1987;42:177-81
- Troudeau WL, Fernández-Caldas E, Fox RW, Brenner R, Bucholtz GA, Lockey RF. Allergenicity of the cat flea (*Ctenocephalides felis felis*). Clin Exp Allergy 1993;23:377-83
- Baldo BA. Allergenicity of the cat flea. Clin Exp Allergy 1993;23:347-9

- Desjardins A *et al.* Exposure to domestic animals and risk of immunologic sensitization in subjects with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;91:979-86
- Warner AM, Björkstén B, Munir AKM, Möller C, Schou C, Kjellman N-IM. Childhood asthma and exposure to indoor allergens: low mite levels are associated with sensitivity. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1996;7:61-7
- Ichikawa K, Iwasaki E, Baba M, Chapman MD. High prevalence of sensitization to cat allergen among Japanese children with asthma, living without cats. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29:754-61
- Chapman MD, Heymann PW, Sporik RB, Platts-Mills TAE. Monitoring allergen exposure in asthma: new treatment strategies. Allergy 1995;50:29-33
- 41. Arshad SH. Pets and atopic disorders in infancy. Br J Clin Pract 1991;45:88-9
- 42. Echechipia S *et al.* Quantitation of major allergens in dust samples from urban populations collected in different seasons in two climatic areas of the Basque region (Spain). Allergy 1995;50:478-82
- Álvarez MJ *et al*. Indoor allergens and dwelling characteristics in two cities in Spain. J Invest Allergol Clin Immunol 1997;7:572-7
- Sawyer G *et al.* Biologic pollution in infant bedding in New Zealand: High allergen exposure during a vulnerable period. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102:765-70
- Custovic A, Simpson B, Simpson A, Hallam C, Craven M, Woodcock A. Relationship between mite, cat, and dog allergens in reservoir dust and ambient air. Allergy 1999;54:612-6
- Raunio R, Pasanen A-L, Reiman M, Virtanen T. Cat, dog, and house-dust-mite allergen levels of house dust in Finnish apartments. Allergy 1998;53:195-9
- Bollinger ME, Eggleston PA, Flanagan E, Wood RA. Cat antigen in homes with and without cats may induce allergic symptoms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;97:907-14
- Perzanowski MS, Rönmark E, Nold B, Lundbäck B, Platts-Mills TAE. Relevance of allergens from cats and dogs to asthma in the northernmost province of Sweden: Schools as a major site of exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103:018-24
- Sakaguchi M *et al.* Airborne cat (Fel d I), dog (Can f 1), and mite (Der I and Der II) allergen levels in the homes of Japan. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;92:797-802
- 50. Dybendal T, Elsayed S. Dust from carpeted and smooth floors. Allergy 1994;49:210-6
- 51. Egmar A-C, Emenius G, Almqvist C, Wickman M. Cat and dog allergen in mattresses and textile-covered floors of homes which do or do not have pets, either in the past or currently. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1998;9:31-5

- 52. Custovic A *et al.* Domestic allergens in public places III: house dust mite, cat, dog and cockroach allergens in British hospitals. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28:53-9
- Enberg RN, Shamie SM, McCullough J, Ownby DR. Ubiquitous presence of cat allergen in cat-free buildings: probable dispersal from human clothing. Ann Allergy 1993;70:471-4
- 54. D'Amato G, Liccardi G, Russo M, Barber D, D'Amato M, Carreira J. Clothing is a carrier of cat allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99:577-8
- 55. Egmar A-C, Almqvist C, Emenius G, Lilja G, Wickman M. Deposition of cat (Fel d 1), dog (Can f 1), and horse allergen over time in public environments – a model of dispersion. Allergy 1998;53:957-61
- 56. Patchett K, Lewis S, Crane J, Fitzharris P. Cat allergen (Fel d 1) levels on school children's clothing and in primary school classrooms in Wellington, New Zealand. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;100:755-9
- 57. Almqvist C, Larsson PH, Egmar A-C, Hedrén M, Malmberg P, Wickman M. School as a risk environment for children allergic to cats and a site for transfer of cat allergen to homes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103:1012-7
- 58. Plaschke P, Janson C, Balder B, Löwhagen O, Järvholm B. Adult asthmatics sensitized to cats and dogs; symptoms, severity, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in patients with furred animals at home and patients without these animals. Allergy 1999;54:843-50
- 59. Custovic A, Simpson A, Pahdi H, Green RM, Chapman MD, Woodcock A. Distribution, aeordynamic characteristics, and removal of the major cat allergen Fel d 1 in British homes. Thorax 1998;53:33-8
- 60. Carswell F, Oliver J, Weeks J. Do mite avoidance measures affect mite and cat airborne allergens? Clin and Exp Allergy 1999;29:193-200
- Liccardi G, Russo M, Barber D, Carreira J, D'Amato M, D'Amato G. Washing the clothes of cat owners is a simple method to prevent cat allergen dispersal. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102:43-4
- Cain G et al. The effect of dry heat on mite, cat, and dog allergens. Allergy 1998;53:1213-5
- Woodfold JA, Hayden ML, Miller JD, Rose G, Chapman MD, Platts-Mills TAE. Chemical treatment of carpets to reduce allergen: A detailed study of the effects of tannic acid on indoor allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;94:19-26
- 64. van der Heide S, van Aalderen WMC, Kauffman HF, Dubois AEJ, de Monchy JGR. Clinical effects of air cleaners in homes of asthmatic children sensitized to pet allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;104:447-51

e1 Cat dander

- 65. Wood RA, Johnson EF, Van Natta ML, Chen PH, Eggleston PA. A Placebo-controlled Trial of a HEPA Air Cleaner in the Treatment of Cat Allergy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998;158:115-20
- 66. Munir AKM, Einarsson R, Dreborg SKG. Indirect contact with pets can confound the effect of cleaning procedures for reduction of animal allergen levels in house dust. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1994;5:32-9
- 67. Klucka CV, Ownby DR, Green J, Zoratti E. Cat shedding of Fel d 1 is not reduced by washings, Allerpet-C spray, or acepromazine. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;95:1164-71
- 68. Ferguson BJ. Cat Allergy. Ear Nose Throat J 1995;74: 677, 680
- 69. Avner DB, Perzanowski MS, Platts-Mills TAE, Woodfolk JA. Evaluation of different techniques for washing cats: Quantitation of allergen removed from the cat and the effect on airborne Fel d 1. LAllergy Clin Immunol 1997:100:307-12

J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;100:307-12

- Niemeijer NR, Fluks AF, de Monchy JGR. Optimization of skin testing. II. Evaluation of concentration and cutoff values, as compared with RAST and clinical history, in a multicenter study. Allergy 1993;48:498-503
- Kelso JM, Sodhi N, Gosselin VA, Yunginger JW. Diagnostic performance characteristics of the standard Phadebas RAST, modified RAST, and Pharmacia CAP System versus skin testing. Ann Allergy 1991;67:511-4
- Gleeson M, Cripps AW, Hensley MJ, Wlodarczyk JH, Henry RL, Clancy RL. A clinical evaluation in children of the Pharmacia ImmunoCAP system for inhalant allergens. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26:697-702
- Granel C, Valencia M, Tapaias G, Anglada E, Randazzo L, Pérez AO. Diagnosis of allergy to cat epithelium in clinical practice. I. Value of skin tests. Allergol et Immunopathol 1993;21:3-5
- 74. Witteman AM, Stapel SO, Sjamsoedin DHS, Jansen HM, Aalberse RC, van der Zee JS. Fel d 1-Specific IgG antibodies Induced by Natural Exposure Have Blocking Activity in Skin Tests. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1996;109:369-75
- 75. Sarpong SB, Karrison T. Sensitization to indoor allergens and the risk for asthma hospitalization in children. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1997;79:455-9
- 76. Kang BC, Johnson J, Veres-Thorner C. Atopic profile of inner-city asthma with a comparative analysis on the cockroachsensitive and ragweed-sensitive subgroups. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;92:802-11
- Sperber K, Kendler D, Yu LM, Nayak H, Pizzimenti A. Prevalence of Atopy in an Inner-City Asthmatic Population. Mt Sinai J Med 1993;60:227-31

- Wilson NW, Robinson NP, Hogan MBeth. Cockroach and other inhalant allergies in infantile asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1999;83:27-30
- 79. Christiansen SC, Martin SB, Schleicher NC, Koziol JA, Hamilton RG, Zuraw BL. Exposure and sensitization to environmental allergen of predominantly Hispanic children with asthma in San Diego's inner city. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98:288-94
- Galant S *et al.* Prevalence of sensitization to aeroallergens in California patients with respiratory allergy. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1998;81:203-10
- Noertjojo K, Dimich-Ward H, Obata H, Manfreda J, Chan-Yeung M. Exposure and sensitization to cat dander: Asthma and asthma-like symptoms among adults. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103:60-5
- Boulet L-P *et al.* Comparative degree and type of sensitization to common indoor and outdoor allergens in subjects with allergic rhinitis and/or asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27:52-9
- Hernández CLA, Hernández CDD, Martinez-Cairo CS. Frequent allergies in Mexico Valley in children. Rev Allerg Mex 1999;46:23-5
- 84. Montealegre F *et al.* Prevalence of skin reactions to aeroallergens in asthmatics of Puerto Rico.
 P R Health Sci J 1997;16:359-67
- Rizzo MC, Fernández-Caldas E, Solé D, Naspitz C K. IgE antibodies to aeroallergens in allergic children in São Paolo, Brazil. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1997;7:242-8
- Plaschke P *et al.* Skin prick tests and specific IgE in adults from three different areas of Sweden. Allergy 1996;51:461-72
- Tunnicliffe WS *et al.* Sensitivity and exposure to indoor allergens in adults with differing asthma severity. Eur Respir J 1999;13:654-9
- Nowak D *et al.* Prevalence of respiratory symptoms, bronchial hyperresponsiveness and atopy among adults: West and East Germany. Eur Respir J 1996;9:2541-52
- Storm van's Gravesande K, Moseler M, Kuehr J. The most common phenotypes of sensitization to inhalant allergens in childhood. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27:646-52
- Schütz-Kiss D, Popp W, Wagner C, Reiser K, Havelex L, Zwick H. Sensibilisierung gegen Inhalationsallergene in der Wiener Bevölkerung. Wien Klin Wschr 1995;107:331-5
- Soriano JB *et al*. Risk of asthma in the general Spanish population attributable to specific immunoresponse. Int J Epidemiol 1999;28:728-34
e1 Cat dander

- Cortés X, Soriano JB, Sánchez-Ramos JL, Azofra J, Almar E, Ramos J. (European study of asthma. Prevalence of atopy in young adults of 5 areas in Spain. Spanish Group of European Asthma Study). Med Clin 1998;111:573-7
- Güneser S, Atici A, Cengizler I, Alparslan N. Inhalant allergens: as a cause of respiratory allergy in east Mediterranean area, Turkey. Allergol et Immunopathol 1996;24:116-9
- 94. Suliaman F, Holmes WF, Kwick S, Khouri F, Ratard R. Pattern of immediate type hypersensitivity reactions in the Eastern Province, Saudi Arabia. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1997;78:415-8
- Chan-Yeung M, McClean PA, Sandell PR, Slutsky AS, Zamel N. Sensitization to cat without direct exposure to cats. Clin and Exp Allergy 1999;29:762-5
- 96. Kongpanichkul A, Vichyanond P, Tuchinda M. Allergen Skin Test Reactivities Among Asthmatic Thai Children. J Med Assoc Thai 1997;80:69-75
- 97. Pumhirun P, Towiwat P, Mahakit P. Aeroallergen sensitivity of Thai patients with allergic rhinitis.
 - Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 1997;15:183-5
- Ho T-M, Murad S, Kesavapillai R, Singaram SP. Prevalence of Allergy to Some Inhalants among Rhinitis Patients in Malaysia. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 1995;13:11-6
- Maeda Y *et al.* (A study of characteristics in adult asthmatics who are sensitized by cats and dogs allergens). Arerugi 1993;42:9-17
- 100. Akiyama K. (Environmental allergens and allergic diseases). Rinsho Byori 1997;45:13-8
- 101. Peat JK, Woolcock AJ. Sensitivity to common allergens: relation to respiratory symptoms and bronchial hyper-responsiveness in children from three different climatic areas of Australia. Clin Exp Allergy 1991;21:573-81

e220 Cat serum albumin

Felis domesticus

Family:	Felidae	
Common names:	Cat, Domestic cat	
Source material:	Serum albumin	
See also:	Cat dander e1	
Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components in house dust.		

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Cat has been domesticated (probably from the small North African wildcat *Felis lybica*) for around 5,000 years. Cats have been greatly valued as destroyers of vermin, as well as for their ornamental qualities and their personalities as companion animals. Domestic Cats vary considerably in coat colour, quality and pattern, especially among the varieties bred for show. Cats occur in approximately 25% of Western households.

Environment

As well as in households and on farms, Cats are often found in a feral state in cities and rural environments. Rome has contained as many as a million feral Cats.

Allergens

Allergenic activity has been demonstrated in extracts of Cat dander and pelt (1-12), in serum (2-3,7,13) in urine, (8-9,11,13) and in saliva (9-13).

Various allergens have been isolated and characterised to date.

Fel d 1 (formerly Cat 1 or Ag 4) (14-15).

Fel d 1.1.

Fel d 1.2.

Fel d 1.3.

Fel d 2 (albumin) (16-17).



Fel d 3, Cystatin, 11 kDa, a cysteine protease inhibitor (18).

Albumin (Fel d 2), a 65-69 kDa protein, is found in serum, dander and saliva. About 15%-25% of Cat-allergic individuals are sensitive to Cat albumin, and for a few patients this may be the predominant allergen (1,19-23).

In a study that analysed sera from 43 individuals with a history of cat allergy, 39.5% were positive to Cat pelt, 37.5% to cat saliva. and 12% each to Cat urine and serum. The Cat pelt and saliva extracts contained allergen 1 (Fel d 1), but Cat serum and Cat urine collected by bladder puncture had no detectable levels of this allergen. A crossed immunoelectrophoresis/crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis analysis failed to reveal any allergen in urine or serum that was not also present in the saliva or pelt preparations, although urine had two allergens not present in serum. When serum from a patient who had specific IgE antibodies to Cat pelt, serum, saliva, and urine was tested by crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis, it was determined that a total of 6 allergens were detectable in Cat pelt, 3 in Cat urine, and 6 in Cat serum. Since Cat serum contains no detectable Cat allergen 1 (Fel d 1), it was concluded in this

e220 Cat serum albumin

study that at least 7 allergens derived from the Cat are capable of binding to IgE antibodies in humans (24).

Although more than 12 allergens have been identified, Fel d 1 is the most important one. Fel d 1, a 38 kDa protein, is found in hair, dander and saliva.

Potential cross-reactivity

Albumins from Cat, Dog and Horse share some epitopes that account for the crossreactivity observed in around a third of patients sensitised to Cat, Dog and Horse, but more than 50% of specific IgE that crossreacts among these 3 animals is directed to allergens other than albumin (25-26). Significant cross-reactivity has been reported between Cat hair and Dog dander in specific IgE inhibition studies, whereas saliva and urine were more species-specific (27). Although a high degree of sequence homology exists among different animal albumins, a remarkable variability of IgE cross-reactivities has been observed, indicating that some patients are sensitized preferentially against certain albumins. Most of the patients allergic to albumins, however, reacted to Dog, Cat, and Horse albumin, which also bound a high percentage of albumin-specific IgE (28).

Some Cat-allergic individuals are likely to experience allergic symptoms following the consumption of Pork. Inhibition experiments showed that the spectrum of IgE reactivity to Cat serum albumin completely contained IgE reactivity to Porcine serum albumin. Sensitisation to Cat appears to be the primary event. Sensitisation to Cat serum albumin should be considered a useful marker of possible cross-sensitisation not only to Porcine serum albumin but also to other mammalian serum albumins (17).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, occupational asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis are commonly induced by Cat allergens (29-30). Domestic animals represent the second most important group of indoor air allergens after House Dust Mites (31). Sensitisation may occur even following unobserved exposure to Cat (32). Cat dander allergens have even been found in dust storms (33).

Studies throughout the world, wherever Cats are common domestic pets, report high sensitisation to Cat dander. Sensitisation to Cat serum albumin has not been investigated to the same degree.

In Quebec, Canada, skin-specific IgE in 3,371 consecutive patients revealed that the prevalence of sensitisation in atopic subjects to Cat hair epithelium was 76.5% (34).

In Vienna, Austria, skin- and serumspecific IgE determination led to the conclusion that Cat dander positivity was high in patients with respiratory allergy as well as normal individuals. The prevalence of sensitisation to Cat dander was highest in individuals with allergic rhinitis (44%) (35). In 512 adults in southeastern France, serum-specific IgE to Cat was surprisingly low, with 0.9% of the group shown to have these antibodies (36).

Pet dander is one of the most common allergic triggers (17%) in the UK (37). In Krakow, Poland, skin-specific IgE was positive for Cat dander in 11.4% of 311 children (38). Cat dander was also shown to be an important allergen in Turkey (39).

In Sweden, serum IgE antibody assays on 165 children with respiratory symptoms confirmed that there was a high degree of sensitisation to Cat, Dog, and Birch in Northern Sweden. Cat and Dog allergens were present in almost all of the school samples. By contrast, Dust mite and Cockroach allergens were generally unmeasurable (40).

Other reactions

See also: Cat dander e1.

- Duffort O, Carreira J, Lombardero M. Characterization of the main IgE-binding components of cat dander. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1987;84(4):339-44
- Ohman JL, Lowell FC, Bloch KJ, Kendall S. Allergens of mammalian origin. V. Properties of extracts dervied from the domestic cat. Clin Allergy 1976;6:419-28
- Ohman JL, Kendall S, Lowell FC. IgE antibody to cat allergens in an allergic population. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1977;60:317-323
- Wuthrich B, Arrendal H. RAST in the diagnosis of hypersensitivity to dog and cat allergens. A comparison of different extract preparations with clinical history, skin test and provocation tests. Clin Allergy 1979;9:191
- Ohman JL, Lowell FC, Bloch KJ. Allergens of mammalian origin. III. Properties of a major feline allergen.
 - J Immunol 1974;113:1667-1668
- Varga JM, Ceska M. Characterization of allergen extracts by polyacrylamide gel electrofocusing and radioimmunosorbent allergen assay. II. Cat and dog allergens. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1972;42:438
- 7. Løwenstein H. Allergene von Katze, Hund, Rind und Pferd. Allergologie 1981;4:265
- Hoffman DR. Dog and cat allergens: urinary proteins or dander proteins? Ann Allergy 1980;45:205
- Viander M, Valovirta E, Vanto T, Koivikko A. Crossreactivity of cat and dog allergen extracts. RAST inhibition studies with special reference to the allergenic activity in saliva and urine. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1983;71:252-60
- Didierlaurent A, Foglietti MJ, Guérin B, Hewitt BE, Percheron F. Comparative study on cat allergens from fur and saliva. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1984;73:27-31
- Anderson MC, Baer H. Allergenically active components of cat allergen extracts. J Immunol 1981;127:972-975
- Brown PR, Leitermann KM, Ohman JL. Distribution of cat allergen I in cat tissues and fluids. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1984;74:67-70
- Løwenstein H, Lind P, Weeke B. Identification and clinical significance of allergenic molecules of cat origin. Part of the DAS 76 Study. Allergy 1985;40:430-7
- 14. Morgenstern JP, Griffith IJ, Brauer AW, Rogers BL,Bond JF et al. Amino acid sequence of Fel d 1, the major allergen of the domestic cat: protein sequence analysis and cDNA cloning. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:9690-9694
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112

- Hilger C, Grigioni F, Hentges F. Sequence of the gene encoding cat (*Felis domesticus*) serum albumin. Gene 1996;169:295-296
- Hilger C, Kohnen M, Grigioni F, Lehners C, Hentges F. Allergic cross-reactions between cat and pig serum albumin. Study at the protein and DNA levels. Allergy 1997;52(2):179-87
- Ichikawa K, Vailes LD, Pomes A, Chapman MD. Identification of a novel cat allergen – cystatin. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2001;124(1-3):55-6
- 19. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Wallenbeck I, Einarsson R. Identification of dander-specific and serum-specific allergens in cat dandruff extract. Ann Allergy 1987;59:131-4
- 21. Stokes CR. Turner MW. Isolation and characterization of cat allergens. Clin Allergy 1975;5:241-54
- 22. Brighton WD von, Topping MD, Berry JB. Allergene aus Katzenfell. Allergologie 1981;5:270-5
- Ickovic MR, Rabillon J, Dandeu JP, David JP, David B. Human hypersensitivity to cat allergens: Fel d 1 and serum albumin. Allergy Clin Immunol 1991;(suppl 1):198 (abstract)
- Anderson MC, Baer H, Ohman JL Jr. A comparative study of the allergens of cat urine, serum, saliva, and pelt. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76(4):563-9
- Boutin Y, Hebert H, Vrancken ER, Mourad W. Allergenicity and cross reactivity of cat and dog allergenic extracts. Clin Allergy 1988;18(3):287 93
- 26. Cabanas R, Lopez-Serrano MC, Carreira J, Ventas P, Polo F, Caballero MT, Contreras J, Barranco P, Moreno-Ancillo A. Importance of albumin in cross-reactivity among cat, dog and horse allergens. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2000;10(2):71-7
- Viander M, Valovirta E, Vanto T, Koivikko A. Cross-reactivity of cat and dog allergen extracts. RAST inhibition studies with special reference to the allergenic activity in saliva and urine. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1983;71(3):252-60
- Spitzauer S, Pandjaitan B, Soregi G, Muhl S, Ebner C, Kraft D, Valenta R, Rumpold H. IgE cross-reactivities against albumins in patients allergic to animals. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;96(6 Pt 1):951-9
- 29. Weber RW. Atopic persons sensitive to cat dander. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2002;88(1):A4
- 30. Wintermeyer SF. Occupational asthma. Lippincotts Prim Care Pract 1998;2(6):614-24

e220 Cat serum albumin

- Desjardins A, Benoit C, Ghezzo H, L'Archeveque J, Leblanc C, Paquette L et al. Exposure to domestic animals and risk of immunologic sensitization in subjects with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;91(5):979-86
- Braso-Aznar JV, Pelaez-Hernandez A, Rochina-Puchades A, Morales-Rubio C, Burches Baixauli E. Etiologic role of unapparent exposure in cat allergy. Allergy 1995;50(5):447-50
- Kwaasi AA, Parhar RS, al-Mohanna FA, Harfi HA, Collison KS, al-Sedairy ST. Aeroallergens and viable microbes in sandstorm dust. Potential triggers of allergic and nonallergic respiratory ailments. Allergy 1998;53(3):255-65
- Boulet LP, Turcotte H, Laprise C, Lavertu C, Bedard PM, Lavoie A, Hebert J. Comparative degree and type of sensitization to common indoor and outdoor allergens in subjects with allergic rhinitis and/or asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(1):52-9
- Schutz-Kiss D, Popp W, Wagner C, Reiser K, Havelec L, Zwick H. Sensitization to inhaled allergens in the Vienna population. [German] Wien Klin Wochenschr 1995;107(11):331-5
- 36. Panzani RC, Mercier P, Delord Y, Riva G, Falagiani P, Reviron D, Auquier P. Prevalence of patent and latent atopy among a general normal adult population in the south east of France by RAST investigation and correlation with circulating total IgE levels. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 1993;21(6):211-9
- Brown CW, Hawkins L. Allergy prevalence and causal factors in the domestic environment: results of a random population survey in the United Kingdom. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1999;83(3):240-4
- Jedrychowski W, Flak E, Mroz E, Lis G. Sensitization to common airborne allergens in school children with bronchial asthma. [Polish] Przegl Lek 2000;57(9):441-5
- Guneser S, Atici A, Cengizler I, Alparslan N. Inhalant allergens: as a cause of respiratory allergy in east Mediterranean area, Turkey. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 1996;24(3):116-9
- 40. Perzanowski MS, Ronmark E, Nold B, Lundback B, Platts-Mills TA. Relevance of allergens from cats and dogs to asthma in the northernmost province of Sweden: schools as a major site of exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(6):1018-24

e218 Chicken droppings

Gallus domesticus

Family:	Phasianidae	
Common		
names:	Chicken, Hen, Cock,	
	Cockerel	
Source		
material:	Droppings	
See also:	Chicken f83 for allergy	
	to Chicken meat,	
	Chicken feathers e78,	
	and Chicken serum	
	albumin Re219	
Direct or indirect contact with Chicken		
allergens may cause sensitisation.		

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Chicken (which probably originated as a jungle fowl in southwestern Asia) was one of the earliest animals to be domesticated, possibly as early as 4,000 BC. They were popular in China and among the Greeks and Romans, and are now distributed virtually throughout the world. They form by far the most important class of poultry, raised principally for their meat and eggs. The current trend is towards specialisation, with some Chicken raisers producing hatching eggs, others eggs for table use, and others raising Chickens to market as meat. Many distinct Chicken breeds have been combined through selective breeding into a few relatively standard types that are notably efficient converters of feed into meat or eggs. The dominant meat Chicken today is a cross between the fast-growing female White Plymouth Rock chicken and the deepbreasted male Cornish chicken. The predominant egg-laying type in the United States today is the White Leghorn chicken.

Environment

Breeders as well as workers in the Chicken food processing industry are examples of groups with high risk of exposure. Other means of exposure are pillows made of



Chicken feathers, arts and crafts that include Chicken feathers, and wing feathers used in fletching arrows. A few breeds of Chicken are raised chiefly for their ornamental appearance or as pets.

Allergens

No allergens have yet been characterized.

Allergen exposure may occur from contact with Chicken feather, Chicken serum or Chicken droppings. Chicken droppings may contain, similarly to Pigeon droppings, excreted serum protein antigens, which may have been degraded, making identification difficult. Droppings may also include bacterial endotoxin and other non-speciesspecific biological substances.

Potential cross-reactivity

Positive IgE antibody reactions to sera and feathers from 5 bird species (Pigeon, Budgerigar, Parrot, Canary and Hen), and to Pigeon droppings, have been found in subjects with Bird Fancier's Asthma (10). Since antibodies of each of the patients also recognized antigens of birds with which they were not in contact, immunological crossreactivity between different avian species was suggested.

e218 Chicken droppings

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to Chicken feathers, epithelial cells or droppings. The allergic manifestations may present as Bird Fancier's Asthma and as so-called Bird-Egg Syndrome with symptoms such as rhinitis, urticaria and angioedema (1), and also gastro-intestinal problems (2). Contact with Chicken has been reported as a common cause of occupational asthma and allergic rhinitis (3-5).

Contact with Chicken is a significant cause of sensitisation in poultry workers. Asthma prevalence in farmers has been found by means of a questionnaire survey to be higher for Horse breeders/groomers, Pig farmers, poultry farmers, and those working with Oats. Up to 17.4% of poultry farmers reported symptoms of asthma (6). In an avian slaughterhouse, workers may be exposed to Chicken feathers, as well as to serum and droppings allergens (7). Sensitisation in these individuals may also occur to Chicken feed (8).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Chickens (8-9) or other birds such as Pigeons, Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulins including IgE (10), IgM (11), IgA and various IgG subclasses (12-14). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (15).

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, and feathers. Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their cages, or exposure to the organic dust drifting from where the birds reside.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (16).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (17).

Other reactions

Chicken droppings may contain *Histoplasma capsulatum*, resulting in the granulomatous disease histoplasmosis (18).

Mites may also be a major allergen in poultry farmers. Northern fowl mite (Ornithonyssus sylviarum) residing in Chicken feathers may be the predominant allergen causing occupational allergy in poultry farmers (4,19). The House dust mite Dermatophagoides evansi was documented in dust samples from poultry farms, as well as the House dust mite Dermatophagoides *farinae*, Mites of the *Tyroglyphidae* family and/or Mucedine family (20). Storage mites and other predatory Mites were also found in these samples (21). Aleuroglyphus ovatus is a Storage mite that has a worldwide distribution and has been found in stored bran, Wheat, Chicken meal, and dried fish products (22).

Farm workers handling animal feeds are exposed to a variety of chemicals, some of which may cause allergic contact dermatitis. A case of allergy to ethoxyquin (a preservative added to Chicken feed to inhibit vitamin degradation) in a Chicken farmer is reported (23).

- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Annals of Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Danuser B. Respiratory health risks in working with chickens. [German] Pneumologie 2000;54(1):37-42
- Bar-Sela S, Teichtahl H, Lutsky I. Occupational asthma in poultry workers. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1984;73(2):271-5
- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- Chacin B, Corzo G, Montiel M. Lung function in workers in a chicken slaughterhouse in the city of Maracaibo, Venezuela. [Spanish] Invest Clin 1997;38(4):171-90
- Rees D, Nelson G, Kielkowski D, Wasserfall C, da Costa A. Respiratory health and immunological profile of poultry workers. S Afr Med J 1998;88(9):1110-7
- Korn DS, Florman AL, Gribetz I. Recurrent pneumonitis with hypersensitivity pneumonitis to hen litter. JAMA 1968;205:114
- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- 12. Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9

- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- 17. Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Bulmer AC, Bulmer GS. Incidence of histoplasmin hypersensitivity in the Philippines. Mycopathologia 2001;149(2):69-71
- Lutsky I, Bas-Sela S. Northern fowl mite (Ornithonyssus sylvarium) in occupational asthma of poultry workers. Lancet 1982;2:874-5
- Enge A, Hiepe T, Ribbeck R. Occurrence of housedust mites (Astigmata; Pyroglyphidae) in stables. [German] Angew Parasitol 1984;25(3):132-41
- Elbers AR, Blaauw PJ, Heijmans JF, Tielen MJ. Investigation of the mite fauna content of dust samples collected from pig and poultry farms. Report of the first finding in Western Europe of the house-dust mite *Dermatophagoides evansi* in dust from poultry houses. [Dutch] Tijdschr Diergeneeskd 2000;125(22):677-8
- Silton RP, Fernandez-Caldas E, Trudeau WL, Swanson MC, Lockey RF. Prevalence of specific IgE to the storage mite, *Aleuroglyphus ovatus*. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991;88(4):595-603
- Rubel DM, Freeman S. Allergic contact dermatitis to ethoxyquin in a farmer handling chicken feeds. Australas J Dermatol 1998;39(2):89-91

e85 Chicken feathers

Gallus domesticus

Family:	Phasianidae
Common	
names:	Chicken, Hen, Cock,
	Cockerel
Source	
material:	Feathers
See also:	Chicken f83 for allergy
	to Chicken meat,
	Chicken droppings
	e218, and Chicken
	serum albumin Re219
Direct or indire	ct contact with bird
	auga constitution Dird

allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Chicken (which probably originated as a jungle fowl in southwestern Asia) was one of the earliest animals to be domesticated, possibly as early as 4,000 BC. They were popular in China and among the Greeks and Romans, and are now distributed virtually throughout the world. They form by far the most important class of poultry, raised principally for their meat and eggs. The current trend is towards specialisation, with some Chicken raisers producing hatching eggs, others eggs for table use, and others raising Chickens to market as meat. Many distinct Chicken breeds have been combined through selective breeding into a few relatively standard types that are notably efficient converters of feed into meat or eggs. The dominant meat Chicken today is a cross between the fast-growing female White Plymouth Rock chicken and the deepbreasted male Cornish chicken. The predominant egg-laying type in the United States today is the White Leghorn chicken.

Environment

Breeders as well as workers in the Chicken food processing industry are examples of groups with high risk of exposure. Other means of exposure are pillows made of



Chicken feathers, arts and crafts that include Chicken feathers, and wing feathers used in fletching arrows. A few breeds of Chicken are raised chiefly for their ornamental appearance or as pets.

Allergens

Well-defined major allergenic bands with molecular mass of 20-30 kDa and 67 kDa have been detected and identified in IgE immunoblots with feather extracts as well as with serum proteins of Budgerigar, Parrot, Pigeon, Canary, and Hen. Inhalable feather dust was shown to contain several allergenic components, which cross-react with serum allergens/antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1). The allergens have not been fully characterized yet.

Potential cross-reactivity

As noted above, inhalable feather dust contains several allergenic components, which cross-react with serum allergens/ antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

Cross-reactivity between Chicken and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Chicken-allergic

e85 Chicken feathers

patients, significant IgE antibody titers to Parrot, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (2-3), even in patients without known exposure (1).

In Bird-Egg Syndrome, cross-reactivity to Hen's egg occurs (2-3). IgE from patients with Bird-Egg Syndrome was shown to recognise a 70 kDa protein in egg yolk and some major allergens in bird feather extract. Chicken serum albumin is the same protein as that designated alpha-livetin in egg yolk. The sera of patients with Bird-Egg Syndrome, pooled with Budgerigar or Hen feather extract and egg yolk extract, led to complete blocking of IgE binding to allergens in egg yolk and bird feather extract. However, IgE from patients with egg white allergy did not react with allergens in egg yolk and bird feather extract, despite strong IgE binding to egg white allergens. These results indicate common epitopes of Budgerigar and Hen feather and egg yolk alpha-livetin, and researchers suggest that alpha-livetin (Chicken serum albumin) leads to a cross-sensitisation and consequently to "Bird-Egg Syndrome" (4-6). This adult type of egg intolerance must be distinguished from the common egg white allergy of atopic children.

Cross-reactivity between Hen's feather and House dust mite allergen extract has been reported. However, the authors suggest that although this may result from crossreacting allergens, the more probable explanation is that Chicken feather extract contained *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* allergens or at least allergens with epitopes common to *D. pteronyssinus* allergen (7).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to Chicken feathers, epithelial cells or droppings. The allergic manifestations may present as Bird Fancier's Asthma and as Bird-Egg Syndrome, with symptoms such as rhinitis, urticaria and angioedema (2); and also as gastro-intestinal problems (3). Specific IgE has been found in patients exposed to Chicken feathers, and contact with Chicken has been reported as a common cause of occupational asthma and allergic rhinitis (8-11,20).

Positive specific IgE tests with feather allergens have been reported in 20-60% of patients suspected to be allergic to feathers (12-14). The clinical relevance of these results has not been fully established (20).

Evidence of sensitisation to Chicken feathers is reported also in other studies. A Finnish study of 598 asthmatic children reported that 10% had specific IgE antibodies to Chicken feathers (7).

Of 269 adult patients with suspected skin and respiratory allergies tested for feathers with skin-specific IgE tests, 9% of the whole group and 14% of those positive to inhalant allergens were positive to a feather allergen. Two reacted to Duck feathers, 12 to Goose and 15 to Chicken feathers. Symptoms were reported by 58% of feather skin-specific IgEpositive patients and by 55% of other skinspecific IgE-positive patients. Positive RASTspecific IgE test was surprisingly very low (20).

In a study of 507 asthmatic atopic children in the Chieti-Pescara area of Italy, specific IgE skin tests found that 5.9% were sensitised to feathers (15).

Chicken feathers are a significant cause of sensitisation in poultry workers. Asthma prevalence in farmers has been reported by means of a questionnaire survey to be higher for Horse breeders/groomers, Pig farmers, poultry farmers, and those working with oats. Up to 17.4% of poultry farmers reported symptoms of asthma (16). In an avian slaughterhouse, workers may be exposed to Chicken feathers, as well as to serum and droppings allergens (17). Sensitisation in these individuals may also occur to Chicken feed (18).

In a selected group of patients with known allergy to bird feathers, a high frequency (32%) of sensitisation to egg proteins, in particular egg yolk, suggests that in some patients feather sensitisation could trigger or somehow facilitate the later sensitisation to egg yolk proteins (Bird-Egg Syndrome) (19). Clinical allergy to commercial feather products is less common than usually thought, as a result of the removal of dust, washing, and drying at 125 °C. The allergens derived from unrefined feathers include bird serum proteins, bird droppings, and feather mites.

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Chickens (18,21) or other birds such as Pigeons, Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves and Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulin antibodies including IgE (1), IgM (22), IgA and various IgG subclasses (23-25). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (26).

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, and feathers. Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their cages, or exposure to the organic dust drifting from where the birds reside.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (27).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (28).

Other reactions

Farm workers handling animal feeds are exposed to a variety of chemicals, some of which may cause allergic contact dermatitis. A case of allergy to ethoxyquin (a preservative added to Chicken feed to inhibit vitamin degradation) in a Chicken farmer is reported (29).

e85 Chicken feathers

Mites may also be a major allergen in poultry farmers. Northern fowl mite (*Ornithonyssus sylviarum*) residing in Chicken feathers may be the predominant allergen causing occupational allergy in poultry farmers (10,30). The House dust mite, *Dermatophagoides evansi*, was documented in dust samples from poultry farms. Storage mites and other predatory Mites were also found in these samples (31). *Aleuroglyphus ovatus* is a Storage mite that has a worldwide distribution and has been found in stored bran, wheat, chicken meal, and dried fish products (32).

Polyester-filled pillows contain significantly more total weight of Der p 1 Mite allergen (*Dermatophagoides Pteronyssinus*) than feather-filled pillows (33).

- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Ann Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Szepfalusi Z, Ebner C, Pandjaitan R, Orlicek F, Scheiner O, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Kraft D, Ebner H. Egg yolk alpha-livetin (chicken serum albumin) is a cross-reactive allergen in the bird-egg syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(5):932-42
- Mandallaz MM, de Weck AL, Dahinden CA. Bird-egg syndrome. Cross-reactivity between bird antigens and egg-yolk livetins in IgEmediated hypersensitivity. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1988;87(2):143-50
- de Blay F, Hoyet C, Candolfi E, Thierry R, Pauli G. Identification of alpha livetin as a cross reacting allergen in a bird- egg syndrome. Allergy Proc 1994;15(2):77-8
- Linna O, Niinimaki A, Makinen-Kiljunen S. Immunologic cross-reactivity between hen's feather and house-dust-mite allergen extracts. Allergy 1994;49(9):795-6
- 8. Danuser B. Respiratory health risks in working with chickens. [German] Pneumologie 2000;54(1):37-42

e85 Chicken feathers

- Potter PC, Berman D, Toerien A, Malherbe D, Weinberg EG. Clinical significance of aeroallergen identification in the western Cape. S Afr Med J 1991;79(2):80-4
- Bar-Sela S, Teichtahl H, Lutsky I. Occupational asthma in poultry workers. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1984;73(2):271-5
- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Chapman J, Williams S. Aeroallergens of the southeast Missouri area: a report of skin test frequencies and air sampling data. Ann Allergy 1984;52:411-418
- 13. Geller M. Respiratory atopy in Rio de Janeiro. Ann Allergy 1990;64:171-173
- von der Hardt H, Meiser W. Allergen testing in children with asthma bronchiale. Monatsschr Kinderkeilkd 1975;123:577-87
- Verini M, Rossi N, Verrotti A, Pelaccia G, Nicodemo A, Chiarelli F. Sensitization to environmental antigens in asthmatic children from a central Italian area. Sci Total Environ 2001;270(1-3):63-9
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- Chacin B, Corzo G, Montiel M. Lung function in workers in a chicken slaughterhouse in the city of Maracaibo, Venezuela. [Spanish] Invest Clin 1997;38(4):171-90
- Rees D, Nelson G, Kielkowski D, Wasserfall C, da Costa A. Respiratory health and immunological profile of poultry workers. S Afr Med J 1998;88(9):1110-7
- Anibarro Bausela B, Martin Esteban M, Martinez Alzamora F, Pascual Marcos C, Ojeda Casas JA. Egg protein sensitization in patients with bird feather allergy. Allergy 1991;46(8):614-8
- Kilpiö K, Mäkinen-Kiljunen S, Haahtela T, Hannuksela M. Allergy to feathers. Allergy 1998; 53(2):159-164
- Korn DS, Florman AL, Gribetz I. Recurrent pneumonitis with hypersensitivity pneumonitis to hen litter. JAMA 1968;205:114
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7

- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung: IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Rubel DM, Freeman S. Allergic contact dermatitis to ethoxyquin in a farmer handling chicken feeds. Australas J Dermatol 1998;39(2):89-91
- Lutsky I, Bas-Sela S. Northern fowl mite (Ornithonyssus sylvarium) in occupational asthma of poultry workers. Lancet 1982;2:874-5
- 31. Elbers AR, Blaauw PJ, Heijmans JF, Tielen MJ. Investigation of the mite fauna content of dust samples collected from pig and poultry farms. Report of the first finding in Western Europe of the house-dust mite *Dermatophagoides evansi* in dust from poultry houses. [Dutch] Tijdschr Diergeneeskd 2000;125(22):677-8
- Silton RP, Fernandez-Caldas E, Trudeau WL, Swanson MC, Lockey RF. Prevalence of specific IgE to the storage mite, *Aleuroglyphus ovatus.* J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991;88(4):595-603
- Kemp TJ, Siebers RW, Fishwick D, O'Grady GB, Fitzharris P, Crane J. House dust mite allergen in pillows. BMJ 1996;313:916

Gallus domesticus

Family:	Phasianidae	
Common		
names:	Chicken, Hen, Cock,	
	Cockerel	
Source		
material:	Serum	
See also:	Chicken f83 for allergy	
	to Chicken meat,	
	Chicken droppings e218,	
	and Chicken	
	feathers e78	
Direct or indirect contact with bird		

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Chicken (which probably originated as a jungle fowl in southwestern Asia) was one of the earliest animals to be domesticated. possibly as early as 4,000 BC. They were popular in China and among the Greeks and Romans, and are now distributed virtually throughout the world. They form by far the most important class of poultry, raised principally for their meat and eggs. The current trend is towards specialisation, with some Chicken raisers producing hatching eggs, others eggs for table use, and others raising Chickens to market as meat. Many distinct Chicken breeds have been combined through selective breeding into a few relatively standard types that are notably efficient converters of feed into meat or eggs. The dominant meat Chicken today is a cross between the fast-growing female White Plymouth Rock chicken and the deepbreasted male Cornish chicken. The predominant egg-laying type in the United States today is the White Leghorn chicken.

Environment

Breeders aswell as workers in the Chicken food processing industry are examples of group with high risk of exposure. Other means of exosure are pillows made with Chicken feathrs, arts and crafts that include



Chicken feathers, and wing feathers used in fletching arrows. A few breeds of Chicken are raised chiefly for their ornamental appearance or as pets.

Allergens

Allergen exposure may occur from contact with Chicken feather, Chicken serum or Chicken droppings. Chicken serum may contain, similarly to Pigeon serum, the main source of clean soluble antigens. The major antigens are gamma-globulin proteins, e.g., IgA and IgA fragments. Serum also contains the major protein albumin, which is crossreactive with albumin from other avian species, and with other serum proteins.

Gal d 5 (1) serum albumin (alpha-livetin) Mw 69 kDa.

Gal d 5 is a partially heat-labile allergen; IgE reactivity to Chicken albumin was reduced by 88% after heating at 90 °C for 30 min. This allergen can become airborne and was found in house dust (1).

Well-defined major allergenic bands with molecular mass of 20-30 kDa and 67 kDa have been detected and identified in IgE immunoblots with feather extracts as well as with serum proteins of Budgerigar, Parrot,

Pigeon, Canary, and Hen. Inhalable feather dust was shown to contain several allergenic components, which cross-react with serum allergens/antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (2).

Potential cross-reactivity

As noted above, inhalable feather dust contains several allergenic components, which cross-react with serum allergens/ antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (2).

Cross-reactivity between Chicken and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Chicken-allergic patients, significant IgE titers to Parrot, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (3-4), even in patients without known exposure (2).

In Bird-Egg Syndrome, cross-reactivity to Hen's egg occurs (3-4). IgE from patients with Bird-Egg Syndrome was shown to recognise a 70 kDa protein in egg yolk and some major allergens in bird feather extract. Chicken serum albumin is the same protein as that designated alpha-livetin in egg yolk. The sera of patients with Bird-Egg Syndrome, pooled with Budgerigar or Hen feather extract and egg yolk extract, led to complete blocking of IgE binding to allergens in egg yolk and bird feather extract. However, IgE from patients with egg white allergy did not react with allergens in egg yolk and bird feather extract, despite strong IgE binding to egg white allergens. These results indicate common epitopes of Budgerigar and Hen feather and egg yolk alpha-livetin, and researchers suggest that alpha-livetin leads to cross-sensitisation and consequently to Bird-Egg Syndrome (5-7). This adult type of egg intolerance must be distinguished from the common egg white allergy of atopic children.

ELISA inhibition demonstrated only partial cross-reactivity between Chicken albumin and conalbumin (1).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to Chicken feathers, epithelial cells or droppings. The allergic manifestations may present as Bird Fancier's Asthma and as socalled Bird-Egg Syndrome with symptoms such as rhinitis, urticaria and angioedema (3), and also gastro-intestinal problems (4). Contact with Chicken has been reported as a common cause of occupational asthma and allergic rhinitis (8-10).

Contact with Chicken is a significant cause of sensitisation in poultry workers. Asthma prevalence in farmers has been found by means of a questionnaire survey to be higher for Horse breeders/groomers, Pig farmers, poultry farmers, and those working with Oats. Up to 17.4% of poultry farmers reported symptoms of asthma (11). In an avian slaughterhouse, workers may be exposed to Chicken feathers, as well as to serum and droppings allergens (12). Sensitisation in these individuals may also occur to Chicken feed (13).

Chicken serum albumin (alpha-livetin) has been implicated as the causative allergen of Bird-Egg Syndrome. Specific bronchial challenge to Chicken albumin elicited early asthmatic responses in 6 patients with asthma. An oral challenge with Chicken albumin provoked digestive and systemic allergic symptoms in the 2 patients challenged, thus demonstrating that Chicken serum albumin may cause both respiratory and food-allergy symptoms in patients with Bird-Egg Syndrome (1).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Chickens (13-14) or other birds such as Pigeons, Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulin antibodies including IgE (2), IgM (15), IgA and various IgG subclasses (16-18). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (19).

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, and feathers. Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their cages, or exposure to the organic dust drifting from where the birds reside.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (20).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (21).

A case of allergy to Chicken intestines has been reported (22). (Whether the reaction was due to meat allergen or serum allergens was not determined.)

Other reactions

Contact urticaria from handling meat and fowl has been reported (23).

See also: Chicken f83 for allergy to Chicken meat, Chicken droppings e218, and Chicken feathers e78.

- Quirce S, Maranon F, Umpierrez A, de las Heras M, Fernandez-Caldas E, Sastre J. Chicken serum albumin (Gal d 5*) is a partially heat-labile inhalant and food allergen implicated in the bird-egg syndrome. Allergy 2001 Aug;56(8):754-62
- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Ann Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Szepfalusi Z, Ebner C, Pandjaitan R, Orlicek F, Scheiner O, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Kraft D, Ebner H. Egg yolk alpha-livetin (chicken serum albumin) is a cross-reactive allergen in the bird-egg syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(5):932-42
- Mandallaz MM, de Weck AL, Dahinden CA. Bird-egg syndrome. Cross-reactivity between bird antigens and egg-yolk livetins in IgEmediated hypersensitivity. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1988;87(2):143-50
- de Blay F, Hoyet C, Candolfi E, Thierry R, Pauli G. Identification of alpha livetin as a cross reacting allergen in a bird- egg syndrome. Allergy Proc 1994;15(2):77-8
- 8. Danuser B. Respiratory health risks in working with chickens. [German] Pneumologie 2000;54(1):37-42
- Bar-Sela S, Teichtahl H, Lutsky I. Occupational asthma in poultry workers. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1984;73(2):271-5
- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- Chacin B, Corzo G, Montiel M. Lung function in workers in a chicken slaughterhouse in the city of Maracaibo, Venezuela. [Spanish] Invest Clin 1997;38(4):171-90
- Rees D, Nelson G, Kielkowski D, Wasserfall C, da Costa A. Respiratory health and immunological profile of poultry workers. S Afr Med J 1998;88(9):1110-7
- Korn DS, Florman AL, Gribetz I. Recurrent pneumonitis with hypersensitivity pneumonitis to hen litter. JAMA 1968;205:114

- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- 16. Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Danielou M. A case of allergy to chicken intestines. [French] Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1995;27(1):20, 23
- 23. Fisher AA. Contact urticaria from handling meats and fowl. Cutis 1982;30(6):726, 729

Re208 Chinchilla epithelium

Chinchilla laniger

Family:ChinchillidaeCommonnames:ChinchillaSourcematerial:EpitheliumDirect or indirect contact with

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens may be major components of house dust.



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Chinchilla, a medium-sized, roundeared rodent, lives in the Andes of Bolivia, Chile, and Peru, but is rare in the wild due to hunting and loss of habitat. It is bred in captivity for its extremely dense, bluish-gray fur, valued since the days of the Inca. For its size, the Chinchilla pelt is probably the most expensive in the world, though domestic pelts are not as costly as wild ones were. The animal is also kept as a pet. Chinchillas are raised on farms e.g. in South America and the United States.

Environment

Chinchillas are found in mountain shrub and grassland areas at elevations between 3,000 and 5,000 meters. They make their dens in rock crevices. See also under Geographical distribution.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized. Allergens will likely be found, as in the case of other rodents, as serum proteins, in urine, and epithelia.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Chinchilla allergens may induce asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis in susceptible individuals (1-2).

One study documents positive reactions, upon nasal provocation challenge tests, to Chinchilla hair extract in 4 of 6 Chinchillasensitised patients (1 child and 3 adults) suffering with perennial rhinitis and/or asthma (2).

- Fischer-Pap L. Home allergens: the formidable hidden enemies of health. Woman Physician. 1971;26(4):206-8
- Wesarg G, Bergmann KC. Sensitization to chinchillas on exposure in households. [German] Pneumologie 2000;54(9):373-4

e4 Cow dander

Bos taurus		
Family:	Bovidae	
Common		
names:	Cow, Cattle, Steer, Ox, Bull	
Source		
material:	Dander	
See also:	Cow milk f2, Beef (meat) f27 and BSA (bovine serum albumin) e204	
Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation.		

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Cattle were among the first domesticated animals (descended from large wild oxen), and one of the earliest measures of wealth. Domestic Cattle were first brought to the Western Hemisphere by Columbus on his second voyage, and are now known almost throughout the world. Important breeds include Angus, Hereford, Brahman, Jersey, Guernsey and Ayrshire. Cows have traditionally been kept for a greater variety of purposes than any other domestic animal, but with industrialisation and specialisation in agriculture, multiple-purpose breeds are now more rare.

Environment

Cattle are usually born and raised on rangelands. Rangelands are unfertilized and uncultured, and must contain adequate areas for grazing; otherwise irreversible damage to natural ecosystems can occur. Cows are used primarily for dairy products (milk, cheese, etc.) and meat. They are also the sources of goods such as medicines, glue, soap, and leather. Males are used for pulling large loads or for plowing the soil because of their large size and their strength. The dung is a good source of fertilizer and fuel.



Allergens

Early studies of Cow hair and dander determined 17 antigens, of which 5 were serum proteins (1-6). The allergens are proteins 11, 15, 20, 22, 36, 50, 62.3 and >200 kDa in size (7-8). Four major allergens were initially shown to be predominantly associated with hair and dander, but they were also demonstrated in Cow saliva, urine, whey, amniotic fluid and Beef, as well as in Cow-hide products (4,9).

Of these allergens, a number have been characterized.

Bos d 1, a major allergen.

Bos d 2, Mw 20 kDa, a major allergen, a lipocalin (10).

Bos d 3, Mw 11 kDa, a major allergen, a Ca-binding S100 homologue.

Bos d 4, Mw 14 kDa, alpha-lactalbumin.

Bos d 5, Mw 18 kDa, beta-lactoglobulin.

Bos d 6, Mw 67 kDa, serum albumin.

Bos d 7, Mw 160 kDa, immunoglobulin.

Bos d 8, Mw 20-30 kDa, caseins.

e4 Cow dander

The lipocalin Bos d 2 is the most allergenic and is found in Cow dander and urine (11). Research suggests that Bos d 2 is produced in sweat glands and transported to the skin surface as a carrier of the pheromone ligand. Because dander allergens of a number of mammalian species are lipocalins, the common biologic function of being pheromone carriers seems to be a common feature of an important group of aeroallergens (12).

Three Bos d 2 variants have been identified and named Bos d 2.0101 (previously sequenced Bos d 2), Bos d 2.0102 and Bos d 2.0103 (13).

Cow dander extract was shown to contain more allergenic activity than skin scrapings or whole skin extracts, which were needed in about 3-fold higher amounts than Cow dander extract to induce the same degree of inhibition in ELISA. Skin scrapings and whole skin extracts contained more high-molecular-weight components than dander extract. Using the sera of 49 Cowasthmatic farmers, 2 major allergens were detected at 20 and 22 kDa in all 3 extracts. These results show that the highest amount of allergenic material and all the essential allergens are present in Cow dander extract. The study also reported that the normally non-allergenic high-molecular-weight components are detected in low concentrations in dander extract (14).

Although Cow dander contains a number of allergens, in asthmatic farmers IgE reactivity appeared to be directed to only a few components. Two main allergens were found in Cow dander, a 20 and 22 kDa protein; and a 20 kDa protein in Cow urine. The 20 kDa component was shown to be the most important allergen in Cow antigen extracts (15), later identified as a lipocalin.

Potential cross-reactivity

A study reported that approximately 20% of Cow dander-allergic sera displayed IgE reactivity with Cow's milk proteins and that inhibition studies revealed the cross-reactive nature of the IgE antibodies. Allergens with molecular weights of 69, 92 and >200 kDa were thought to be responsible (7). Earlier

studies suggested that half of asthmatic children allergic to milk will react with bronchospasm if they are exposed to inhalation of Cow's hair (16).

Major Deer allergens with molecular weights of 22 and 25 kDa have been shown to be cross-reactive with the corresponding Cow allergens (17). Cross-reactivity between Fallow deer and Horse allergen extracts has been shown, but whether some crossreactivity may exist between Cow dander and Horse dander has not been determined as yet (18).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Cow dander is a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis in farmers (7,19). Atopic dermatitis due to Cow hair and dander has also been reported (20-21). Atopic dermatitis has been described in a child due to Cow dander allergy (22). Cow dander may also result in protein contact dermatitis (23). Hand eczema due to Cow allergens has been reported to be common in Finnish farmers (24). Occupational allergy to Cows has also been described in veterinary surgeons (25).

Bovine allergens have been reported to be the most prevalent causes of animalinduced allergic rhinitis in Finland, where about 1 in every 4 cases of occupational rhinitis is animal-induced. The largest patient group affected are dairy farmers. In a study of 106 farmers with allergic rhinitis, positive allergen challenges with Cow dander occurred in 20% (26). Similar results have been reported from similar studies of individuals allergic rhinitis, among whom the incidence with allergy to Cow was reported to be 15%. Of 32 patient sera, 23 were positive to Cow dander but only 2 were positive to Cow serum; patients who had IgE antibodies to Cow dander also had antibodies to Cow serum, but not the reverse (27).

Cow dander has also been reported to be the most common cause of occupational contact urticaria in Finland. In a case report, a patient was described with a combined type I and type IV allergy to Cow dander. She had complained of intense pruritus, whealing, and severe dermatitis, but no respiratory symptoms (28-30).

Cow dander has been recognised as an important aeroallergen in the aetiology of bronchial asthma in subjects from India (31) and Turkey (32). In Eastern Poland, sensitisation without the manifestation of symptoms has been reported. In 68 farmers from 17 randomly selected family farms, no farmer complained of symptoms when working with Cows or Pigs. Yet in 13 farmers (19.1%) either positive skin-specific IgE and/or the presence of serum-specific IgE to Cow dander and/or Pig epithelia was found. Seven farmers (10.3%) were positive to skin-specific IgE tests: 2 to Cow epithelium; 2 to Pig epithelium; and 3 to both allergens. Serum-specific IgE was also found in 7 farmers (10.3%): in 4 to Cow dander; in one to Cow epithelium; and in 2 to both allergens. Only one farmer showed a positive reaction to Cow allergens in both skin tests and IgE (33).

The same authors in another study concluded that detection of animal antigenspecific IgE may be a useful screening tool, although an exact assessment of sensitivity and specificity of the method in a larger population of exposed farmers will be required (20).

Veterinarians have developed contact urticaria (itching, swelling, and urticaria on hands and arms) after contact with amniotic fluid of Cows and/or Pigs. Skin- and serumspecific IgE tests done with self-prepared allergens were positive. The authors suggest that the allergen causing contact urticaria is a compound of amniotic fluid and serum but does not include the epithelia of these animals (34).

Among dairy farmers, Storage mites are reported to be as common as Cow dander as the cause of allergic occupational rhinitis (26).

Other reactions

A negative aspect of Domestic cattle husbandry is the disease Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy, better known as Mad Cow Disease. Mad Cow Disease is a fatal degenerative brain disease, which is caused by a protein known as a prion. In humans, the equivalent disease is Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease (CJD), which causes rapid dementia and neurological damage leading to death. The diseases are now believed to be linked to eating Beef from infected Cows.

See also: Cow's milk f2, Beef (meat) f27 and BSA (bovine serum albumin) e204.

- Prahl P, Weeke B, Lowenstein H. Quantitative immunoelectrophoretic analysis of extract from cow hair and dander. Characterization of the antigens and identification of the allergens. Allergy 1978;33(5):241-53
- 2. Prahl P. Allergens in cow hair and dander. Origin of cow allergens in the environment. Allergy 1981;36(8):561-71
- Prahl P, Sonderstrup Hansen G. Lymphocyte responses to an aqueous extract from cow hair and dander. Investigations of asthmatics and normal controls with lymphocyte transformation tests. Allergy 1982;37(3):155-60
- Prahl P, Sondergaard I. Allergen content in aqueous and hydrophobic extracts from cow hair and dander. Comparison of extracts by means of quantitative immunoelectrophoresis. Allergy 1982;37(4):279-83
- Rautiainen J, Pentikainen J, Rytkonen M, Linnala-Kankkunen A, Pelkonen J, Virtanen T, Mantyjarvi R. Molecular analysis of allergenic proteins in bovine dander. Allergy 1996;51(6):378-82
- Prahl P, Bucher D, Plesner T, Weeke B, Lowenstein H. Isolation and partial characterisation of three major allergens in an extract from cow hair and dander. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1982;67(4):293-301
- Valero Santiago AL, Rosell Vives E, Lluch Perez M, Sancho Gomez J, Piulats Xanco J, Malet Casajuana A. Occupational allergy caused by cow dander: detection and identification of the allergenic fractions. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 1997;25(6):259-65
- Szepfalusi Z, Ebner C, Urbanek R, Ebner H, Scheiner O, Boltz-Nitulescu G, Kraft D. Detection of IgE antibodies specific for allergens in cow milk and cow dander. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1993;102(3):288-94
- Osvath P, Muranyi L, Endre L, Harsanyi G. Investigation of the cross reaction of cow's hair and milk antigen in bronchial provocation. Acta Allergol 1972;27:355-363

e4 Cow dander

- Mantyjarvi R, Parkkinen S, Rytkonen M, Pentikainen J, Pelkonen J, Rautiainen J, Zeiler T, Virtanen T. Complementary DNA cloning of the predominant allergen of bovine dander: a new member in the lipocalin family. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;97(6):1297-303
- 11. Santa H, Saarela JT, Laatikainen R, Rautianen J, Virtanen T, Rytkonen M, Mantyjarvi R. A bovine dander allergen, comparative modeling, and similarities and differences in folding with related proteins. J Protein Chem 1998;17(7):657-62
- Rautiainen J, Rytkonen M, Syrjanen K, Pentikainen J, Zeiler T, Virtanen T, Mantyjarvi R. Tissue localization of bovine dander allergen Bos d 2. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;101(3):349-53
- Rautiainen J, Auriola S, Konttinen A, Virtanen T, Rytkonen-Nissinen M, Zeiler T, Mantyjarvi R. Two new variants of the lipocalin allergen Bos d 2. J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl 2001;763(1-2):91-8
- Ylonen J, Mantyjarvi R, Taivainen A, Virtanen T. Comparison of the antigenic and allergenic properties of three types of bovine epithelial material. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1992;99(1):112-7
- 15. Ylonen J, Mantyjarvi R, Taivainen A, Virtanen T. IgG and IgE antibody responses to cow
- dander and urine in farmers with cowinduced asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 1992;22(1):83-90
- Osvath P, Endre L, Peter F. Cross reaction of specific IgE antibodies directed against cow's milk and bovine hair (author's transl). [German] Allerg Immunol (Leipz) 1979;25(3):203-6
- Spitzauer S, Valenta R, Muhl S, Rumpold H, Ebner H, Ebner C. Characterization of allergens from deer: cross-reactivity with allergens from cow dander. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(2):196-200
- Huwyler T, Wuthrich B. A case of fallow deer allergy. Cross-reactivity between fallow deer and horse allergy. Allergy 1992;47(5):574-5
- Rautalahti M, Terho EO, Vohlonen I, Husman K. Atopic sensitization of dairy farmers to workrelated and common allergens. Eur J Respir Dis Suppl 1987;152:155-64
- Spiewak R, Dutkiewicz J, Skorska C. Detection of specific IgE as a screening tool for cow and swine breeders' occupational allergic dermatoses. Ann Agric Environ Med 2000;7(2):145-7

- Timmer C, Coenraads PJ. Allergic contact dermatitis from cow hair and dander. Contact Dermatitis 1996;34(4):292-3
- 22. Szczepanski R, von Muhlendahl KE. Atopic dermatitis in a child due to cow dander. [Letter] Lancet 1997;350(9071):114-5
- 23. Mahler V, Diepgen TL, Heese A, Peters KP. Protein contact dermatitis due to cow dander. Contact Dermatitis 1998;38(1):47-8
- 24. Susitaival P, Husman L, Hollmen A, Horsmanheimo M, Husman K, Hannuksela M. Hand eczema in Finnish farmers. A questionnaire-based clinical study. Contact Dermatitis 1995;32(3):150-5
- 25. Prahl P, Roed-Petersen J. Type I allergy from cows in veterinary surgeons. Contact Dermatitis 1979;5:33
- Terho EO, Husman K, Vohlonen I, Rautalahti M, Tukiainen H. Allergy to storage mites or cow dander as a cause of rhinitis among Finnish dairy farmers. Allergy 1985;40(1):23-6
- Holopainen E, Salo OP, Tarkianen E, Malmberg H. The most important allergens in allergic rhinitis. Acta Otolaryngol 1979;Suppl 360;16-18
- Kanerva L, Estlander T. Immediate and delayed skin allergy from cow dander. Am J Contact Dermat 1997;8(3):167-9
- Kanerva L, Susitaival P. Cow dander: the most common cause of occupational contact urticaria in Finland. Contact Dermatitis 1996 Nov;35(5):309-10
- Kanerva L, Toikkanen J, Jolanki R, Estlander T. Statistical data on occupational contact urticaria. Contact Dermatitis 1996 Oct;35(4):229-33
- Gupta S, Bidani RK, Jhamb S, Agarwal MK. Role of animal danders as inhalant allergens in bronchial asthma in India. J Asthma 1996;33(5):339-48
- Guneser S, Atici A, Cengizler I, Alparslan N. Inhalant allergens: as a cause of respiratory allergy in east Mediterranean area, Turkey. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 1996;24(3):116-9
- Spiewak R. Sensitization to cow and pig allergens among farmers in Eastern Poland. [Polish] Med Pr 2001;52(5):351-4
- Kalveram KJ, Kastner H, Forck G. Detection of specific IgE antibodies in veterinarians with contact urticaria. [German] Z Hautkr 1986;61(1-2):75-8, 81

Re216 Deer epithelium

Dama damaFamily:CervidaeCommonSee belownames:See belowSourceEpitheliumDirect or indirect contact with animalallergens may curve sensitisation.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Deer are ruminant mammals of the family *Cervidae*. native to most areas of the world outside of Australia. Africa south of the Sahara, and Antarctica, and now introduced almost worldwide. Widely divergent types are the tiny Andean pudu, Elk, Caribou, Moose and Reindeer. Antlers, solid bony outgrowths of the skull, develop in the males of most species and are shed and renewed annually. Deer have a number of glands on their feet, legs, and faces; these are used in communication. The White-tailed deer that live in woodlands throughout the United States and in Central America and nothern South America were a source of food. buckskin, and other necessities for Native Americans and white settlers. Slaughter through the years nearly exterminated this Deer, but it is now restored in large numbers in the Eastern United States and to a lesser extent in the West. Old World deer include the Red deer, the Fallow deer, and the Axis deer.

Deer have considerable economic importance around the world. They are hunted for sport, for meat, and for their hides. Reindeer are important domestic animals in the far north. Several species have nearly been extirpated. A few others have been introduced far outside their natural ranges, often to the detriment of native species.



Environment

Deer occupy a wide range of habitats, from arctic tundras to tropical forests. Some Deer are solitary, but most live in herds that vary from a few individuals to many. Most species are browsers, but some include a substantial proportion of graze in their diets.

Allergens

Deer allergens with the molecular mass of 110, 72, 60, 59, 45, 25, 22 and 21 kDa have been identified. The 22 and 25 kDa proteins were determined to be major allergens (1-2). No allergens have been characterized to date.

In experiments using patient sera in specific IgE inhibition, IgE antibodies were directed to allergens common to pelt/hair/ dander, urine, and serum. Pelt contained the most potent allergenic fractions (3).

Potential cross-reactivity

The 22 and 25 kDa allergens from Deer dander have been shown to be cross-reactive with the corresponding Cow allergens (1). Fallow deer allergens and Horse allergen extracts were shown to be cross-reactive (4).

Re216 Deer epithelium

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Exposure to Deer dander may result in asthma, occupational asthma, allergic rhinitis, allergic conjunctivitis and anaphylaxis (1,4-5). Allergic reactions occur mostly in hunters, farmers and hunting guides.

A 25-year-old housewife in Mexico City developed rhinitis and asthma following exposure to Fallow deer in an animal park close to her home (4).

Urticaria, angioedema, and dyspnoea requiring epinephrine occurred in a 4-yearold boy following contact with Deer. He had had a mild reaction, after indirect exposure to the animal, 5 days prior to this episode of anaphylaxis. IgE-mediated tests were positive for Deer and Cow by both selective skin-prick method and RAST results (6).

Deer dander can induce occupational asthma through IgE-mediated mechanisms, as reported in a farmer raising Deer. Skinspecific IgE elicited positive reactions to dander extracts from Goat, Sheep, camel, and Cow as well as to Deer dander extract (1). Hunters are also susceptible to developing allergic symptoms following contact with these animals (3).

A postal questionnaire was sent to a random sample of 2,500 farmers throughout New Zealand. It was found that asthma prevalence was higher for Horse breeders/ groomers, Pig farmers, poultry farmers, and those working with Oats. Hay fever was significantly higher in Deer and crop farmers, and farmers working with Horses and Goats; eczema was higher for Goat and Deer farmers (7).

Other reactions

Contact urticaria from Roe deer meat and hair has been reported (8).

A boilermaker who engraved Deer bone (scrimshaw) as his artistic avocation developed recurrent anaphylaxis while scraping Deer bones (9). Deer ked (*Lipoptena cervi L.*), a haematophagous louse fly of Deer, also attacks man and can cause persistent pruritic papules (10).

Lyme disease, from which severe neurological, muscular, cardiac and other damage can result, is carried by a spirochete transmitted by the Deer tick (*Ixodes sarcoptil*), which is prone to attaching to humans in grassy and woodland areas.

- 1. Nahm DH, Park JW, Hong CS. Occupational asthma due to deer dander. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1996;76(5):423-6
- Spitzauer S, Valenta R, Muhl S, Rumpold H, Ebner H, Ebner C. Characterization of allergens from deer: cross-reactivity with allergens from cow dander. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(2):196-200
- 3. Gillespie DN, Dahlberg MJ, Yunginger JW. Inhalant allergy to wild animals (deer and elk). Ann Allergy 1985;55(2):122-5
- Huwyler T, Wuthrich B. A case of fallow deer allergy. Cross-reactivity between fallow deer and horse allergy. Allergy 1992;47(5):574-5
- 5. Gillespie DN. Anaphylaxis to deer dander. [Editorial] Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000;85(5):334
- Amrol DJ, Georgitis JW, Dunagan DP. Anaphylaxis to deer dander in a child: a case report. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000;85(5):372-3
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- 8. Geyer E, Kranke B, Derhaschnig J, Aberer W. Contact urticaria from roe deer meat and hair. Contact Dermatitis 1998;39(1):34
- Patterson R, Ganz MA, Roberts M. Anaphylaxis and asthma in a scrimshander due to deer bone dust. Ann Allergy 1991;67:529-532
- Rantanen T, Reunala T, *et al.* Persistent pruritic papules from deer ked bites. Acta Derm Venereol 1982;62(4):307-11

Canis familiaris

Family: Common names: Canidae

Dog, Domestic dog, Hound

Source material:

Dander/Serum albumin

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house dust.

Because of the close interrelationships of Dog dander e5 and Dog serum albumin Re221, this single document will cover all of these allergens. The basic differences, to be described more fully further below, are the following:

Dander is the material shed by the Dog into the environment through hair and "dandruff". Dander is the "end product" and by far the most common source of Dog allergens and contains the highest proportion of Dog-specific allergens. It has naturally figured very prominently in clinical research, but all 3 allergen sources are important for an understanding of Dog allergy.

Dog serum albumin is a protein mainly present in the serum. One exposure route is through saliva, but Dog serum albumin is also present in a fair amount in the skin (epithelium).

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Dog, a relative of the wolf, the jackal, and the Fox, was one of the earliest domesticated animals, living in human communities as early as 12,000 years ago. Dogs remain pack animals and regard themselves as the lowest-ranking members of a human household. They are therefore very pliant in their behaviour and have been put to a great many uses, including herding, hunting, guarding, and pulling loads. More



than 800 breeds have been developed according to human needs and preferences. Dogs are found in almost every human environment. In the industrialised world, they are nearly always companion animals, and because of their friendliness often live indoors and are frequently handled. There are around 68,000,000 owned Dogs in the United States alone.

Environment

Dogs are regularly found in households and on farms, but also in a feral state in cities and rural environments (though not in such large numbers as Cats). In the latter, they may form packs and become a danger to herd animals. Unvaccinated Dogs are also major spreaders of rabies.

Dog allergens have been found in serum, dander, pelt, hair and saliva, with the latter 4 being the most important, whereas Dog urine and faeces do not have any significant allergenic activity (1-3,38,44). (Extracts prepared from Dog liver, serum, salivary glands, and keratinocytes contain fewer IgE binding components (4).) Although allergen differences occur according to the origin of the allergen (e.g., epithelium or saliva), no breed-specific allergens occur (5-6,34,38-39). (This is contrary to much earlier studies (7-8).) But the concentration of allergens varies within breeds and among them (44).

Animal dander is extremely light-weight and tiny in size (approx. 2.5 microns; 1 micron = 1/25,000 inch) and can stay airborne for hours. Dog and Cat serum albumin are very common allergens present in house dust, whereas Horse serum albumin is present only in the near vicinity of the animal (9). But it is important to note that allergen levels in air do not always correlate with those found in dust (10). Older animals produce more dander than younger ones, because their skin is drier. The epidermal turnover is more rapid in Dog breeds that are prone to the various forms of dry and oily seborrhoea. Instead of the normal 21day cycle, the epidermal turnover time of seborrhoeic Dogs is 3 to 4 days. Dog epithelia IgE antibody concentration has been reported to show a seasonal variation, although this might also be due to seasonal variation in testing routines (11).

Levels of Dog allergen in houses with Dogs may reach high levels, usually over 10,000 ng of Can f 1, the major Dog allergen, per gram of dust (12). Explained from another angle, exposure to Cat or Dog allergen airborne in homes with an animal can be up to 100 times higher than exposure to mite allergen (13-14). Levels in homes without Dogs are generally 10 to 100 times lower but can still be detected. Occasionally, high Dog allergen levels can be found in households without a pet, if the former occupants of the same household have had a pet, or if Dogs often visit the building (14). Similar findings have been reported from other studies. High levels of Can f 1 (> 10,000 ng) were found in dust in all but 1 of 50 homes with Dogs and in 8 of 50 homes without Dogs (28).

Airborne Can f 1 levels varied greatly among the homes with Dogs (range: 0.3 to 99 ng/m³). Approximately 50% of Can f 1 was shown to be carried on large particles, > 10 μ m in diameter, and similarly to Cat allergen, approximately 20% was carried on particles < 4.7 μ m in diameter. Airborne Can f 1 carried on small particles may remain airborne for long periods of time, unlike Dust mite allergen, which is carried on larger particles that fall rapidly to the ground after a disturbance (28).

In houses with Dog allergen, the highest concentration appears to occur on the livingroom floor, on furniture, and in bedrooms. Dog allergens are, however, also prevalent on walls, smooth floors, and finished furniture in homes with and without pets (15).

Washing the Dog achieves a modest reduction in the level of airborne Can f 1 in homes with a Dog. The Dog needs to be washed at least twice a week to maintain the reduction in recoverable Can f 1 from its hair (16).

Importantly, synthetic pillows have been reported to contain significantly more pet allergens than feather pillows, supporting the view that tightly woven encasements surrounding feather pillows act as a barrier against pet allergens (17).

Dog allergens can be detected not only in houses where Dogs are kept as pets, but also in other places such as schools and day-care centres where Dogs are not present on a regular basis (18-23). The allergens appear to be transported on clothes and may be present in relatively high concentrations (24). Furnishings and textiles in the classroom act as significant reservoirs of irritants and allergens and have an impact on the indoor air quality at school (25).

Concentrations of Can f 1 may be greater in dust collected in schools than in homes (26). In Sweden schools have been reported to be a major site of exposure to Cat and Dog allergens (27). In Swedish day-care centres, Dog allergen were shown to be present but usually at lower levels than in schools. In schools, the allergen levels ranged from 1,700 ng to 28,200 ng (Can f 1)/g dust on the chairs and 56 to 506 ng/g on floors (19). Lower levels in day-care centres were explained by the fact that their floors were cleaned daily by wet sweeping (22).

Furthermore, it has been shown that upholstered seats in public places constitute a reservoir for the accumulation of Dog allergen, and a source of exposure to Can f 1 inside public buildings and on public transport (29). In a study of Helsinki City Transport buses, trams, and underground trains, which carry 687,000 passengers on a weekday, the median concentration of Can f 1 in dust from seats and floors in the vehicles was determined to be 2,400 ng per g of dust (range 20 to 8,500 ng/g). Although these levels are not very high, they are high enough to cause symptoms in sensitive persons (30).

Even most automobile seats have been shown to have levels of Dog and Cat allergen that were well above the threshold levels considered to be risk factors for both sensitisation and symptoms, regardless of the presence of a pet in the home. The presence of live and dead mites and Mite, Cat, and Dog allergens in automobiles and on clothing suggests that both are means of dispersal of Mites and of Mite and pet allergens (31).

Upholstered chairs in hospitals constitute a significant reservoir of Cat and Dog allergen, and inhalation of airborne allergen by patients attending their hospital appointments may exacerbate asthma in those highly allergic to Cats or Dogs (32).

In facilities used for Dog shows, the Dog allergen prevalence may be exceptionally high, up to 2,100,000 ng Can f 1/g dust (33).

Unexpected exposure

Dog allergen particles can spread huge distances by many means, so that they can be found in practically any environment not specially sterilised. (See under Environment for examples.)

Allergens

As noted above, Dog allergens have long been detected in serum, dander, pelt, hair and saliva, with the latter 4 being the most important, whereas Dog urine and faeces seem to be less allergenic (1-3,38,44). (Extracts prepared from Dog liver, serum, salivary glands, and keratinocytes contain fewer IgE binding components (4)). Although allergen differences occur according to the origin of the allergen (e.g., dander, epithelium or saliva), no breedspecific allergens occur (5-6,34,38-39). (This is contrary to much earlier studies (7-8)). But the concentration of allergens varies within breeds and among them (44).

Animal dander is not the hair or fur of the animal, but the particles, comprising mainly old skin scales, that are constantly shed. However, the term "dander" is not well defined (34). Dog hair and dander are complex mixtures of components (35). However, clean pure hair does not contain allergens. Early studies reported that 2 allergens were present in dander: a Dogspecific one and another cross-reacting with Cat epithelium. Both were present in the dander of Dachshund, Airedale terrier, Poodle and Boxer (36). Since these early studies, over 24 antigens have been isolated from Dog dander extract, at least 7 of which are of allergenic importance. Some of these allergens have been identified as serum components such as albumin and gammaglobulin (37-39). The most important and specific allergen is the lipocalin Can f1.

Table 1. Dog allergens					
Name	MW (kDa)	Main source	Function		
Can f1	25	Dander, saliva	Lipocalin		
Can f2	27	Dander, saliva	Lipocalin		
Can f3	69	Serum, dander, epithelia, saliva, salivary gland, liver	Albumin		
Can f4	18	Dander			

In Dog hair/dander extracts, 2 IgEantibody-binding components with molecular masses of 23 kDa and 19 kDa have been isolated. These were designated Can d 1 and Can d 2, respectively, and were found in sera of approximately 74% of Dogallergic individuals (39). These have since been renamed Can f 1 and Can f 2.

In another study, sera from 96% of patients with Dog allergy demonstrated specific IgE to these allergens. Can f 1 was preferentially detected in the (dander) extract and saliva, but not in skin, salivary gland, serum and liver extracts. Can f 2 was strongly expressed in skin, but not in dander, serum and liver (40-41).

Can f 1 is a major allergen and the most important Dog allergen, and Dog dander and saliva have a high content of it (38,42-44). The protein is produced in the canine Von Ebner's glands, which are small lingual salivary glands opening in the lingual epithelium. This protein actually ranges from 21 kDa to 25 kDa and is found in dander and saliva, but not in serum, and is a lipocalin (45-46). Dog urine and faeces contain very little of this allergen (44,47). More than 90% of Dog-allergic patients have been shown to have specific IgE directed to this allergen (42,44,48-49). Can f 1 was originally named Ag13 and found to be identical to Ag8 (44). It was also, as mentioned above, previously known as Can d 1. Can f 1 has demonstrated greater heat resistance than Mite allergens after 60 min at 140 °C (50). The protein is also relatively stable in house dust (49).

Can f 2, previously known as Can d 2, a protein with a molecular weight of 19 kDa (39) or 27 kDa (47), is found in dander and saliva (39,47). It is a lipocalin and has homology with Mouse urinary protein (MUP) (44,48) (51). Human IgE binding studies have confirmed the relevance of this allergen. It was found to react with IgE antibodies of 66% of Dog-allergic patients, and to bind 23% of the IgE antibodies directed against Dog dander extract, confirming its role as a minor allergen (44).

Can f 3, Dog serum albumin, a 69 kDa protein, is found in dander, hair, epithelia, saliva, and serum (52-53). It has also been

found in salivary glands (parotid and submandibular) and liver (39). In one study, up to 90% of Dog-specific IgE antibodies were directed to Dog albumin in sensitised patients (4). This is in contrast with a study that reported that in 203 asthmatic children studied with regard to Dog serum albumin allergenicity, significant skin-specific IgE antibodies to Dog serum albumin were detected in only 9 of the 80 subjects who had significant skin-specific IgE to Dog dander and hair (54). Similarly, in 70 Dogallergic subjects, serum-specific IgE to Dog serum albumin was found in approximately 40% (39). Dog serum albumin has also been reported to be an abundant allergen in Dog epithelia extracts (55). In 49 subjects hypersensitive to Cats and/or Dogs, serum albumin elicited intracutaneous reactions in most, but gave positive nasal provocation and RAST results in only a few and was, therefore, reported to be of limited clinical importance (1). Other studies have reported this allergen to be a minor allergen (39) (56).

Can f 4 is an allergen found in Dog dander.

Two serum proteins, alpha-1-antitrypsin and IgG, have been identified as minor allergens (2).

A distinct 19 kDa protein allergen has also been described (57).

Potential cross-reactivity

An extensive cross-reactivity among the different breeds of Dog could be expected.

Frequently, clinical observation has noted that many patients allergic to Cats are also allergic to Dogs. Many studies suggest evidence for cross-reactivity between some Cat and Dog allergens: in an early RAST inhibition study, significant cross-reactivity was observed between Cat hair and Dog dander, but saliva and urine were shown to be more species-specific (58).

Among 109 patients with animal allergy, allergens of similar molecular weight were detected in sera from 68 patients with both Cat and Dog allergy. Common as well as species-specific IgE epitopes of the major Cat and Dog allergens could be demonstrated by

IgE inhibition studies. The authors concluded that shared IgE epitopes of the major Cat and Dog allergens may provide an explanation for the clinical observation that allergies to Cats and Dogs are frequently associated (59).

However, several studies report an actual common allergen or allergens as responsible for the cross-reactivity, and these allergens appear to be serum albumin and lipocalin.

In a study reporting that Dog danderspecific IgE antibodies were inhibited by Cat epithelium allergens, 2 allergens were detected – one closely related to the major Cat epithelium allergen, the other Dogspecific. Both were present in the dander of Dachshund, Airedale terrier, Poodle and Boxer (36). Other studies have concurred, and attributed the cross-reactivity to a 69 kDa protein common to both (60). This protein was probably what is recognised today as serum albumin.

Albumins occur at high concentrations in animal hair/dander extracts and represent important cross-reactive allergens for up to 35% of patients with animal allergy (4,58). Albumins are minor allergens, i.e., few patients react to them. But sera from patients who are sensitised against albumins often contain a high percentage of albuminspecific IgE. Cat and Dog albumins are minor cross-reacting allergens that share a high degree of homology and cause sensitisation in 14% - 23% and 35% of Catand Dog-allergic patients respectively, and this may help explain the Cat-Dog crossreactivity phenomenon (4,58). Significant sequence homologies of greater than 75% were found with albumins from different species: human, Pig, Cattle, Sheep, Mouse and Rat. The presence of common IgEreactive epitopes among the major Cat and Dog allergens explains why many patients with animal allergies react to Cat and Dog hair/dander extracts (58).

In IgE immunoblot inhibition studies and histamine release tests, it has been demonstrated that patients who react to Dog albumin exhibit IgE reactivity with purified albumins from Cat, Mouse, Chicken, and Rat. The proportion of Dog-specific IgE directed against Dog albumin was determined for patients allergic to Dog albumin, and it was found to range from 70% to 90%. The deduced amino acid sequence of this protein was compared with the Swiss-Prot library, and significant sequence homologies were found with albumins from different species (human: 82.6%, Pig: 81.8%, Cattle: 77.3%, Sheep: 78.8%, Mouse: 75.8%, and Rat: 76.2%) (4).

Individuals clinically allergic to Horse could be sensitised to Horse serum albumin. These anti-horse albumin antibodies may cross-react with Dog serum albumin as well as other serum albumins from different origins (9). In a study assessing the importance of albumin as a cross-reactive allergen in patients sensitised to Cat, Dog and Horse, 117 patients sensitised to Cat were tested for IgE reactivity using skinspecific IgE determination and RAST assays with Cat, Dog and Horse hair/dander extracts and their purified albumin extracts. Twenty-two percent of patients exhibited specific IgE to Cat albumin; 41% of patients sensitised to Cat were also sensitised to Dog and Horse. Of these patients, 21% had IgE antibodies to 3 albumins and 17% to 2. IgE binding to Horse extract was inhibited to 30% by its homologous albumin, and IgE binding to Cat and Dog extracts almost to 15% by their respective albumins. The study concluded that albumins from these 3 animals share some epitopes that account for the cross-reactivity observed in around a third of patients sensitised to Cat, Dog and Horse. However, more than 50% of specific IgE that cross-reacted among these 3 animals was directed to allergens other than albumin (61). Other studies have investigated Horse-Dog cross-reactivity and concluded that there were extensive but variable degrees of crossreactivity between serum albumins, including human albumin (53).

Cross-reactivity has been described between Pork and Cat epithelia and attributed to serum albumin. In that report, the authors described anaphylaxis in an individual following consumption of wild boar meat (62).

Major respiratory allergens of Dogs, Mice, Rats, Horses and Cows belong to the

lipocalin group of proteins. The sequence identity of lipocalins is often less than 20%, but they contain between 1 and 3 structurally conserved regions, and their 3dimensional structures are similar (46). The Cat allergen cystatin (Fel d 3), a cysteine protease inhibitor, was shown to have the cysteine protease inhibitor motif also partially conserved in the Dog allergen sequences Can f 1 and Can f 2, which are lipocalins (51).

Allergens with the same molecular weight have been determined in Mink, Blue fox, Silver fox, raccoon, Dog, and fitchew fur and urine extracts. Common IgE-binding epitopes, probably common allergens (especially the 62-67 kDa bands), have been suggested. IgE binding to the allergenic bands of these fur animal extracts was also observed in immunoblotting studies when Dog- and Cat-specific IgE-positive sera were used, and further inhibition studies of Dogpositive sera with fur animal extracts and fur-positive sera with Dog extract confirmed cross-reactivity of these IgE antibodies (63).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

The association between pet exposure and asthma or sensitisation can be very confusing, and many conflicting findings have been published (64). Recent studies can be used to support just about any viewpoint on the issue: Dog exposure decreases (65-66), or has no effect (67) on the risk of sensitisation; asthma is negatively (67) or positively (68) associated with Dog exposure. Furthermore, Dog (and Cat) allergen is ubiquitous in human society and may affect sensitisation in predisposed individuals regardless of pet ownership (64,69-70). It has been suggested that exposure before birth or in early childhood is crucial in the process of sensitisation (71). In studies where early-life exposure to pets, or lifestyle factors associated with exposure to pets, were reported to reduce the risk of developing atopy-related diseases in early childhood, these findings may also be explained by selection for keeping pets (72). Nevertheless, Dog dander clearly represents an important source of inhalant allergens, and many studies report that Dog may frequently induce symptoms in sensitised individuals (40-41,49,60). Symptoms include asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis. Thirty to 35% of atopic individuals display type I allergic symptoms on exposure to Cat and/or Dog allergens (4,73-74).

Fifteen percent of Finnish adolescents were reported to be sensitised to Dogs (75). In Los Alamos, New Mexico, 67% of asthmatic children were sensitised to Dog allergens (76). Specific IgE to Dog has been reportedly detected in up to 67% of asthmatic children (76), and among children with asthma, 40% were shown to have skin-specific IgE to Dog dander even though they had no direct contact with Dogs (75).

Importantly, symptoms can be caused by indirect exposure to Dog dander in schools, at work, and on public transport. Dog allergen can be transferred on a pet owner's clothes and cause symptoms in an allergic person sitting nearby. In sensitised subjects, repeated exposure to allergens also contributes to subclinical inflammation, hyperresponsiveness, and general worsening of asthma (77-78).

Also importantly, Dog-allergic people may also be allergic to Cat: Cat allergen-specific serum IgE antibodies were detected in 71% of a group of 38 Dog dander-sensitive patients (36). Asthmatics sensitised to Cat and Dog have been shown to often also be sensitised to many other allergens (79).

Dermatitis following exposure to Dog allergens has been reported (80).

Occupational allergy to Dog allergens may also occur in animal workers, animal pelt workers, and laboratory workers. In a large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers, symptoms were reported in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to monkeys (81).

Interestingly, in Swedish farming households, in spite of the abundance of Can f 1, farmers were sensitised to Dogs only to a low degree (82).

Hand dermatitis in veterinarians has been reported (83).

Contamination of commercially available Dog dander skin-specific IgE preparations with the major allergens (Der p 1 and Der p 2) of the House Dust mite (*D. pteronyssinus*) has occurred, resulting in false-positive responses (84), showing the importance of using pure allergen source materials.

The effect of Dog avoidance on Dog dander-specific IgE antibody levels was studied from sera obtained from 24 subjects. Steadily high and even rising levels were observed in cases when a strict avoidance of

- Brehm K, Plock K, Doepp M, Baier H. Antigenicity of serum albumin in allergy against cat or dog epithelium (significance of the radioallergosorbens test in the diagnosis of allergies). [German] Dtsch Med Wochenschr. 1975 Mar 7;100(10):472-6
- Blands J, Løwenstein H, Weeke B. Characterization of extract of dog hair and dandruff from six different dog breeds by quantitative immunoelectrophoresis. Identification of allergens by crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis (CRIE). Acta Allergologica 1977;32:147-69
- Uhlin T, Reuterby J, Einarsson R. Antigenic/ allergenic composition of poodle/alsation dandruff extract. Allergy 1984;39:125-33
- Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P *et al.* Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a crossreactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27
- Martinez A, Martinez J, Sanz ML, Bartolome B, Palacios R. Dander is the best epithelial source for dog allergenic extract preparations. Allergy 1994;49(8):664-7
- Wüthrich B, Guerin B, Hewitt BE. Cross allergenicity between extracts of hair from different dog breeds and cat fur. Clin Allergy 1985;15(2):87-93
- Moore BS, Hyde JS. Breed-specific dog hypersensitivity in humans. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1980;66(3):198-203
- Lindgren S, Belin L, Dreborg S, Einarsson R, Påhlman I. Breed-specific dog-dandruff allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988;82(2):196-204.

- Goubran Botros H, Gregoire C, Rabillon J, David B, Dandeu JP. Cross-antigenicity of horse serum albumin with dog and cat albumins: study of three short peptides with significant inhibitory activity towards specific human IgE and IgG antibodies. Immunology 1996;88(3):340-7
- Luczynska CM, Li Y. Chapman MD, Platts-Mills TA. Airborne concentrations and particle size distribution of allergen derived from domestic cats (*Felis domeslicus*). Measurements using cascade impactor, liquid impinger, and a two-site monoclonal antibody assay for Fel d I. Am Rev Respir Dis 1990;141(2):361-7
- Salkie ML, Weimer N. The influence of season and of sex on the serum level of total IgE and on the distribution of allergenspecific IgE. Clin Biochem 1984;17(6):362-6
- Munir AKM. Exposure to indoor allergens and relation to sensitization and asthma in children. Lindköping University Medical Dissertation no. 412, 1994
- Custis NJ, Woodfolk JA, Vaughan JW, Platts-Mills TA. Quantitative measurement of airborne allergens from dust mites, dogs, and cats using an ion-charging device. Clin Exp Allergy 2003;33(7):986-91
- Custovic A, Simpson B, Simpson A, Hallam C, Craven M, Woodcock A. Relationship between mile. cat, and dog allergens in reservoir dust and ambient air. Allergy 1999:55:612-616.
- Arlian LG, Neal JS, Morgan MS, Rapp CM, Clobes AL. Distribution and removal of cat, dog and mite allergens on smooth surfaces in homes with and without pets. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2001;87(4):296-302
- Hodson T, Custovic A, Simpson A, Chapman M, Woodcock A, Green R. Washing the dog reduces dog allergen levels, but the dog needs to be washed twice a week. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(4):581-5
- Custovic A, Hallam C, Woodcock H, Simpson B, Houghton N, Simpson A, Woodcock A. Synthetic pillows contain higher levels of cat and dog allergen than feather pillows. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2000;11(2):71-3
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Irie T, Miyazawa H, Watanabe M, Yasueda H *et al*. Airborne cat (Fel d 1), dog (Can f 1), and mite (Der I and Der II) allergen levels in the homes of Japan. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;92(6):797-802
- 19. Munir AK-M, Einarsson R, Schou C, Dreborg SKG. Allergens in school dust. The amount of the major cat (Fel d 1) and dog (Can f 1) allergens in dust from Swedish schools is high enough to probably cause perennial symptoms in most children with asthma who are sensitized to cat and dog. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993:91:1067-1074

20. Berge M, Munir AK, Dreborg S. Concentrations of cat (Fel d 1), dog (Can f 1) and mite (Der f 1 and Der p 1) allergens in the clothing and school environment of Swedish schoolchildren with and without pets at home.

Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1998;9(1):25-30

- Munir AK, Einarsson R, Dreborg SK. Mite (Der p 1, Der f 1), cat (Fel d 1) and dog (Can f 1) allergens in dust from Swedish daycare centres. Clin Exp Allergy 1995;25(2):119-26
- 22. Wickman M, Egmar A, Emenius G, Almqvist C, Berglind N, Larsson P, Van Hage-Hamsten M. Fel d 1 and Can f 1 in settled dust and airborne Fel d 1 in allergen avoidance daycare centres for atopic children in relation to number of pet-owners, ventilation and general cleaning. Clin Exp Allergy 1999 May;29(5):626-32
- de Andrade AD, Charpin D, Birnbaum J, Lanteaume A, Chapman M, Vervloet D. Indoor allergen levels in day nurseries. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;95(6):1158-63
- Dybendal T, Vik H, Elsayed S. Dust from carpeted and smooth floors. II. Antigenic and allergenic content of dust vacuumed from carpeted and smooth floors in schools under routine cleaning schedules. Allergy 1989;44:401-11
- Smedje G, Norback D. Irritants and allergens at school in relation to furnishings and cleaning. Indoor Air 2001;11(2):127-33
- Lönnkvist K, Hallden G, Dahlen SE, Enander I, van Hage-Hamsten M, Kumlin M, Hedlin G. Markers of inflammation and bronchial reactivity in children with asthma, exposed to animal dander in school dust. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1999;10(1):45-52
- Perzanowski MS, Ronmark E, Nold B, Lundbäck B, Platts-Mills TA. Relevance of allergens from cats and dogs to asthma in the northernmost province of Sweden: schools as a major site of exposure. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(6):1018-24
- 28. Custovic A, Green R, Fletcher A, Smith A, Pickering CA, Chapman MD, Woodcock A. Aerodynamic properties of the major dog allergen Can f 1: distribution in homes, concentration, and particle size of allergen in the air. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155(1):94-8
- 29. Custovic A, Green R, Taggart SC, Smith A, Pickering CA, Chapman MD, Woodcock A. Domestic allergens in public places. II: Dog (Can f 1) and cockroach (Bla g 2) allergens in dust and mite, cat, dog and cockroach allergens in the air in public buildings. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26(11):1246-52
- Partti-Pellinen K, Marttila O, Makinen-Kiljunen S, Haahtela T. Occurrence of dog, cat, and mite allergens in public transport vehicles. Allergy 2000;55(1):65-8

- 31. Neal JS, Arlian LG, Morgan MS. Relationship among house-dust mites, Der 1, Fel d 1, and Can f 1 on clothing and automobile seats with respect to densities in houses. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2002;88(4):410-5
- 32. Custovic A, Fletcher A, Pickering CA, Francis HC, Green R, Smith A, Chapman M, Woodcock A. Domestic allergens in public places III: house dust mite, cat, dog and cockroach allergens in British hospitals. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(1):53-9
- Mussalo-Rauhamaa H, Reijula K, Malmberg M, Makinen-Kiljunen S, Lapinlampi T. Dog allergen in indoor air and dust during dog shows. Allergy 2001;56(9):878-82
- Erwin EA, Woodfolk JA, Custis N, Platts-Mills TA. Animal danders. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2003; 23(3): 469-81
- Calam DH, Davidson J, Ford AW. Studies on allergens of mammalian origin. J Chromatogr 1984;288(1):137-45
- Brandt R, Yman L. Dog dander allergens. Specificity studies based on the radioallergosorbent technique. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1980;61(4):361-70
- Löwenstein H. Allergene von Katze, Hund, Rind und Pferd. Allergologie 1981;4:265-269
- Ford AW, Alterman L, Kemeny DM. The allergens of dog. I. Identification using crossed radio-immunoelectrophoresis. Clin Exp Allergy 1989;19:183-90
- Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Anrather J, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H. Characterisation of dog allergens by means of immunoblotting. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1993;100(1):60-7
- Spitzauer S, Rumpold H, Ebner C, Schweiger C, Valenta R, Gabl F et al. Allergen profiles of dog hair and dander, body fluids and tissues as defined by immunoblotting. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1991;94(1-4):346-8
- Phipatanakul W. Animal allergens and their control. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2001;1(5):461-5
- Larson JN, Ford A, Gjesing B, Levy D, Petrunov B, Silvestri L. The collaborative study of the international standard of dog, *Canis Domesticus*, hair/dander extract. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988;82:318-325
- Schou C, Hansen GN, Lintner T, Løwenstein H. Assay for the major dog allergen Can f 1. Investigation of house dust samples and commercial dog extracts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991;88:847.53
- 44. de Groot, H., K.G.H. Goei, P. van Swieten, and R.C. Aalberse. Affinity purification of a major and a minor allergen from dog extract: Serologic activity of affiity-purified Can f 1 and Can f I-depleted extract. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991;87:1056-1065

- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Virtanen T. Zeller Important animal allergens are lipocalin proteins: why are they allergenic? Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1999;120:247-58
- Ford AW, Kemeny DM. The allergens of dog. II. Identification and partial purification of a major dander allergen. Clin Exp Allergy 1992;22(8):793-803
- 48. Konieczny A, Morgenstern JP, Bizinkauskas CB, Lilley CH et al. The major dog allergens, Can f 1 and Can f 2, are salivary lipocalin proteins: cloning and immunological characterization of the recombinant forms. Immunology 1997;92(4):577-86
- 49. Schou C, Svendsen VG, Lowenstein H. Purification and characterization of the major dog allergen, Can f 1. Clin Exp Allergy 1991;21:321-328
- Custovic A, Simpson B, Simpson A, Hallam C, Craven M, Woodcock A. Relationship between mite, cat, and dog allergens in reservoir dust and ambient air. Allergy 1999;54(6):612-6
- Ichikawa K, Vailes LD, Pomes A, Chapman MD. Molecular cloning, expression and modelling of cat allergen, cystatin (Fel d 3), a cysteine protease inhibitor. Clin Exp Allergy 2001;31(8):1279-1286
- 52. Dandeu J. P., Rabillon J., Divanovic A., Carmi-Leroy A., David B. Hydrophobic
- interaction chromatography for isolation and purification of Equ c 1, the horse major allergen. J Chromatogr 1993;621(1):23-31
- Pandjaitan B, Swoboda I, Brandejsky-Pichler F, Rumpold H, Valenta R et al. Escherichia coli expression and purification of recombinant dog albumin, a cross-reactive animal allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;105(2 Pt 1):279-85
- 54. Vanto T, Viander M, Schwartz B. Dog serum albumin as an allergen. IgE, IgG and lymphocyte responses in dog dander-sensitive asthmatic children. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1982;69(4):311-5
- 55. Yman L, Brandt R, Ponterius G. Serum albumin – an important allergen in dog epithelia extracts. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1973;44(3):358-68
- McLean AC, Glovsky MM, Hoffman DR, Ghekiere LM. Identification of allergens in dog dander extract. I. Clinical and immunological aspects of allergenicity activity. Ann Allergy 1980;45(4):199-204
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- Viander M, Valovirta E, Vanto T, Koivikko A. Cross-reactivity of cat and dog allergen extracts. RAST inhibition studies with special reference to the allergenic activity in saliva and urine. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1983;71(3):252-60

- Spitzauer S, Pandjaitan B, Muhl S, Ebner C, Kraft D, Valenta R, Rumpold H. Major cat and dog allergens share IgE epitopes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99(1 Pt 1):100-6
- Boutin Y, Hebert H, Vrancken ER, Mourad W. Allergenicity and cross reactivity of cat and dog allergenic extracts. Clin Allergy 1988;18(3):287-93
- 61. Cabanas R, Lopez-Serrano MC, Carreira J, Ventas P, Polo F, Caballero MT *et al.* Importance of albumin in cross-reactivity among cat, dog and horse allergens. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2000;10(2):71-7
- 62. Drouet M, Sabbah A, Le Sellin J, Bonneau JC, Gay G, Dubois-Gosnet C. Fatal anaphylaxis after eating wild boar meat in a patient with pork-cat syndrome. [French] Allerg Immunol (Paris). 2001 Apr;33(4):163-5
- 63. Savolainen J, Uitti J, Halmepuro L, Nordman H. IgE response to fur animal allergens and domestic animal allergens in fur farmers and fur garment workers. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(5):501-9
- 64. Almqvist C, van Hage-Hamsten M. Cat and dog allergens – can intervention studies solve their inscrutable riddle? Clin Exp Allergy 2003;33(9):1167-70
- 65. Ownby DR, Johnson CC, Peterson EL. Exposure to dogs and cats in the first year of life and risk of allergic sensitization at 6 to 7 years of age. JAMA 2002; 288:963-72
- 66. Almqvist C, Egmar AC, Hedlin G, Lundqvist M, Nordvall SL, Pershagen G, Svartengren M, van Hage-Hamsten M, Wickman M. Direct and indirect exposure to pets - risk of sensitization and asthma at 4 years in a birth cohort. Clin Exp Allergy. 2003;33(9):1190-7
- Remes ST, Castro-Rodriguez JA, Holberg CJ, Martinez FD, Wright AL. Dog exposure in infancy decreases the subsequent risk of frequent wheeze but not of atopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;108:509-15
- McConnell R, Berhane K, Gilliland F et al. Indoor risk factors for asthma in a prospective study of adolescents. Epidemiology 2002;13:288-95
- 69. Almqvist C, Larsson PH, Egmar AC. Hedren M, Malmberg P, Wickman M. School as a risk environment for children allergic to cats and a site for transfer of cat allergen to homes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:1012-7.
- Ritz BR, Hoelscher B, Frye C, Meyer I, Hemrich J. Allergic sensitization owing to 'second-hand' cat exposure in schools. Allergy 2002; 57:357-61
- Holt PG, Macaubas C, Prescott SL, Sly PD. Primary sensitization to inhalant allergens. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2000;162(3 Pt 2):S91-4
- Nafstad P, Magnus P, Gaarder PI, Jaakkola JJ. Exposure to pets and atopy-related diseases in the first 4 years of life. Allergy 2001;56(4):307-12

- Haahtela T, Jaakonmaki I. Relationship of allergenspecific IgE antibodies, skin prick tests and allergic disorders in unselected adolescents. Allergy 1981;36:251-6
- 74. Schou C, Defining allergens of mammalian origin. Clin Exp Allergy 1993,23:7-14
- 75. Vanto T, Koivikko A. Dog hypersensitivity in asthmatic children. A clinical study with special reference to the relationship between the exposure to dogs and the occurrence of hypersensitivity symptoms. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1983 Jul;72(4):571-5
- 76. Ingram JM, Sporik R, Rose G. Honsinger R, Chapman MD, Platts-Mills TAE, Quantitative assessment of exposure to dog (Can f 1) and cat (Fel d 1) allergens: relation to sensitization and asthma among children living in Los Alamos, New Mexico. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995:96:449-56
- Ihre E, Zetterström O. Increase in nonspecific bronchial responsiveness after repeated inhalation of low doses of allergen. Clin Exp Allergy 1993:23:298-305
- Palmqvist M, Pettersson K. Sjöstrand M. Andersson B, Löwhagen O, Lötvall J. Mild experimental exacerbation of asthma induced by individualised low-dose repeated allergen exposure. A double-blind evaluation. Respir Med 1998:92:1223-1230
- Maeda Y, Akiyama K, Hayakawa T, Hasegawa M, Kaneko F, Shida T, Miyamoto T. A study of characteristics in adult asthmatics who are sensitized by cats and dogs allergens. [Japanese] Arerugi 1993;42(1):9-17
- Song M. Atopic dermatitis and domestic animals. [French] Rev Med Brux 2000;21(4):A251-4
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Parvaneh S, Kronqvist M, Johansson E, van Hage-Hamsten M. Exposure to an abundance of cat (Fel d 1) and dog (Can f 1) allergens in Swedish farming households. Allergy 1999;54(3):229-34
- Susitaival P, Kirk J, Schenker MB. Selfreported hand dermatitis in California veterinarians. Am J Contact Dermat. 2001;12(2):103-8
- 84. van der Veen MJ, Mulder M, Witteman AM, van Ree R, Aalberse RC, Jansen HM, van der Zee JS. False-positive skin prick test responses to commercially available dog dander extracts caused by contamination with house dust mite (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*) allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98(6 Pt 1):1028-34
- Vanto T. Immediate sensitivity of asthmatic children to dog allergens. [German] Klin Padiatr 1985;197(4):363-5
e86 Duck feathers

Anas platyrhynea

Family: Anatidae Common names: Source material:

Duck: also see below

Feathers

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Duck is the common name for wild and domestic waterfowl of the family Anatidae. which also includes Geese and Swans. It is the largest and most diverse group of waterfowl, and is hunted and bred for its meat, eggs, and feathers. Strictly speaking, Duck refers to the female and drake to the male. The ancestor of all domestic breeds (except the Muscovy of South American origin) is the Mallard, Anas boscas, which is found in Europe, Asia, and North America.

Environment

Ducks' environment usually depends on which of the 3 main groups they belong to: the surface-feeding Ducks such as the Mallard, Wood duck, Black duck, and Teal frequent ponds, marshes, and other quiet waters; the diving Ducks such as the Canvasback, Scaup, Scoter, Eider, and Red head are found on bays, rivers, and lakes; and the fish-eating Ducks, the Mergansers, with slender, serrated bills, also prefer open water. Ducks make long migratory flights. In northern countries a portion of the down with which the Eider ducks line their nests is systematically collected and used to stuff pillows and duvets. Large numbers of Ducks are raised in captivity and semi-captivity, especially in East Asia.

Allergens

No allergens have yet been characterized.



Potential cross-reactivity

Cross-reactivity between Chicken and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Chicken-allergic patients, significant IgE titers to Parrot, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (1-2).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to Duck feathers, epithelial cells or droppings. The allergic manifestations may present as extrinsic allergic alveolitis (3).

Of 269 adult patients with suspected skin and respiratory allergies tested for feathers with skin-specific IgE tests. 9% of the whole group and 14% of those positive to inhalant allergens were positive to any feather allergen. Two reacted to Duck feathers, 12 to goose and 15 to chicken feathers. Symptoms were reported by 58% of patients who were skin-specific IgE positive to feather and 55% by other skin-specific IgE positive patients. Positive RAST specific IgE test was surprisingly very low (12).

e86 Duck feathers

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, and feathers. Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their cages, or exposure to the organic dust drifting from where the birds reside.

Exposure to avian antigens results in the development of immunoglobulin antibodies including IgE (4), IgM (5), IgA and various IgG subclasses (6-8). The development of specific antibodies does not necessarily indicate disease. Forty-two workers from a poultry abattoir were examined for serum antibodies to Duck antigens and compared with healthy blood donors. The levels of IgG and IgA antibodies to Duck serum were significantly higher in poultry workers. In workers employed for less than 1 year the antibody levels were lower than in those who had been employed for a longer period of time. The IgA antibody level to a highmolecular-weight Aspergillus antigen was higher in poultry workers than blood donors, whereas the level of other Aspergillus antibodies were similar in the 2 groups. No cases of allergic alveolitis were found (9).

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (10).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (11).

Clinical allergy to commercial feather products is less common than usually thought, as a result of the removal of roughdry dust, washing and drying at 125 °C. The allergens derived from unrefined feathers include bird serum proteins, bird droppings, and feather Mites (12).

Other reactions

Polyester-filled pillows contain significantly more total weight of Der p 1 Mite allergen (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*) than feather-filled pillows (13).

- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Ann Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Plessner MM. Une maladie des trieurs de plumes: la fieve de canard. Arch Mal Prof 1960;21:67
- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000;14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- Andersen P, Schonheyder H. Antibodies to hen and duck antigens in poultry workers. Clin Allergy 1984;14(5):421-8
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Kilpiö K, Mäkinen-Kiljunen S, Haahtela T, Hannuksela M. Allergy to feathers. Allergy 1998;53(2):159-164
- Kemp TJ, Siebers RW, Fishwick D, O'Grady GB, Fitzharris P, Crane J. House dust mite allergen in pillows. BMJ 1996;313:916

Re217 Ferret epithelium

Mustela putorius

Family:
Common
names:

Mustelidae Ferret, Household

ferret, Polecat

Source material: Epith

Epithelium

The word Ferret is generally applied to the domesticated variety (*Mustela putorius furo*) of the Polecat.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens may be major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Common in the Old World, Ferrets have been used for centuries to hunt Rats, Mice, and Rabbits. They are ferocious, and may attack animals much larger than themselves. Domestic Ferrets are found in many colours, including albino, brown, and black. They are Weasel-shaped, and, like all mustelids, have well-developed anal scent glands. Polecats help to control rodent populations in the wild. They have also been hunted for their fur, which is considered valuable, though not as valuable as that of other mustelids such as Mink or Ermine.

Environment

Polecats prefer to live along bodies of fresh water, in wetlands, on the edge of forests, or in grasslands with islands of scrub trees. Ferrets, though domesticated, are generally kept outdoors because their odour may be very strong.

Allergens

Specific serum IgE from a patient with Ferret allergy was shown to bind to 4 protein bands (103, 81, 28.8 and 14.8 kDa) in the male and female urine but none in the hair. IgG-depleted serum bound to 2 additional bands (213 and 41.2 kDa) in the urine and to 2 bands (81 and 10.1 kDa) in the hair (1). No allergens have been characterized yet.



Potential cross-reactivity

In a report on Ferret allergy, the authors note that in a Mink-allergic subject, specific IgG to Ferret interfered with the specific IgE measurement; it is hypothesized that the Mink-allergic subject's serum contained similar competing antibodies (1). Mink is a mammal of the same family as Ferret.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis, allergic conjunctivitis and contact dermatitis (1).

A 41-year-old male experienced a nearfatal asthma episode after washing his Ferret. He had experienced pruritis and erythema of the skin where he had been in contact with the animal (1).

- 1. Codina R, Reichmuth D, Lockey RF, Jaen C. Ferret allergy.
 - J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;107(5):927

Re214 Finch feathers

Lonchura domestrica

Family:FringillidaeCommonnames:Finch; also see belowSourcematerial:Feathers

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of house dust.



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Finch is the common name for members of the Fringillidae, the largest family of birds (including over half the known species), found in most parts of the world except Australia. Finches are characterized by their stout, conical bills, used to crack open the seeds that form the bulk of their diet. They are valued as destroyers of weed seeds; many also eat harmful insects. Since seeds, unlike insects, are not influenced by weather, many Finches are vear-round residents in colder areas. The Finches, which are considered the most highly developed of the birds, are widely diversified. In addition to birds whose names, such as Goldfinch, designate them as Finches: Sparrows, Buntings, Towhees, Juncos, Grosbeaks, Cardinals, Bramblings, Siskins, Linnets, Redpols, Canaries and Crossbills are all Finches.

Environment

Finches' wild environments are extremely diverse; Canaries are known mostly through captivity.

Allergens

No allergens from this bird have yet been characterized.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to bird allergens (1). The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and, in the case of Pigeons, Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their lofts, or exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling or roof where birds nest.

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as Hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact

Re214 Finch feathers

with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulins, including IgE (1), IgM (2), IgA and various IgG subclasses (3-5). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (6) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (7).

Hypersensitivity pneumonitis due to Finch feathers has been reported. Serumprecipitating antibodies to Finch extract were positive, and the patient improved after removal of Finches (8).

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (9).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of Extrinsic Allergic Alveolitis (10).

References

- 1. Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000;14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C *et al.* Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease.

Occup Environ Med 2000;57(3):159-64

- Krasnick J, Patterson R, Roberts M. Multifactorial immunologic lung disease: a case report. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1995;75(3):239-41
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)

Re210 Fox epithelium

Vulpes vulpes

Family:	
Common	
names:	

Canidae Fox, Red fox, Common red fox, Tod

Source material: Epithelium

Most Fox species belong to the Red fox group, genus *Vulpes*.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens may be major contributors to allergy in occupational settings, e.g., furriers' premises.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Common red fox is found in Eurasia, North Africa, and North America. Foxes live almost throughout the world, but are particularly numerous in the Northern Hemisphere. They are known for their raids on poultry but are nonetheless very beneficial to farmers as destroyers of rodents. Despite extensive killing of Foxes – for sport, for their fur, and to reduce predation of livestock-most species continue to flourish, as they are semi-omnivorous, intelligent and adaptable. Foxes are also bred in captivity for their fur.

The Fox has a pointed face, short legs, long, thick fur, and a tail about one half to two thirds as long as the head and body, depending on the species. Colours vary widely, but as the name suggests, in Red foxes reddish colours predominate.

Environment

Foxes usually inhabit areas of forest mixed with open country, in many kinds of climate. Although most active at night, they are also seen by day.

Allergens

Urine extracts of Blue fox and Silver fox contained more protein bands than the fur extracts did. Allergenic bands of 62-67 kDa,



23-25 kDa and 18-19 kDa have been detected in fur and urine extracts, but the allergens have yet to be characterized (1).

Potential cross-reactivity

Allergens with the same molecular weight were found in Mink, Blue fox, Silver fox, Raccoon, Dog and fitchew fur and urine extracts. With cross-reacting sera the reciprocal RAST inhibition with all 5 animal extracts indicated common IgE-binding epitopes, probably common allergens (especially the 62-67 kDa bands). Urine and fur contain common allergens, since urine allergens strongly inhibited IgE binding to fur allergens. The IgE binding to allergenic bands of fur animal (Fox, Mink, raccoon) extracts was also observed in immunoblotting when Dog and Cat specific IgE containing sera were used. RAST inhibition of Dogpositive sera with fur animal extracts and fur-animal-positive sera with Dog extract confirmed the cross-reactivity of these IgE antibodies. No such inhibition was seen with Cow extract. These results suggest that fur animals have IgE binding epitopes or allergens - possibly albumin - in common with Cat and Dog; but not with Cow (1).

Re210 Fox epithelium

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result from occupational exposure to Fox epithelium, and may occur in hunters (1-2).

In 42 women occupationally exposed in the fur manufacturing industry, the highest prevalence of positive immediate skin reactions to antigen of animal hair was found for marten (10%), followed by Fox and Lamb (7%), Mink (5%), and Chinese lamb, domestic Fox, and Chinese calf (2%). Precipitating antibodies were demonstrated for Lamb (17%), astrakhan (14%), Mink, domestic Fox and skunk (12%), Chinese lamb (10%), and Chinese calf (7%). Increased total IgE was found in 9.5% of subjects. A high prevalence of acute symptoms during the work shift was found among furriers. In general, greater drops in respiratory parameters occurred in individuals with positive precipitins as opposed to those with positive skin tests. This study suggests that workers in the fur manufacturing industry develop acute and chronic respiratory problems often associated with specific indicators of atopy (2).

One hundred and eighty-eight fur farmers and fur garment workers and a control group were given a self-administered questionnaire, lung function tests, and skin-specific IgE tests to common environmental allergens, and epithelium and urine of fur animals. Symptoms of rhinitis and conjunctivitis were significantly more common among the fur garment workers than among the control group, but were not associated with atopy (3).

- Savolainen J, Uitti J, Halmepuro L, Nordman H. IgE response to fur animal allergens and domestic animal allergens in fur farmers and fur garment workers. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(5):501-9
- Zuskin E, Kanceljak B, Stilinovic L, Schachter EN, Kopjar B. Immunological status and respiratory findings in furriers. Am J Ind Med 1992;21(3):433-41
- Uitti J, Nordman H, Halmepuro L, Savolainen J. Respiratory symptoms, pulmonary function and allergy to fur animals among fur farmers and fur garment workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 1997;23(6):428-34

Meriones unguiculatus

Family: Common names: Cricetidae

Gerbil, Mongolian gerbil, Sand rat

Source material:

Epithelium

The Mongolian gerbil is the species commonly kept as a pet in homes and classrooms, but there are around 90 species of Gerbils and Jirds (Gerbils' relatives in the genus *Meriones*).

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components in house and animal laboratory dust.

Re209 Gerbil epithelium



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

This small rodent is found throughout the hot arid regions of Africa and Asia. Gerbils have large eyes, powerful, elongated hind limbs, and, unlike Rats and Mice, a fully furred tail, with a tuft at the end. Gerbils are 7.6 to 12.7 cm long, excluding the tail, and are sandy, gray, brown, or reddish in color with white underparts. In recent years Gerbils have become popular as house pets. They are odorless, easy to raise, and usually gentle. Females may bear as many as 15 litters in a lifetime; each litter may contain up to 10 young. Because of the threat of escaped Gerbils breeding prolifically and becoming serious crop pests in a congenial climate with large food sources, their keeping is banned in some parts of the US.

Environment

They live in dry grasslands and desert fringes, or are kept as pets or laboratory animals.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma and allergic rhinitis may occur from exposure to Gerbils (1-2) .

Nine cases of Gerbil allergy have been described in 2 publications, but the authors warn that allergy to Gerbil may be more common than is apparent. Typically, patients present with a persistent cough, intermittent dyspnoea and/or nocturnal wheezing. Symptoms of allergic conjunctivitis may be present. Rhinitis and sneezing may be prominent symptoms. Onset of allergic illness may occur some years after a Gerbil is acquired as a pet, but once the illness is developed, symptoms occur rapidly following contact with the animal (1).

Other reactions

Allergic alveolitis has been described (3).

Re209 Gerbil epithelium

- McGivern D, Longbottom J, Davies D. Allergy to gerbils. Clin Allergy 1985;15(2):163-5
- Rudolph R. Frequency of animal sensitization. Proceedings 11th International Congress of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. Macmillam Press, London. 1983;437-444
- Korenblat P, Slavin R, Marks E, Wenneker A. Gerbil keepers lung – a new form of hypersensitivity pneumonitis. Ann Allergy 1977;38:437

e80 Goat epithelium

Capra hircus	
Family:	Bovidae
Common	
names:	Goat
Source	
material:	Epithelium
See also:	Goat's milk Rf300
Direct or indire	ct contact with animal
allergens freque	ently causes sensitisation.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Goats are among the most common domesticated animals. They are managed for the production of milk, meat and wool, particularly in arid, semitropical or mountainous countries (where their numbers and extremely wide grazing range result in serious ecological problems). A large variety of Goat breeds serves different purposes. Breeds of Swiss origin are distinguished for milk, which is often used to make cheese; those of Asian origin are prized for their fibre; and meat Goats are associated especially with Spain, South America, Africa, and India. However, most breeds are highly adaptable and widely distributed. The Pygmy Goats of Western Africa are of increasing interest as laboratory and pet animals in the West. There are more than 460 million Goats worldwide, yielding more than 4.5 million tons of milk and 1.2 million tons of meat, besides mohair, cashmere, leather and dung; and more people consume milk and milk products from Goats worldwide than from any other animal. Goats rapidly revert to a feral state, and feral populations are found in areas as remote as the Galapagos Islands.

Environment

Goats are encountered in agricultural settings, in mainly mountainous regions of the wild, and through their consumer products (see under Geographical distribution).



Allergens

The epidermal allergens from this animal have not yet been characterized.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Exposure to epidermal allergens from Goat may result in asthma and allergic rhinitis (1-2).

Animal danders, e.g., Cow Dander, Guinea pig whole pelt, Dog dander, and Horse and Goat dander, play an important role in the aetiology of bronchial asthma in Indian subjects (1).

Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to SPT and RAST. It was shown that 8.3% were sensitised to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (2).

A postal questionnaire was sent to a random sample of 2,500 farmers throughout New Zealand. The results showed that that asthma prevalence was higher for Horse breeders/groomers (16.5%), Pig farmers (18.2%), poultry farmers (17.4%), and those working with Oats (17.4%). Hay fever was

e80 Goat epithelium

significantly higher in Deer and crop farmers, and farmers working with Horses and Goats; eczema was higher for Goat and Deer farmers (3).

Other reactions

See also: Goat's milk Rf300.

- Gupta S, Bidani RK, Jhamb S, Agarwal MK. Role of animal danders as inhalant allergens in bronchial asthma in India. J Asthma 1996;33(5):339-48
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7

e70 Goose feathers

Anser anser

Family:	Anatidae
Common	
names:	Goose, Toulouse goose,
	Grey goose, Greylag

Source material: Fe

Feathers

The genera *Anser* and *Branta* should both be considered. *Anser* includes many wild Geese with well-known domestic relatives. This group includes *Anser anser* (European) and species of Africa and Asia. *Branta* includes wild Geese like the Canada goose (*Branta Canadensis*) and the Brants (most notably *Branta bernicla*).

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of house dust.



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Goose is the common name for large wild and domesticated swimming birds related to the Duck and the Swan. (Strictly speaking, the term Goose is applied to the female and gander to the male.) Wild Geese tend to be seasonally migratory, moving in large flocks over great distances between continents.

Environment

Geese are found in agricultural settings, and in aquatic and semi-aquatic environments in the wild. Their meat is eaten roasted and broiled, and served in the form of pâté de foie gras, a paste made from the enlarged livers of force-fed Geese.

Unexpected exposure

Goose down is widely used for stuffing pillows, duvets and jackets.

Allergens

No allergens have yet been characterized.

Potential cross-reactivity

Cross-reactivity between Goose and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Chicken-allergic patients, significant IgE titers to Parrot, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (1-2).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to Duck feathers, epithelial cells or droppings. The allergic manifestations may present as Extrinsic allergic alveolitis (3).

Of 269 adult patients with suspected skin and respiratory allergies tested for feathers with skin-specific IgE tests, 9% of the whole group and 14% of those positive to inhalant allergens were positive to any feather allergen. Two reacted to Duck feathers, 12 to Goose and 15 to Chicken feathers. Symptoms were reported by 58% of feather

e70 Goose feathers

skin-specific IgE positive patients and 55% by other skin-specific IgE positive patients. Positive RAST specific IgE tests were surprisingly few, which may be explained by possible contamination of the skin extracts by Mite allergens (12).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, and feathers. Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their cages, or exposure to the organic dust drifting from where the birds reside.

Exposure to avian antigens results in the development of immunoglobulins including IgE (4), IgM (5), IgA and various IgG subclasses (6-8). The development of specific IgG and IgA antibodies to avian proteins does not necessarily indicate disease (9).

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (10).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of Extrinsic allergic alveolitis (11).

Clinical allergy to commercial feather products is less common than usually thought, as a result of the removal of rough dry dust, washing and drying at 125 °C. The allergens derived from unrefined feathers include bird serum proteins, bird droppings, and feather mites (12).

Other reactions

Polyester-filled pillows contain significantly more total weight of Der p 1 Mite allergen (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*) than feather-filled pillows (13).

- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Ann Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Plessner MM. Une maladie des trieurs de plumes: la fieve de canard. Arch Mal Prof 1960;21:67
- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000;14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- Andersen P, Schonheyder H. Antibodies to hen and duck antigens in poultry workers. Clin Allergy 1984;14(5):421-8
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Kilpiö K, Mäkinen-Kiljunen S, Haahtela T, Hannuksela M. Allergy to feathers. Allergy 1998;53(2):159-164
- Kemp TJ, Siebers RW, Fishwick D, O'Grady GB, Fitzharris P, Crane J. House dust mite allergen in pillows. BMJ 1996;313:916

e6 Guinea pig epithelium

Cavia porcellus

Family: Caviidae Common names: Source

Guinea pig, Cavy

material: Epithelium

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house dust and laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Guinea pig (unrelated to Pigs - the name may be due to this rodent's shrill squeal). native to South America. has been used as a domesticated food source for hundreds of years in Ecuador, Peru and Bolivia. Guinea pigs have also been invaluable in research laboratories, where they have been used in fields such as nutrition, pathology, genetics, and toxicology. The Guinea pig is also an excellent pet, much handled by children due to its gentleness and sociability. Cavia porcellus are not known in the wild (unless in a feral state), but domesticated Guinea pigs are now found worldwide in captivity.

There is a number of varieties, some with short, smooth hair and others with longer hair; and a great range of color combinations, including mixtures of black and white and many shades of brown. They have rounded bodies, large heads and blunt noses and reach a length of 15 to 25 cm and a weight of 450 to 900 g.

Environment

Guinea pigs as a food source can be kept in specialised huts or allowed to run free and scavenge. It is believed that feral colonies of Guinea pigs may be present in some South American countries, living in grasslands or forests. See also under Geographical distribution.



Allergens

Guinea pig allergens are derived from the urine, saliva, and pelts of Guinea pigs (1-2). In sera from patients with Guinea pig allergy, 3 major allergens have been identified with molecular weights of 8 kDa, 17 kDa and 20 kDa (2). Three have been characterized to date:

Cav p 1, a 20 kDa protein, found in hair, dander and urine (2-5).

Cav p 2, found in hair, dander and urine (3-5).

Serum albumin, which binds significant amounts of IgE (2).

Cav p 1 is a member of the lipocalin family (6).

Guinea pig dust, dander, fur, urine and saliva have been reported to be the more potent extracts; while whole pelt, faeces and serum were considerably less active. There appears to be no appreciable difference in the potency of the allergens between the sexes. The results of skin- and serum-specific IgE, and of inhibition studies, suggest crossallergenicity between the various extracts (2).

Guinea pig allergen particles may be as small as 0.8 micrometre in size, and would be capable of remaining airborne for long periods after disturbance. In one study urine was said to be the major airborne allergen as well as the allergen to which the greatest percentage of the subjects studied reacted (4).

e6 Guinea pig epithelium

Potential cross-reactivity

The cross-reactivity of Guinea pig urine, pelt, and albumin has been studied in RAST inhibition assays. Guinea pig pelt extract and urine produced dose-related inhibition in all 3 assays, i.e., were cross-reactive, but Guinea pig albumin was inhibitory in only the homologous assay (4).

Cav p 1, from Guinea pig hair, has been shown to have 57% identity with a subsequence of MUP (major urinary protein), a member of the lipocalin superfamily. Allergenic relationships among Guinea pig allergens derived from hair and urine of different animal species (Mouse, Rat, Cat) were studied by ELISA inhibition assays, and neither urine of Mouse, Rat and Cat nor hair extracts of Rat and Cat produced appreciable inhibitions in Guinea pig ELISA studies. Thus, although the physicochemical characteristics of Cav p 1 are very similar to those of other rodent allergens, and partial sequence identity with Mus m 1 occurs, Cav p 1 is an immunologically independent major allergen (6).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis occur frequently following sensitisation to Guinea pig allergens (7-11).

In a study of atopic children with contact with pets, 29% were sensitised to Guinea pig and 21% showed clinical signs in the animal's presence (12).

In New Delhi, India, the role of animal dander in the aetiology of bronchial asthma was studied. Intradermal and bronchial provocation tests with Guinea pig whole pelt extracts performed on 68 asthmatics resulted in significant positive skin reactions in 1.4% of the group (13).

In 20 laboratory workers who experienced allergic symptoms after exposure to laboratory animals, 9 manifested elevated IgE antibodies to Guinea pig urine, pelt, or albumin, according to a radioallergosorbent test. Skin-specific IgE showed documented allergenic activity with all 3 Guinea pig allergens. Guinea pig urine allergen activity was detected in all indoor air filter samples by RAST inhibition. The authors conclude that urine appears to be the major source of Guinea pig allergens, and that it is present in airborne particles small enough to penetrate the lower respiratory tract when inhaled (4).

Guinea pig-allergic individuals show high serum levels of specific IgE and have demonstrated an immediate positive reaction to nasal provocation testing with urinederived antigens (1).

Other reactions

Contact urticaria in laboratory technicians has been reported (14).

e6 Guinea pig epithelium

- Hanada T, Shima T, Ohyama M. Allergic rhinitis in laboratory workers caused by occupational exposure to guinea pigs: an immunological and clinical study. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 1995;252(5):304-7
- Walls AF, Newman Taylor AJ, Longbottom JL. Allergy to guinea pigs: I. Allergenic activities of extracts derived from the pelt, saliva, urine and other sources. Clin Allergy 1985;15(3):241-51
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- Swanson M, Agarwal M, Yunginger J, Reed C. Guinea pig derived allergens. Clinicoimmunologic studies. Characterization, airborne quantification and size distribution. Am Rev Respir Dis 1984;129:844-849
- Walls A, Taylor A, Longbottom J. Allergy to guinea pigs. II. Identification of specific allergens in guinea pig dust by crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis and investigation of possible origin. Clin Allergy 1985;15:535-546
- Fahlbusch B, Rudeschko O, Szilagyi U, Schlott B, Henzgen M *et al*. Purification and partial characterization of the major allergen, Cav p 1, from guinea pig *Cavia porcellus*. Allergy 2002;57(5):417-22
- Muljono IS, Voorhorst R. Atopy to dander from domestic animals. Allerg Immunol (Leipz) 1978;24(1):50-60
- Osuna H, Maeda Y, Mita H, Yasueda H, Kaneko F, Hayakawa T, Hasegawa M, Murakami E, Akiyama K. 18 cases of asthma induced by hamster or guinea-pig bred as pets. [Japanese] Arerugi 1997;46(10):1072-5
- Hook WA, Powers K, Siraganian RP. Skin tests and blood leukocyte histamine release of patients with allergies to laboratory animals.
 - J Allergy Clin Immunol 1984;73(4):457-65
- Bruchhausen D, Bruchhausen M. Guinea-pig and golden-hamster hair allergy. [German] Z Allgemeinmed 1975;51(34):1600-2
- Schultze-Werninghaus G, Gonsior E, Meier-Sydow J. Guinea-pig asthma. [German] Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1976;101(8):275-9
- Lelong M, Bras C, Thelliez P, Drain JP. Does the allergic child become sensitized to small domestic mammals (guinea pig, hamster, rabbit?). [French] Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1990;22(1):23-5
- Gupta S, Bidani RK, Jhamb S, Agarwal MK. Role of animal danders as inhalant allergens in bronchial asthma in India.
- J Asthma 1996;33(5):339-48 14. Agrup G. Siostedt L. Contact urticaria in
- laboratory technicians working with animals. Acta Derm Venereol 1985;65(2):111-5

e84 Hamster epithelium

Cricetus cricetus, Mesocricetus auratus and Phodopus sungorus

Family:	Cricetidae
Common	
names:	Hamster
Cricetus	
cricetus	 Common hamster
Mesocricetus	
auratus	 Golden hamster
Phodopus	
sungorus	 Siberian hamster,
	Dwarf hamster
Source	
material:	Epithelium

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

This Old World rodent is related to voles. lemmings, and New World Mice. There are many Hamster species, classified in several genera. They are solitary, burrowing, nocturnal animals, with chunky bodies, usually short tails, soft, thick fur, and large external cheek pouches used for holding food. Hamsters feed on grain and other plant matter and are serious agricultural pests in many parts of their range. The Syrian, or Golden hamster, of Eastern Europe and Western Asia, is familiar as a laboratory animal and pet (prized for its placidity and cleanliness), but is little known in the wild state. About 15 cm long, it is light-colored, with white underparts.

Environment

See Geographical distribution.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized. The allergens are probably, as with other rodents, to be found in the hair, epithelia, saliva, serum and urine.



Potential cross-reactivity

The Siberian hamster, a member of the same family as the Common and Golden hamster, is able to induce both sensitisation and disease, but importantly, there is no crossreactivity between this Hamster and the latter 2 (1).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis occur frequently in laboratory workers dealing with Hamsters and in individuals keeping these rodents as domestic pets (1-9).

Hamster is a popular pet in Japan, and the numbers of these pets have been increasing (3-4). About 20 to 30% of asthma patients show positive skin-specific IgE responses to Hamster allergens (1-2).

Children of parents occupationally exposed to laboratory animals presented significantly more positive skin-specific IgE against allergens from the hair of laboratory

e84 Hamster epithelium

animals, compared to children of nonexposed parents. These children may experience cough and rhinitis while visiting their parents' workplace (1).

Anaphylaxis following a Hamster bite has been reported (1).

Other reactions

Allergic contact dermatitis to Hamster has been described (1).

- Berto JM, Pelaez A, Fernandez E, Lombardero M, Ferrer M. Siberian hamster: a new indoor source of allergic sensitization and respiratory disease. Allergy 2002;57(2):155-9
- Muljono IS, Voorhorst R. Atopy to dander from domestic animals. Allerg Immunol (Leipz) 1978;24(1):50-60
- Horiguchi T, Tachikawa S, Kasahara J, Kondo R, Miyazaki J, Shiga M, Sugiyama M, Sasaki Y, Hirose M, Teruya S. Clinical studies on bronchial asthma caused by contact with hamsters. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 2000;18(3):141-5
- Osuna H, Maeda Y, Mita H, Yasueda H, Kaneko F, Hayakawa T, Hasegawa M, Murakami E, Akiyama K. 18 cases of asthma induced by hamster or guinea-pig bred as pets. [Japanese] Arerugi 1997;46(10):1072-5
- Desjardins A, Benoit C, Ghezzo H, L'Archeveque J, Leblanc C, Paquette L, Cartier A, Malo JL. Exposure to domestic animals and risk of immunologic sensitization in subjects with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;91(5):979-86
- Hook WA, Powers K, Siraganian RP. Skin tests and blood leukocyte histamine release of patients with allergies to laboratory animals. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1984;73(4):457-65
- Rudolph R, Meier-Duis H, Kunkel G, Staud RD, Stock U. Allergies to animal hair in diseases of the upper respiratory tract. [German] Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1975;100(50):2557-61
- Bruchhausen D, Bruchhausen M. Guinea-pig and golden-hamster hair allergy. [German] Z Allgemeinmed 1975;51(34):1600-2
- 9. Lim HK. Hamster-hair hypersensitivity. Br Med J 1971;4(786):560-1
- Wilson JA. Hamster-hair hypersensitivity in adults of low atopic status. Br Med J 1971;4(783):341
- Akiyama K. Environmental allergens and allergic diseases. [Japanese] Rinsho Byori 1997;45(1):13-8
- 12. Seki R. Clinical usefulness of the histamine release test in assessing adult asthmatic patients who keep hamster. [Japanese] Arerugi 2001;50(11):1106-13
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Gorski P. Allergy to laboratory animals in children of parents occupationally exposed to mice, rats and hamsters. Eur Respir J 1999;14(2):352-6
- 14. Tomitaka A, Suzuki K, Akamatsu H, Matsunaga K. Anaphylaxis after hamster bites: a rare case? Contact Dermatitis 2002;46(2):113
- 15. Maguire HC Jr. Allergic contact dermatitis in the hamster and in other rodents. Adv Exp Med Biol 1981;134:59-66

e3 Horse dander

Equus caballus

Family:	Equidae
Common names:	Horse, Domestic horse
Source	
material:	Dander
See also:	Horse serum proteins
	Re205, and Horse meat
	Rf321
Direct or indirect contact with animal	

allergens frequently causes sensitisation.



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Except for a few feral populations, and one extremely endangered wild one (Przewalski's horse), Horses are domesticated. Long used as a means of transportation, pleasure, work, and even war, Horses have been involved in much of human history. Domestic horse breeds are numerous and highly various. Although little used for work today in developed countries, Horses are widely owned for recreational riding and show activities.

Environment

Horses are found in agricultural and recreational settings.

Unexpected exposure

Horsehair is encountered in antique furniture, and Horse meat is eaten in some countries in place of Beef. Horsehide is used in making baseballs and certain other leather goods.

Allergens

At least 16 allergens have been isolated from Horse (1-4). Several allergens have been shown to be glycoproteins, including a 27 and a 31 kDa protein (5). A number of allergens have been characterized.

Equ c 1, Mw 25 kDa, a lipocalin (6-10).

Equ c 2, Mw 16 kDa, a lipocalin (6,8,10-12).

Equ c 3 Mw 67 kDa albumin (Ag3) (10,12).

Equ c 4, Mw 18.7 kDa (6,12).

Equ c 5, Mw 16.7 kDa (6).

Various isoforms of Equ c 1 and Equ c 2 have been identified, including Equ c 2.0101 and Equ c 2.0102 (4,11). Both allergens have been cloned from the sublingual salivary glands and have also been found to be expressed in the liver and submaxillary salivary glands (7).

The protein content of Horse dander is more than double that of Horse hair and skin scrapings, while the carbohydrate content is of the same order. The most important allergen in Horse dander appears to be a 27 kDa glycoprotein (the lipocalin Equ c 1). An important 67 kDa allergen was also isolated and was thought to probably be Horse albumin. Although common allergens appeared to be present in these extracts, unique allergens were present in all extracts (13).

e3 Horse dander

Breeders and patients with asthma have claimed that Bashkir horses are nonallergenic. A study demonstrated considerable inter-breed and within-breed variation but no breed-specific allergens. Dander from all breeds investigated contained the most important known allergens, and the allergenic content of dander from Bashkir horses was similar to that of other breeds (14).

Horse allergens can be carried on clothing and can thus be found in domestic dust samples from urban environments (15).

Potential cross-reactivity

RAST inhibition experiments have demonstrated cross-reactivity between Fallow deer and Horse allergen extracts (16).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Horse allergy occurs among people who regularly handle Horses, either professionally or for recreational purposes, resulting in the induction or exacerbation of asthma, allergic rhinitis, allergic conjunctivitis and occupational asthma (17-23). Horse allergy has also been reported to result in angioedema, respiratory distress, and poorly controlled asthma (15).

In a study reviewing children seen for allergy to Horses over a period of 11 years (35 boys and 21 girls, 35 of whom were under 10 years of age), the main clinical signs reported were ocular symptoms (36), asthma (30) and rhinopharyngitis (24). All the children had highly positive skin-specific IgE tests, and 62% had high specific IgE (class 3 and 4) and were polysensitised. In several children, the first symptoms occurred at the time of the first known contact with a Horse or Pony (24). Horse allergy has been reported to decrease with age (25).

A postal questionnaire sent to a random sample of 2,500 farmers throughout New Zealand reported that asthma prevalence was higher for Horse breeders/groomers (16.5%), Pig farmers (18.2%), poultry farmers (17.4%), and those working with

Oats (17.4%). Hay fever was significantly higher in Deer and crop farmers, and farmers working with Horses and Goats; eczema was higher for Goat and Deer farmers (26).

The significance of Horse allergens in allergy has also been reported in Turkey (27), and in Indian subjects (28). In a Swedish study, Horse allergy was recorded in both boys and girls; it was noted that, whereas girls were more commonly horseback riders, boys were more often sensitised to Horses (29).

Skin-specific IgE responses to a variety of allergens, including Horse hair, have been reported to be higher in brittle compared to non-brittle asthma (30).

Other reactions

Contact urticaria from Horse saliva has been reported (31).

A high proportion of workers on a purebred Horse farm showed a positive skin response to *Saccharopolyspora rectivirgula* (51.6%), or showed the presence of precipitins to *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* (32.3%). No significant relationship could be found between the presence of symptoms and positive allergy reactions, and the possibility of Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome occurring in a high proportion of the workers was suggested (32).

Farmer's Lung is a rural disease that can be caused by inhalation of airborne Thermophilic actinomycetes. One case report is of an 11-year-old girl briefly exposed to this mould at a riding school (33).

See also: Horse serum proteins Re205, and Horse meat Rf321.

- 1. Løwenstein H. Allergene von Katze, Hund, Rind und Pferd. Allergologie 1981;4:265
- Lowenstein H, Markussen B, Weeke B. Identification of allergens in extract of horse hair and dandruff by means of crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1976;51(1):38-47
- Markussen B, Loowenstein H, Weeke B. Allergen extract of horse hair and dandruff. Quantitative immunoelectrophoretic characterization of the antigens. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1976;51(1):25-37
- 4. Bulone V, Rademaker GJ, Pergantis S, Krogstad-Johnsen T, Smestad-Paulsen B, Thomas-Oates J. Characterization of horse dander allergen glycoproteins using amino acid and glycan structure analyses. a mass spectrometric method for glycan chain analysis of glycoproteins separated by twodimensional electrophoresis. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2000;123(3):220-7
- Johnsen, Thanh DB, Ly Q, Smestad Paulsen B, Wold JK. Further characterization of IgEbinding antigens in horse dander, with particular emphasis on glycoprotein allergens. Allergy 1996;51(9):608-13
- Goubran Botros H, Poncet P, Rabillon J, Fontaine T, Laval JM, David B. Biochemical characterization and surfactant properties of horse allergens.
 - Eur J Biochem 2001;268(10):3126-36
- Gregoire C, Rosinski-Chupin I, Rabillon J et al. cDNA cloning and sequencing reveal the major horse allergen Equ c1 to be a glycoprotein member of the lipocalin superfamily.
 J Biol Chem 1996;271(51):32951-9
- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Lascombe MB, Gregoire C, Poncet P, Tavares GA, Rosinski-Chupin I, Rabillon J, Goubran-Botros H, Mazie JC, David B, Alzari PM. Crystal structure of the allergen Equ c 1. A dimeric lipocalin with restricted IgE-reactive epitopes. J Biol Chem 2000;275(28):21572-7
- Dandeu JP, Rabillon J, Divanovic A, Carmi-Leroy A, David B. Hydrophobic interaction chromatography for isolation and purification of Equ.cl, the horse major allergen. J Chromatogr 1993;621(1):23-31
- Bulone V, Krogstad-Johnsen T, Smestad-Paulsen B. Separation of horse dander allergen proteins by two-dimensional electrophoresis. Molecular characterisation and identification of Equ c 2.0101 and Equ c 2.0102 as lipocalin proteins. Eur J Biochem 1998;253:202-211

- Goubran Botros H. Rabillon J. Grégoire C. David B. Dandeu JP. Thiophilic absorption chromatography: purification of Equ c 2 and Equ c 3, two horse allergens from horse sweat. J Chromatogr 1998;B 710:57-65
- Fjeldsgaard BE, Paulsen BS. Comparison of IgE-binding antigens in horse dander and a mixture of horse hair and skin scrapings. Allergy 1993;48(7):535-41
- Felix K, Ferrandiz R, Einarsson R, Dreborg S. Allergens of horse dander: comparison among breeds and individual animals by immunoblotting. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996;98(1):169-71
- 15. Roberts G, Lack G. Horse allergy in children. BMJ 2000;321(7256):286-7
- Huwyler T, Wuthrich B. A case of fallow deer allergy. Cross-reactivity between fallow deer and horse allergy. Allergy 1992;47(5):574-5
- Romanski B, Montowska L, Wilewska T, Zbikowska M. Case of bronchial asthma caused by hypersensitivity to equine epidermis antigens (clinical and immunological analysis). [Polish] Wiad Lek 1975;28(12):1055-9
- Rudolph R, Meier-Duis H, Kunkel G, Staud RD, Stock U. Allergies to animal hair in diseases of the upper respiratory tract (author's transl). [German] Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1975;100(50):2557-61
- 19. Berrens L, Koers WJ. Allergy to horse dander allergens. Clin Allergy 1978;8(3):311-2
- Chapman MD, Wood RA. The role and remediation of animal allergens in allergic diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;107(3 Suppl):S414-21
- Leegaard J, Roth A. RAST in the diagnosis of hypersensitivity to horse allergens. A comparison with clinical history and in vivo tests. Clin Allergy 1977;7(5):455-64
- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Palczynski C, Gorski P. Laboratory animals as a cause of occupational allergy. [Polish] Med Pr 1996;47(5):523-31
- Lelong M, Castelain MC, Bras C, Drain JP, Leonard JC, Robberecht MN, Libessart Y, Thelliez P, Miersman R. An outbreak of allergy to horses in children. A review of 56 recent cases. [French] Pediatrie 1992;47(1):55-8
- Eriksson NE, Holmen A. Skin prick tests with standardized extracts of inhalant allergens in 7099 adult patients with asthma or rhinitis: cross-sensitizations and relationships to age, sex, month of birth and year of testing. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1996 Jan-Feb;6(1):36-46

e3 Horse dander

- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- Guneser S, Atici A, Cengizler I, Alparslan N. Inhalant allergens: as a cause of respiratory allergy in east Mediterranean area, Turkey. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 1996;24(3):116-9
- Gupta S, Bidani RK, Jhamb S, Agarwal MK. Role of animal danders as inhalant allergens in bronchial asthma in India. J Asthma 1996;33(5):339-48
- Hesselmar B, Aberg B, Eriksson B, Aberg N. Allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, eczema, and sensitization in two areas with differing climates. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2001 Aug;12(4):208-15
- Miles J, Cayton R, Ayres J. Atopic status in patients with brittle and non-brittle asthma: a case-control study. Clin Exp Allergy 1995;25(11):1074-82
- van der Mark S. Contact urticaria from horse saliva. Contact Dermatitis 1983;9(2):145
- 32. Mackiewicz B, Prazmo Z, Milanowski J, Dutkiewicz J, Fafrowicz B. Exposure to organic dust and microorganisms as a factor affecting respiratory function of workers of purebred horse farms. [Polish] Pneumonol Alergol Pol 1996;64 Suppl 1:19-24
- Kristiansen JD, Lahoz AX. Riding-school lung? Allergic alveolitis in an 11-year-old girl. Acta Paediatr Scand 1991;80(3):386-8

Re205 Horse, serum proteins

Equus caballus

Family:	Equidae
Common names:	Horse, Domestic horse
Source	
material:	Serum
See also:	Horse dander e3 and
	Horse meat Rf321
Direct or indirect contact with animal	
allergens freque	ntly causes sensitisation.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Except for a few feral populations, and one extremely endangered wild one (Przewalski's horse), Horses are domesticated. Long used as a means of transportation, pleasure, work, and even war, Horses have been involved in much of human history. Domestic horse breeds are numerous and highly various. Although little used for work today in developed countries, Horses are widely owned for recreational riding and show activities.

Environment

Horses are found in agricultural and recreational settings.

Unexpected exposure

Horsehair is encountered in antique furniture, and Horse meat is eaten in some countries in place of Beef. Horsehide is used in making baseballs and certain other leather goods.

Allergens

At least 16 allergens have been isolated from Horse (1-4). Several allergens have been shown to be glycoproteins, including a 27 and a 31 kDa protein (5).

A number of allergens have been characterized.



Equ c 1, Mw 25 kDa, a lipocalin (6-10). Equ c 2, Mw 16 kDa, a lipocalin (6,8,10-12). Equ c 3 Mw 67 kDa, albumin (Ag3) (10,12). Equ c 4, Mw 18.7 kDa (6,12).

Equ c 5, Mw 16.7 kDa (6).

Various isoforms of Equ c 1 and Equ c 2 have been identified, including Equ c 2.0101 and Equ c 2.0102 (4,11). Both allergens have been cloned from the sublingual salivary glands and have also been found to be expressed in the liver and submaxillary salivary glands (7).

Already in early studies an important 67 kDa allergen has been isolated that was thought to be Horse albumin (13).

Potential cross-reactivity

In a study assessing the importance of albumin as a cross-reactive allergen in patients sensitised to Cat, Dog and Horse, 117 patients sensitised to Cat were tested for IgE reactivity using skin-specific IgE and RAST assays with Cat, Dog and Horse hair/ dander extracts and their purified albumin extracts. Of these patients, 22% exhibited specific IgE to Cat albumin; 41% of patients sensitised to Cat were also sensitised to Dog and Horse. Of these patients, 21% had IgE

Re205 Horse, serum proteins

antibodies to 3 albumins and 17% to 2. Specific IgE binding to Horse extract was inhibited in 30% of samples by its homologous albumin, and IgE binding to Cat and Dog extracts in almost 15% by their respective albumins. The study concluded that albumins from these 3 animals share some epitopes that account for the crossreactivity observed in around 1/3 of patients sensitised to Cat, Dog and Horse. Nevertheless, more than 50% of specific IgE that cross-reacts among these 3 animals is directed to allergens other than albumin (14). Similar findings were documented in a second study (15).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Horse allergy occurs among people who regularly handle Horses, either professionally or for recreational purposes, resulting in the induction or exacerbation of asthma, allergic rhinitis, allergic conjunctivitis and occupational asthma (16-22). Horse allergy has also been reported to result in angioedema, respiratory distress, and poorly controlled asthma (23).

In a study reviewing children seen for allergy to Horses over a period of 11 years (35 boys and 21 girls, 35 of whom were under 10 years of age), the main clinical signs reported were ocular symptoms (36), asthma (30) and rhinopharyngitis (24). All the children had highly positive skin-specific IgE tests and 62% had specific IgE (class 3 and 4) and were polysensitized. In several children, the first symptoms occurred at the time of the first known contact with a Horse or Pony (24). Horse allergy has been reported to decrease with age (25).

Eosinophilic granuloma of the lung with sawdust and Horse protein hypersensitivity has been reported (26).

Other reactions

Contact urticaria from Horse saliva has been reported (27).

A high proportion of workers on a purebred Horse farm showed a positive skin response to *Saccharopolyspora rectivirgula* (51.6%), or showed the presence of precipitins to *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus* (32.3%). No significant relationship could be found between the presence of symptoms and positive allergy reactions, and the possibility of Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome occurring in a high proportion of the workers was suggested (28).

Farmer's Lung is a rural disease that can be caused by inhalation of airborne Thermophilic actinomycetes. Farmer's Lung occurred in an 11-year-old girl briefly exposed to this mould at a riding school (29).

See also: Horse epithelium/dander e3, and Horse meat Rf321.

- 1. Løwenstein H. Allergene von Katze, Hund, Rind und Pferd. Allergologie 1981;4:265
- Løwenstein H, Markussen B, Weeke B. Identification of allergens in extract of horse hair and dandruff by means of crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1976;51(1):38-47
- Markussen B, Loowenstein H, Weeke B. Allergen extract of horse hair and dandruff. Quantitative immunoelectrophoretic characterization of the antigens. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1976;51(1):25-37
- 4. Bulone V, Rademaker GJ, Pergantis S, Krogstad-Johnsen T, Smestad-Paulsen B, Thomas-Oates J. Characterisation of horse dander allergen glycoproteins using amino acid and glycan structure analyses. a mass spectrometric method for glycan chain analysis of glycoproteins separated by twodimensional electrophoresis. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2000;123(3):220-7
- Johnsen, Thanh DB, Ly Q, Smestad Paulsen B, Wold JK. Further characterization of IgEbinding antigens in horse dander, with particular emphasis on glycoprotein allergens. Allergy 1996;51(9):608-13
- Goubran Botros H, Poncet P, Rabillon J, Fontaine T, Laval JM, David B. Biochemical characterization and surfactant properties of horse allergens.
 Eur. Placebom 2001;268(10):2126-26
- Eur J Biochem 2001;268(10):3126-36 7. Gregoire C, Rosinski-Chupin I, Rabillon J *et al*.
- cDNA cloning and sequencing reveal the major horse allergen Equ c1 to be a glycoprotein member of the lipocalin superfamily.
 - J Biol Chem 1996;271(51):32951-9

- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Lascombe MB, Gregoire C, Poncet P, Tavares GA, Rosinski-Chupin I, Rabillon J, Goubran-Botros H, Mazie JC, David B, Alzari PM. Crystal structure of the allergen Equ c 1. A dimeric lipocalin with restricted IgE-reactive epitopes. J Biol Chem 2000;275(28):21572-7
- Dandeu JP, Rabillon J, Divanovic A, Carmi-Leroy A, David B. Hydrophobic interaction chromatography for isolation and purification of Equ.cl, the horse major allergen. J Chromatogr 1993;621(1):23-31
- Bulone V, Krogstad-Johnsen T, Smestad-Paulsen B. Separation of horse dander allergen proteins by two-dimensional electrophoresis. Molecular characterisation and identification of Equ c 2.0101 and Equ c 2.0102 as lipocalin proteins. Eur J Biochem 1998;253:202-211
- Goubran Botros H., Rabillon J., Grégoire C., David B., Dandeu J.P. Thiophilic absorption chromatography: purification of Equ c 2 and Equ c 3, two horse allergens from horse sweat. J Chromatogr 1998;B 710:57-65
- Fjeldsgaard BE, Paulsen BS. Comparison of IgE-binding antigens in horse dander and a mixture of horse hair and skin scrapings. Allergy 1993;48(7):535-41
- Cabanas R, Lopez-Serrano MC, Carreira J, Ventas P, Polo F, Caballero MT, Contreras J, Barranco P, Moreno-Ancillo A. Importance of albumin in cross-reactivity among cat, dog and horse allergens. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2000;10(2):71-7
- 15. Spitzauer S, Pandjaitan B, Soregi G, Muhl S, Ebner C, Kraft D, Valenta R,Rumpold H. IgE cross-reactivities against albumins in patients allergic to animals. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995;96(6 Pt 1):951-9
- Romanski B, Montowska L, Wilewska T, Zbikowska M. Case of bronchial asthma caused by hypersensitivity to equine epidermis antigens (clinical and immunological analysis). [Polish] Wiad Lek 1975;28(12):1055-9
- Rudolph R, Meier-Duis H, Kunkel G, Staud RD, Stock U. Allergies to animal hair in diseases of the upper respiratory tract (author's transl). [German] Dtsch Med Wochenschr 1975;100(50):2557-61
- 18. Berrens L, Koers WJ. Allergy to horse dander allergens. Clin Allergy 1978;8(3):311-2
- Chapman MD, Wood RA. The role and remediation of animal allergens in allergic diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;107(3 Suppl):S414-21
- Leegaard J, Roth A. RAST in the diagnosis of hypersensitivity to horse allergens. A comparison with clinical history and *in vivo* tests. Clin Allergy 1977;7(5):455-64

Re205 Horse, serum proteins

- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Palczynski C, Gorski P. Laboratory animals as a cause of occupational allergy. [Polish] Med Pr 1996;47(5):523-31
- 23. Roberts G, Lack G. Horse allergy in children. BMJ 2000 Jul 29;321(7256):286-7
- Lelong M, Castelain MC, Bras C, Drain JP, Leonard JC, Robberecht MN, Libessart Y, Thelliez P, Miersman R. An outbreak of allergy to horses in children. A review of 56 recent cases. [French] Pediatrie 1992;47(1):55-8
- Eriksson NE, Holmen A. Skin prick tests with standardized extracts of inhalant allergens in 7,099 adult patients with asthma or rhinitis: cross-sensitizations and relationships to age, sex, month of birth and year of testing. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1996;6(1):36-46
- Girard JP, Bouzakoura C. Eosinophillic granuloma of the lung with sawdust and horse protein hypersensitivity. Clin Allergy 1974;4(1):71-8
- 27. van der Mark S. Contact urticaria from horse saliva. Contact Dermatitis 1983;9(2):145
- Mackiewicz B, Prazmo Z, Milanowski J, Dutkiewicz J, Fafrowicz B. Exposure to organic dust and microorganisms as a factor affecting respiratory function of workers of purebred horse farms. [Polish] Pneumonol Alergol Pol 1996;64 Suppl 1:19-24
- Kristiansen JD, Lahoz AX. Riding-school lung? Allergic alveolitis in an 11-year-old girl. Acta Paediatr Scand 1991;80(3):386-8

Re203 Mink epithelium

Mustela spp.

Family: Common names: Mustelidae

Mink, American mink, European mink

Source material: Epithelium Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation.



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Mink is a small mammal of the *Mustelidae* family. This animal is a semiaquatic carnivore related to the weasel, and characterized by a slender body and thick, soft, dark-brown, durable fur that is highly valued commercially. To supply the demands of the fur industry, Minks are raised on a large scale on fur farms.

Environment

See under Geographical distribution.

Allergens

Allergens with the same molecular weight were found in the fur and urine extracts, the most prominent allergenic bands being of 62-67 kDa, 23-25 kDa and 18-19 kDa (1).

Potential cross-reactivity

In a report on Ferret allergy, the authors note that in a Mink-allergic subject, specific IgG to Ferret interfered with the specific IgE measurement; it was hypothesised that the Mink-allergic subject's serum contained similar and competing antibodies (2). Mink is a mammal of the same family as Ferret.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis occur commonly in fur farmers and fur garment workers (3).

In 42 women occupationally exposed in the fur manufacturing industry, the highest prevalence of positive immediate skin reactions to antigens of animal hair was found for Marten (10%), followed by Fox and Lamb (7%), Mink (5%), and Chinese lamb, Domestic fox, and Chinese calf (2%). Precipitating antibodies were demonstrated for Lamb (17%), astrakhan (14%), Mink, Domestic fox and skunk (12%), Chinese lamb (10%), and Chinese calf (7%) (4).

A patient who developed occupational asthma, characterized by dry cough, dyspoea, wheezing, rhinoconjunctival itching, sneezing and rhinorrhoea as a result of exposure to Mink urine has been reported. Skin-specific IgE was positive to Mink urine and negative to Mink pelt (5).

Re203 Mink epithelium

- Savolainen J, Uitti J, Halmepuro L, Nordman H. IgE response to fur animal allergens and domestic animal allergens in fur farmers and fur garment workers. Clin Exp Allergy. 1997;27(5):479-81.
 - Clin Exp Allergy. 1997;27(5):479-81.
- Codina R, Reichmuth D, Lockey RF, Jaen C. Ferret allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;107(5):927
- Uitti J, Nordman H, Halmepuro L, Savolainen J. Respiratory symptoms, pulmonary function and allergy to fur animals among fur farmers and fur garment workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 1997;23(6):428-34
- Zuskin E, Kanceljak B, Stilinovic L, Schachter EN, Kopjar B. Immunological status and respiratory findings in furriers. Am J Ind Med 1992;21(3):433-41
- Jimenez Gomez I, Anton E, Picans I, Jerez J, Obispo T. Occupational asthma caused by mink urine. Allergy 1996;51(5):364-5

e71 Mouse epithelium

Mus spp.	
Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Mouse, House mouse,
	Common house mouse
Source	
material:	Epithelium
See also:	Mouse e88, Mouse
	urine proteins, and
	Mouse serum proteins

The white Mice used in research laboratories are albinos bred from *Mus Musculus*.

Mus domesticus is the most common Mouse that is a commensal of man. But in the familes *Muridae* and *Cricetidae* are many wild species of Mouse, and rarer commensals such as the Doormouse.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house and animal laboratory dust.



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Native to Asia. House mice are now ubiquitous. They exist in all climates and are routinely found both indoors and out. Their constant gnawing damages buildings, furniture and equipment. Mice carry diseases such as salmonella and leptospirosis. They are everyday pests because of their consumption of foodstuffs, and also because their continual dribble of urine and their faeces cause contamination. Mice breed more prolifically than Rats, and spread faster, being smaller (which makes concealment easier) and more migratory, but are more easily controlled by poison, traps and predators. They are generally not as troublesome as Rats. In cultivated fields they may be beneficial, eating weed seeds and insects.

Environment

Agile and having a varied diet, Mice are found in every kind of building. They are a particular problem in poultry units, Pig housing, grain stores, warehouses, shops, and hospitals. They often migrate from cultivated fields into buildings after harvest. Where conditions permit, Mice may be found in meadows, along watercourses, and in other places where vegetation is dense enough to afford concealment, but they are not nearly as common in undisturbed or natural habitats.

Especially because of the numbers of Mice used in laboratories, allergy to Mice is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Like Rats, Mice interact unseen with humans, through mainly nocturnal foraging, which leaves behind urine, feces, saliva and skin flakes on many surfaces, especially those used for the preparation of food.

e71 Mouse epithelium

Allergens

Mouse allergens were identified over 2 decades ago. Major allergens were found in Mouse skin, serum, and urine: a 67 kDa protein, identical to Mouse albumin, and an approximately 17 kDa protein. Some individuals were sensitised predominantly to the large allergen, some to the smaller allergen, and a not one group of patients reacted to both allergens (1).

The concentration of the major allergens from Mouse, including Mouse serum albumin (MSA) and Mouse urinary protein (MUP) complex, vary in urine, serum, and pelts of Mice (2).

To date, a number of allergens have been characterised.

Mus m 1 is a major allergen and a prealbumin. This 19 kDa protein is found in hair, dander and urine. This allergen is a lipocalin-odorant binding protein (3-4) and was formerly known as MUP (major urinary protein) and also known as MAI and Ag1 (5-11). Mus m 1 is produced in liver cells, circulates in the bloodstream, and is cleared bv the kidneys. Males produce approximately 4 times more of this allergen than females. The allergen is low in serum (6, 12).

Mus m 2, a 16 kDa glycoprotein, is found in hair and dander.

Hair and epithelial fragments also carry allergenic molecules, which are primarily derived from urine and saliva. Most of the allergenic components of urine and saliva have also been detected in the fur extract. Significant concentrations of airborne rodent allergens have been measured in both laboratories and apartments in inner cities (13-15).

Mouse epithelium may be present in dust, and these Mouse allergens are carried mainly on particles of 6-18 microns. Allergen levels have been shown to correlate well with the number of animals present in the room and the degree of worker activity during sampling (16). The higher the number of animals in a room, the higher the allergen concentrations, and higher concentrations were also associated with cleaning activities. The highest personal exposure levels occurred when contaminated bedding and high numbers of conscious animals were handled. The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been reported to occur during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table (17-18). The proportion of time spent on these tasks determined the degree of allergen exposure to a large extent.

The concentration and type of Mouse allergen varies between locations and within the same location. Mouse pelt extract allergenic activity may be detected in rooms away from Mouse-care rooms, whereas Mouse urine allergenic activity may be found only in the Mouse-care room. In a study, airborne allergen content ranged from 1.8 to 825 ng/m³ and varied according to both the number of Mice and the amount of work activity in the rooms (2).

Mouse allergens are also very prevalent in ordinary homes. Of inner-city homes in Baltimore and Cleveland, USA, 95% had detectable Mouse allergen (Mus m 1) in at least one room, with the highest levels found in kitchens (kitchen: range, 0-618 μ/g ; median, 1.60 µg/g; bedroom: range, 0-294 µg/g; median, 0.52µg/g; televisionliving room: range, 0-203 µg/g; median, 0. 57 μ g/g). By city, 100% of the kitchens in Baltimore had detectable Mouse allergen, with a lower percentage (74%) in Cleveland. Mouse allergen levels correlated according to room. Furthermore, 49% of the homes had reported problems with Mice within the previous year, and 29% of the homes had evidence of Mice in one or more rooms on home inspection; these homes had higher levels of Mouse allergen. Higher allergen levels were also associated with evidence of Cockroach infestation in any room (19).

Potential cross-reactivity

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Mouse, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (4). A certain degree of cross-reactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Mouse allergens found in dust, urine, epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (2,20-22).

Various studies have examined the prevalence of allergic disease in the workplace to Mouse. Initial studies reported that about 20% of the exposed workers have symptoms of allergy to Mice (23). In a study evaluating the risk of laboratory animal allergy among research staff working in laboratories separate from the animal confinement area, 20% of the subjects had serum-specific IgE >0.35 kU/l to Rat urinary allergens and/or Mouse urinary allergens, and 32% had experienced animal workrelated symptoms, although 90% of aeroallergen samples from the laboratories in question were below the detection limit. More than 4 years of exposure significantly increased laboratory animal sensitisation and symptoms. Working mainly with male rodents resulted in increased risk for sensitisation and for symptoms (24).

Hollander *et al.* demonstrated that the prevalence rates of allergy symptoms caused by working with Rats and Mice were 19% and 10%, respectively (25). A large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers reported symptoms in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea Pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to Monkeys (26). Allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, sneezing and itchy, watery eyes can occur in up to 80% of symptomatic workers (9).

Although Mouse allergen is known to cause occupational asthma in laboratory workers, its potential significance in home environments has been underplayed. Through skin-specific IgE tests, 89 (18%) of 499 inner-city children were shown to be sensitised to Mouse. Children whose homes had Mouse allergen levels above 1.60 μ g/g in the kitchen had a significantly higher rate of Mouse sensitisation than those with levels below (23% vs 11%). Atopy was also significantly related to Mouse sensitisation, with 40% of those with more than 4 positive skin-specific IgE responses having Mouse sensitivity, compared with 4% of those with no other positive skin-specific IgE responses (27).

Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to skin- and serum-specific IgE measurement. Of these individuals, 8.3% were sensitised to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (28).

Importantly, children of parents exposed to Mice, Rats and Hamsters in an occupational setting, e.g., a laboratory, were shown to be more likely to have allergic symptoms, and to have significantly more positive skin-prick tests against allergens from the hair of laboratory animals, compared to children of non-exposed parents (29).

Occupational contact urticaria due to Mouse hair has been reported (30).

Other reactions

Contact urticaria in laboratory technicians has been reported (31).

See also: Mouse e88, Mouse urine proteins e72, and Mouse serum proteins e76.

- Siraganian RP, Sandberg AL. Characterization of mouse allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1979;63(6):435-42
- Twiggs JT, Agarwal MK, Dahlberg MJ, Yunginger JW. Immunochemical measurement of airborne mouse allergens in a laboratory animal facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982;69(6):522-6
- Robertson DHL, Cox KA, Gaskell SJ, Evershed RP, Benyon RJ. Molecular heterogeneity in the major mouse urinary proteins on the house mouse *Mus musculus*. Biochem J 1996;316:265-272
- 4. Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Schumacher MJ. Characterization of allergens from urine and pelts of laboratory mice. Mol Immunol 1980;17:1087-95
- Lorusso JR, Moffat S, Ohman JL. Immunologic and biochemical properties of the major mouse urinary allergen (Mus m 1). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986;78:928-37

e71 Mouse epithelium

- McDonald B, Kuo MC, Ohman JL, Rosenwasser LJ. A 29 amino acid peptide derived from rat alpha 2 euglobulin triggers murine allergen specific human T cells (abst). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988;83:251
- Clarke AJ, Cissold PM, Shawi RA, Beattie P, Bishop J. Structure of mouse urinary protein genes: differential splicing configurations in the 3'-non-coding region. EMBO J 1984;3:1045-1052
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. I. Identification of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and investigation of their possible origin. Clin Allergy 1987;17:43-53
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. II. Further characterization of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and immunohistochemical investigations of their sources. Clin Exp Allergy 1990;20:71-77
- Finlayson JS, Asofsky R, Potter M, Runner CC. Major urinary protein complex of normal mice: origin. Science 1965;149:981-2
- Swanson MC, Agarwwal MK, Reed CE. An immunochemical approach to indoor aeroallergen quantitation with a new volumetric air sampler: studies with mite, roach, cat, mouse and guinea pig antigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76:724-9
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H et al. Evaluation of countermeasures for reduction of mouse airborne allergens. Laboratory Animal Science 1990;40:613
- Longbottom JL, Price JA. Allergy to laboratory animals: characterization and source of two major mouse allergens, Ag 1 and Ag 3. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1987;82(3-4):450-2
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. ELISA method for measurement of airborne levels of major laboratory animal allergens. Clin Allergy 1988;18(1):95-107
- Thulin H, Björkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renström A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G, Kromhout H. Determinants of airborne rat and mouse urinary allergen exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health 1998;24(3):228-35
- Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA. Mouse allergen. I. The prevalence of mouse allergen in inner-city homes. The National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1070-4

- Vojta PJ, Friedman W, Marker DA, Clickner R, Rogers JW, Viet SM, Muilenberg ML, Thorne PS, Arbes SJ Jr, Zeldin DC. First National Survey of Lead and Allergens in Housing: survey design and methods for the allergen and endotoxin components. Environ Health Perspect 2002;110(5):527-32
- Huang JL, Wang SY, Lin KL, Hsieh KH. Mouse dander-allergic bronchial asthma--a case report. Zhonghua Min Guo Wei Sheng Wu Ji Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi 1991;24(2):248-54
- 22. Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74
- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5
- Renstrom A, Karlsson AS, Malmberg P, Larsson PH, van Hage-Hamsten M. Working with male rodents may increase risk of allergy to laboratory animals. Allergy 2001;56(10):964-70
- Hollander A, Gordon S, Renstrom A, Thissen J, Doekes G, Larsson PH *et al.* Comparison of methods to assess airborne rat and mouse allergen levels. I. Analysis of air samples. Allergy 1999;54(2):142-9
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA; National Coooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. Mouse allergen. II. The relationship of mouse allergen exposure to mouse sensitization and asthma morbidity in inner-city children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1075-80
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Gorski P. Allergy to laboratory animals in children of parents occupationally exposed to mice, rats and hamsters. Eur Respir J 1999;14(2):352-6
- Karches F, Fuchs T. A strange manifestation of occupational contact urticaria due to mouse hair. Contact Dermatitis 1993;28(3):200
- Agrup G, Sjostedt L. Contact urticaria in laboratory technicians working with animals. Acta Derm Venereol 1985;65(2):111-5

e88 Mouse epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins

Mus spp.	
Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Mouse, House mouse,
	Common house mouse
Source	
material:	Epithelium, serum
	and urine
See also:	Mouse epithelium e71,
	Mouse urine proteins
	e72, and Mouse serum
	proteins e76

The white Mice used in research laboratories are albinos bred from *Mus Musculus*.

Mus domesticus is the most common Mouse that is a commensal of man. But in the familes *Muridae* and *Cricetidae* are many wild species of Mouse, and rarer commensals such as the Doormouse.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house and animal laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Native to Asia, House mice are now ubiquitous. They exist in all climates and are routinely found both indoors and out. Their constant gnawing damages buildings, furniture and equipment. Mice carry diseases such as salmonella and leptospirosis. They are everyday pests because of their consumption of foodstuffs, and also because their continual dribble of urine and their feces cause contamination. Mice breed more prolifically than Rats, and spread faster, being smaller (which makes concealment easier) and more migratory, but are more easily controlled by poison, traps and predators. They are generally not as troublesome as Rats. In cultivated fields they may be beneficial, eating weed seeds and insects.



Environment

Agile and having a varied diet, Mice are found in every kind of building. They are a particular problem in poultry units, Pig housing, grain stores, warehouses, shops, and hospitals. They often migrate from cultivated fields into buildings after harvest. Where conditions permit, Mice may be found in meadows, along watercourses, and in other places where vegetation is dense enough to afford concealment, but they are not nearly as common in undisturbed or natural habitats.

Especially because of the numbers of Mice used in laboratories, allergy to Mice is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Like Rats, Mice interact unseen with humans, through mainly nocturnal foraging, which leaves behind urine, feces, saliva and skin flakes on many surfaces, especially those used for the preparation of food.

Allergens

Mouse allergens were identified over two decades ago. Major allergens were found in Mouse skin, serum, and urine: a 67 kDa protein, identical to Mouse albumin, and an

e88 Mouse epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins

approximately 17 kDa protein. Some individuals were sensitised predominantly to the large allergen, some to the smaller allergen, and a not one group of patients reacted to both allergens (1).

The concentration of the major allergens from Mouse, including Mouse serum albumin (MSA) and Mouse urinary protein (MUP) complex, vary in urine, serum, and pelts of Mice (2). Male rodents excrete higher levels of urinary allergens than female rodents (3).

As rodents have permanent proteinuria, the allergen is constantly present in their urine. They spray urine on their surroundings, where the proteins dry up and become airborne on dust particles.

To date, a number of allergens have been characterized.

Mus m 1 is a major allergen and a prealbumin. This 19 kDa protein is found in hair, dander and urine. This allergen is a lipocalin-odorant binding protein (4-5) and was formerly known as MUP (major urinary protein) and also known as MAI and Ag1 (6-12). Mus m 1 is produced in liver cells, circulates in the bloodstream, and is cleared by the kidneys. Males produce approximately 4 times more of this allergen than females. The allergen is low in serum (7,13).

Mus m 2, a 16 kDa glycoprotein, is found in hair and dander.

Albumin, a 65-69 kDa protein, is found in serum and urine. Approximately 30% of Mouse-sensitised individuals are sensitised to this allergen (14).

Hair and epithelial fragments also carry allergenic molecules, which are primarily derived from urine and saliva. Most of the allergenic components of urine and saliva have also been detected in the fur extract. Significant concentrations of airborne rodent allergens have been measured in both laboratories and apartments in inner cities (15-17).

Mouse allergens are carried mainly on particles of 6-18 microns. Allergen levels have been shown to correlate well with the number of animals present in the room and the degree of worker activity during sampling (18). The higher the number of animals in a room, the higher the allergen concentrations, and higher concentrations were also associated with cleaning activities. The highest personal exposure levels occurred when contaminated bedding and high numbers of conscious animals were handled. The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been reported to occur during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table (19-20). The proportion of time spent on these tasks determined the degree of allergen exposure to a large extent.

A study reported that total Mus m 1 recovered ranged from 0.2 to 1.5 ng/m³ in rooms without Mice and 0.5 to 15.1 ng/m³ in rooms with Mice. Allergen recovered from the zone of worker activity ranged from 1.2 to 2.7 ng/m³ in rooms without Mice and from 16.6 to 563.0 ng/m³ in rooms with Mice. Direct Mouse contact was associated with the highest levels of exposure to Mus m I. Analysis revealed the bulk of allergen to be in mid-particle size range (3.3 to 10 microns) for Mouse-containing rooms and in small particle size range (0.43 to 3.3 microns) for non-Mouse-containing rooms, suggesting that small particles were carried along corridors from rooms with Mice into non-Mousecontaining rooms (21).

In disturbed air, allergen concentration has been shown to increase between 1.4-fold, for albumin allergens, and 5-fold, for crude allergens. The proportion of small particles increased from 1.4% in calm air to 4.5% in disturbed air (22).

The concentration and type of Mouse allergen varies between locations and within the same location. Mouse pelt extract allergenic activity may be detected in rooms away from Mouse-care rooms, whereas Mouse urine allergenic activity may be found only in the Mouse-care room. In a study, airborne allergen content ranged from 1.8 to 825 ng/m³ and varied according to both the number of Mice and the amount of work activity in the rooms (2).

Mouse allergens are also very prevalent in ordinary homes. Of inner-city homes in Baltimore and Cleveland, USA, 95% had detectable Mouse allergen (Mus m 1) in at
least one room, with the highest levels found in kitchens (kitchen: range, 0-618 µg/g; median, 1.60 µg/g; bedroom: range, 0-294 µg/g; median, 0.52 µg/g; televisionliving room: range, 0-203 µg/g; median, 0. 57 μ g/g). By city, 100% of the kitchens in Baltimore had detectable Mouse allergen, with a lower percentage (74%) in Cleveland. Mouse allergen levels correlated according to room. Furthermore, 49% of the homes had reported problems with Mice within the previous year, and 29% of the homes had evidence of Mice in one or more rooms on home inspection; these homes had higher levels of Mouse allergen. Higher allergen levels were also associated with evidence of cockroach infestation in any room (23).

Potential cross-reactivity

In IgE immunoblot inhibition studies and histamine release tests, it has been demonstrated that patients who react to Dog albumin exhibit IgE reactivity with purified albumins from Cat, Mouse, Chicken, and Rat. Significant sequence homologies have been demonstrated with albumins from different species: Human: 82.6%, Pig: 81.8%, Cattle: 77.3%, Sheep: 78.8%, Mouse: 75.8%, and Rat: 76.2% (24).

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Mouse, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (5). A certain degree of crossreactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Mouse allergens found in dust, urine, epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (2,25-27).

Various studies have examined the prevalence of allergic disease in the workplace to Mouse. Initial studies reported that about 20% of the exposed workers have symptoms of allergy to Mice (28). In a study evaluating the risk of laboratory animal allergy among research staff working in laboratories separate from the animal confinement area, 20% of the subjects had serum-specific IgE >0.35 kU/l to Rat urinary allergens and/or Mouse urinary allergens, and 32% had experienced animal workrelated symptoms, although 90% of aeroallergen samples from the laboratories in question were below the detection limit. More than 4 years of exposure significantly increased laboratory animal sensitisation and symptoms. Working mainly with male rodents resulted in increased risk for sensitisation and for symptoms (3).

Hollander *et al.* demonstrated that the prevalence rates of allergy symptoms caused by working with Rats and Mice were 19% and 10%, respectively (29). A large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers reported symptoms in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea Pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to Monkeys (30). Allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, sneezing and itchy, watery eyes can occur in up to 80% of symptomatic workers (10).

Although Mouse allergen is known to cause occupational asthma in laboratory workers, its potential significance in home environments has been underplayed. Through skin-specific IgE tests, 89 (18%) of 499 innercity children were shown to be sensitised to Mouse. Children whose homes had Mouse allergen levels above 1.60 μ g/g in the kitchen had a significantly higher rate of Mouse sensitisation than those with levels below (23% vs 11%). Atopy was also significantly related to Mouse sensitisation, with 40% of those with more than 4 positive skin-specific IgE responses having Mouse sensitivity, compared with 4% of those with no other positive skin-specific IgE responses (31).

Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to skin- and serum-specific IgE measurement. Of these individuals, 8.3% were sensitised to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (32).

e88 Mouse epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins

Importantly, children of parents exposed to Mice, Rats and Hamsters in an occupational setting, e.g., a laboratory, were shown to be more likely to have allergic symptoms, and to have significantly more positive skin-prick tests against allergens from the hair of laboratory animals, compared to children of non-exposed parents (33).

- Siraganian RP, Sandberg AL. Characterization of mouse allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1979;63(6):435-42
- Twiggs JT, Agarwal MK, Dahlberg MJ, Yunginger JW. Immunochemical measurement of airborne mouse allergens in a laboratory animal facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982;69(6):522-6
- Renstrom A, Karlsson AS, Malmberg P, Larsson PH, van Hage-Hamsten M. Working with male rodents may increase risk of allergy to laboratory animals. Allergy 2001;56(10):964-70
- Robertson DHL, Cox KA, Gaskell SJ, Evershed RP, Benyon RJ. Molecular heterogeneity in the major mouse urinary proteins on the house mouse *Mus musculus*. Biochem J 1996;316:265-272
- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Schumacher MJ. Characterization of allergens from urine and pelts of laboratory mice. Mol Immunol 1980;17:1087-95
- Lorusso JR, Moffat S, Ohman JL. Immunologic and biochemical properties of the major mouse urinary allergen (Mus m 1). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986;78:928-37
- McDonald B, Kuo MC, Ohman JL, Rosenwasser LJ. A 29 amino acid peptide derived from rat alpha 2 euglobulin triggers murine allergen specific human T cells (abst). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988;83:251
- Clarke AJ, Cissold PM, Shawi RA, Beattie P, Bishop J. Structure of mouse urinary protein genes: differential splicing configurations in the 3'-non-coding region. EMBO J 1984;3:1045-1052
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. I. Identification of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and investigation of their possible origin. Clin Allergy 1987;17:43-53
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. II. Further characterization of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and immunohistochemical investigations of their sources. Clin Exp Allergy 1990;20:71-77
- Finlayson JS, Asofsky R, Potter M, Runner CC. Major urinary protein complex of normal mice: origin. Science 1965;149:981-2
- 14. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- 15. Swanson MC, Agarwwal MK, Reed CE. An immunochemical approach to indoor aeroallergen quantitation with a new volumetric air sampler: studies with mite, roach, cat, mouse and guinea pig antigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76:724-9

- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H et al. Evaluation of countermeasures for reduction of mouse airborne allergens. Laboratory Animal Science 1990;40:613
- Longbottom JL, Price JA. Allergy to laboratory animals: characterization and source of two major mouse allergens, Ag 1 and Ag 3. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1987;82(3-4):450-2
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. ELISA method for measurement of airborne levels of major laboratory animal allergens. Clin Allergy 1988;18(1):95-107
- Thulin H, Bjorkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G, Kromhout H. Determinants of airborne rat and mouse urinary allergen exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health 1998;24(3):228-35
- Ohman JL Jr, Hagberg K, MacDonald MR, Jones RR Jr, Paigen BJ, Kacergis JB.
 Distribution of airborne mouse allergen in a major mouse breeding facility.
 J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;94(5):810-7
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H, Kamimura H, Kimura M, Yamazaki S. Particle size of airborne mouse crude and defined allergens. Lab Anim Sci 1989;39(3):234-6
- Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA. Mouse allergen. I. The prevalence of mouse allergen in inner-city homes. The National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1070-4
- 24. Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P, Muhl S, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H et al. Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a cross-reactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27
- 25. Vojta PJ, Friedman W, Marker DA, Clickner R, Rogers JW, Viet SM, Muilenberg ML, Thorne PS, Arbes SJ Jr, Zeldin DC. First National Survey of Lead and Allergens in Housing: survey design and methods for the allergen and endotoxin components. Environ Health Perspect 2002;110(5):527-32
- Huang JL, Wang SY, Lin KL, Hsieh KH. Mouse dander-allergic bronchial asthma--a case report. Zhonghua Min Guo Wei Sheng Wu Ji Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi 1991;24(2):248-54
- Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74
- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5

- Hollander A, Gordon S, Renstrom A, Thissen J, Doekes G, Larsson PH *et al.* Comparison of methods to assess airborne rat and mouse allergen levels. I. Analysis of air samples. Allergy 1999;54(2):142-9
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA; National Coooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. Mouse allergen. II. The relationship of mouse allergen exposure to mouse sensitization and asthma morbidity in inner-city children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1075-80
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Gorski P. Allergy to laboratory animals in children of parents occupationally exposed to mice, rats and hamsters. Eur Respir J 1999;14(2):352-6
- Karches F, Fuchs T. A strange manifestation of occupational contact urticaria due to mouse hair. Contact Dermatitis 1993;28(3):200

e76 Mouse serum proteins

Mus spp.	
Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Mouse, House mouse,
	Common house mouse
Source	
material:	Serum
See also:	Mouse e88, Mouse
	epithelium e71, and
	Mouse urine
	proteins e72.
The white Mice	upped in recorde

The white Mice used in research laboratories are albinos bred from *Mus Musculus*.

Mus domesticus is the most common Mouse that is a commensal of man. But in the familes *Muridae* and *Cricetidae* are many wild species of Mouse, and rarer commensals such as the Doormouse.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house and animal laboratory dust.



Environment

Agile and having a varied diet, Mice are found in every kind of building. They are a particular problem in poultry units, Pig housing, grain stores, warehouses, shops, and hospitals. They often migrate from cultivated fields into buildings after harvest. Where conditions permit, Mice may be found in meadows, along watercourses, and in other places where vegetation is dense enough to afford concealment, but they are not nearly as common in undisturbed or natural habitats.

Especially because of the numbers of Mice used in laboratories, allergy to Mice is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Like Rats, Mice interact unseen with humans, through mainly nocturnal foraging, which leaves behind urine, feces, saliva and skin flakes on many surfaces, especially those used for the preparation of food.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Native to Asia, House mice are now ubiquitous. They exist in all climates and are routinely found both indoors and out. Their constant gnawing damages buildings, furniture and equipment. Mice carry diseases such as salmonella and leptospirosis. They are everyday pests because of their consumption of foodstuffs, and also because their continual dribble of urine and their feces cause contamination. Mice breed more prolifically than Rats, and spread faster, being smaller (which makes concealment easier) and more migratory, but are more easily controlled by poison, traps and predators. They are generally not as troublesome as Rats. In cultivated fields they may be beneficial, eating weed seeds and insects.

e76 Mouse serum proteins

Allergens

Mouse allergens were identified over two decades ago. Major allergens were found in Mouse skin, serum, and urine: a 67 kDa protein, identical to Mouse albumin, and an approximately 17 kDa protein. Some individuals were sensitised predominantly to the large allergen, some to the smaller allergen, and a not one group of patients reacted to both allergens (1).

The concentration of the major allergens from Mouse, including Mouse serum albumin (MSA) and Mouse urinary protein (MUP) complex, vary in urine, serum, and pelts of Mice (2).

To date, a number of serum allergens have been characterized.

Mus m 1 is a major allergen and a prealbumin. This 19 kDa protein is found in hair, dander and urine. This allergen is a lipocalin-odorant binding protein (3-4) and was formerly known as MUP (major urinary protein) and also known as MAI and Ag1 (5-11). Mus m 1 is produced in liver cells, circulates in the bloodstream, and is cleared by the kidneys. Males produce approximately 4 times more of this allergen than females. The allergen is low in serum (6,12).

Albumin, a 65-69 kDa protein, is found in serum and urine. Approximately 30% of Mouse-sensitised individuals are sensitised to this allergen (13).

Serum proteins, being present in urine, will be present in the significant concentrations of airborne rodent allergens that have been measured in both laboratories and apartments in inner cities (14-16).

Mouse allergens are carried mainly on particles of 6-18 microns. Allergen levels have been shown to correlate well with the number of animals present in the room and the degree of worker activity during sampling (17). The higher the number of animals in a room, the higher the allergen concentrations, and higher concentrations were also associated with cleaning activities. The highest personal exposure levels occurred when contaminated bedding and high numbers of conscious animals were handled. The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been reported to occur during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table (18-19). The proportion of time spent on these tasks determined the degree of allergen exposure to a large extent.

A study reported that total Mus m 1 recovered ranged from 0.2 to 1.5 ng/m³ in rooms without Mice and 0.5 to 15.1 ng/m³ in rooms with Mice. Allergen recovered from the zone of worker activity ranged from 1.2 to 2.7 ng/m³ in rooms without Mice and from 16.6 to 563.0 ng/m³ in rooms with Mice. Direct Mouse contact was associated with the highest levels of exposure to Mus m I. Analysis revealed the bulk of allergen to be in mid-particle size range (3.3 to 10 microns) for Mouse-containing rooms and in small particle size range (0.43 to 3.3 microns) for non-Mouse-containing rooms, suggesting that small particles were carried along corridors from rooms with Mice into non-Mouse-containing rooms (20).

In disturbed air, allergen concentration has been shown to increase between 1.4-fold, for albumin allergens, and 5-fold, for crude allergens. The proportion of small particles increased from 1.4% in calm air to 4.5% in disturbed air (21).

The concentration and type of Mouse allergen varies between locations and within the same location. Mouse pelt extract allergenic activity may be detected in rooms away from Mouse-care rooms, whereas Mouse urine allergenic activity may be found only in the Mouse-care room. In a study, airborne allergen content ranged from 1.8 to 825 ng/m³ and varied according to both the number of Mice and the amount of work activity in the rooms (2).

Mouse allergens are also very prevalent in ordinary homes. Of inner-city homes in Baltimore and Cleveland, USA, 95% had detectable Mouse allergen (Mus m 1) in at least one room, with the highest levels found in kitchens (kitchen: range, 0-618 μ g/g; median, 1.60 μ g/g; bedroom: range, 0-294 μ g/g; median, 0.52 μ g/g; televisionliving room: range, 0-203 μ g/g; median, 0. 57 μ g/g). By city, 100% of the kitchens in Baltimore had detectable Mouse allergen, with a lower percentage (74%) in Cleveland. Mouse allergen levels correlated according to room. Furthermore, 49% of the homes had reported problems with Mice within the previous year, and 29% of the homes had evidence of Mice in one or more rooms on home inspection; these homes had higher levels of Mouse allergen. Higher allergen levels were also associated with evidence of cockroach infestation in any room (22).

Potential cross-reactivity

In IgE immunoblot inhibition studies and histamine release tests, it has been demonstrated that patients who react to Dog albumin exhibit IgE reactivity with purified albumins from Cat, Mouse, Chicken, and Rat. Significant sequence homologies have been demonstrated with albumins from different species: Human: 82.6%, Pig: 81.8%, Cattle: 77.3%, Sheep: 78.8%, Mouse: 75.8%, and Rat: 76.2% (23).

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Mouse, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (4). A certain degree of crossreactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Mouse allergens found in dust, urine, epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (2,24-26).

Various studies have examined the prevalence of allergic disease in the workplace to Mouse. Initial studies reported that about 20% of the exposed workers have symptoms of allergy to Mice (27). In a study evaluating the risk of laboratory animal allergy among research staff working in laboratories separate from the animal confinement area, 20% of the subjects had

e76 Mouse serum proteins

serum-specific IgE >0.35 kU/l to Rat urinary allergens and/or Mouse urinary allergens, and 32% had experienced animal workrelated symptoms, although 90% of aeroallergen samples from the laboratories in question were below the detection limit. More than 4 years of exposure significantly increased laboratory animal sensitisation and symptoms. Working mainly with male rodents resulted in increased risk for sensitisation and for symptoms (28).

Hollander *et al.* demonstrated that the prevalence rates of allergy symptoms caused by working with Rats and Mice were 19% and 10%, respectively (29). A large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers reported symptoms in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea Pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to Monkeys (30). Allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, sneezing and itchy, watery eyes can occur in up to 80% of symptomatic workers (9).

Although Mouse allergen is known to cause occupational asthma in laboratory workers, its potential significance in home environments has been underplayed. Through skin-specific IgE tests, 89 (18%) of 499 innercity children were shown to be sensitised to Mouse. Children whose homes had Mouse allergen levels above $1.60 \mu g/g$ in the kitchen had a significantly higher rate of Mouse sensitisation than those with levels below (23% vs 11%). Atopy was also significantly related to Mouse sensitisation, with 40% of those with more than 4 positive skin-specific IgE responses having Mouse sensitivity, compared with 4% of those with no other positive skin-specific IgE responses (31).

Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to skin- and serum-specific IgE measurement. Of these individuals, 8.3% were sensitised to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (32).

e76 Mouse serum proteins

Importantly, children of parents exposed to Mice, Rats and Hamsters in an occupational setting, e.g., a laboratory, were shown to be more likely to have allergic symptoms, and to have significantly more positive skin-prick tests against allergens from the hair of laboratory animals, compared to children of non-exposed parents (33).

- Siraganian RP, Sandberg AL. Characterization of mouse allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1979;63(6):435-42
- Twiggs JT, Agarwal MK, Dahlberg MJ, Yunginger JW. Immunochemical measurement of airborne mouse allergens in a laboratory animal facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982;69(6):522-6
- Robertson DHL, Cox KA, Gaskell SJ, Evershed RP, Benyon RJ. Molecular heterogeneity in the major mouse urinary proteins on the house mouse *Mus musculus*. Biochem J 1996;316:265-272
- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Schumacher MJ. Characterization of allergens from urine and pelts of laboratory mice. Mol Immunol 1980;17:1087-95
- Lorusso JR, Moffat S, Ohman JL. Immunologic and biochemical properties of the major mouse urinary allergen (Mus m 1). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986;78:928-37
- McDonald B, Kuo MC, Ohman JL, Rosenwasser LJ. A 29 amino acid peptide derived from rat alpha 2 euglobulin triggers murine allergen specific human T cells (abst). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988;83:251
- Clarke AJ, Cissold PM, Shawi RA, Beattie P, Bishop J. Structure of mouse urinary protein genes: differential splicing configurations in the 3'-non-coding region. EMBO J 1984;3:1045-1052
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. I. Identification of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and investigation of their possible origin. Clin Allergy 1987;17:43-53
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. II. Further characterization of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and immunohistochemical investigations of their sources. Clin Exp Allergy 1990;20:71-77
- Finlayson JS, Asofsky R, Potter M, Runner CC. Major urinary protein complex of normal mice: origin. Science 1965;149:981-2
- 13. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- 14. Swanson MC, Agarwwal MK, Reed CE. An immunochemical approach to indoor aeroallergen quantitation with a new volumetric air sampler: studies with mite, roach, cat, mouse and guinea pig antigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76:724-9
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H et al. Evaluation of countermeasures for reduction of mouse airborne allergens. Laboratory Animal Science 1990;40:613

- Longbottom JL, Price JA. Allergy to laboratory animals: characterization and source of two major mouse allergens, Ag 1 and Ag 3. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1987;82(3-4):450-2
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. ELISA method for measurement of airborne levels of major laboratory animal allergens. Clin Allergy 1988;18(1):95-107
- Thulin H, Bjorkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G, Kromhout H. Determinants of airborne rat and mouse urinary allergen exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health 1998;24(3):228-35
- Ohman JL Jr, Hagberg K, MacDonald MR, Jones RR Jr, Paigen BJ, Kacergis JB.
 Distribution of airborne mouse allergen in a major mouse breeding facility.
 J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;94(5):810-7
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H, Kamimura H, Kimura M, Yamazaki S. Particle size of airborne mouse crude and defined allergens. Lab Anim Sci 1989;39(3):234-6
- Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA. Mouse allergen. I. The prevalence of mouse allergen in inner-city homes. The National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1070-4
- Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P, Muhl S, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H et al. Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a cross-reactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27
- 24. Vojta PJ, Friedman W, Marker DA, Clickner R, Rogers JW, Viet SM, Muilenberg ML, Thorne PS, Arbes SJ Jr, Zeldin DC. First National Survey of Lead and Allergens in Housing: survey design and methods for the allergen and endotoxin components. Environ Health Perspect 2002;110(5):527-32
- Huang JL, Wang SY, Lin KL, Hsieh KH. Mouse dander-allergic bronchial asthma--a case report. Zhonghua Min Guo Wei Sheng Wu Ji Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi 1991;24(2):248-54
- Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74
- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5

- Renstrom A, Karlsson AS, Malmberg P, Larsson PH, van Hage-Hamsten M. Working with male rodents may increase risk of allergy to laboratory animals. Allergy 2001;56(10):964-70
- Hollander A, Gordon S, Renstrom A, Thissen J, Doekes G, Larsson PH *et al.* Comparison of methods to assess airborne rat and mouse allergen levels. I. Analysis of air samples. Allergy 1999;54(2):142-9
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA; National Coooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. Mouse allergen. II. The relationship of mouse allergen exposure to mouse sensitization and asthma morbidity in inner-city children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1075-80
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Gorski P. Allergy to laboratory animals in children of parents occupationally exposed to mice, rats and hamsters. Eur Respir J 1999;14(2)

e72 Mouse urine proteins

Mus spp.	
Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Mouse, House mouse,
	Common house mouse
Source	
material:	Urine
See also:	Mouse e88, Mouse
	epithelium e71, and
	Mouse serum
	proteins e76.
The white Mice	used in research

The white Mice used in research laboratories are albinos bred from *Mus Musculus*.

Mus domesticus is the most common Mouse that is a commensal of man. But in the familes *Muridae* and *Cricetidae* are many wild species of Mouse, and rarer commensals such as the Doormouse.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house and animal laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Native to Asia, House mice are now ubiquitous. They exist in all climates and are routinely found both indoors and out. Their constant gnawing damages buildings, furniture and equipment. Mice carry diseases such as salmonella and leptospirosis. They are everyday pests because of their consumption of foodstuffs, and also because their continual dribble of urine and their feces cause contamination. Mice breed more prolifically than Rats, and spread faster, being smaller (which makes concealment easier) and more migratory, but are more easily controlled by poison, traps and predators. They are generally not as troublesome as Rats. In cultivated fields they may be beneficial, eating weed seeds and insects.



Environment

Agile and having a varied diet, Mice are found in every kind of building. They are a particular problem in poultry units, Pig housing, grain stores, warehouses, shops, and hospitals. They often migrate from cultivated fields into buildings after harvest. Where conditions permit, Mice may be found in meadows, along watercourses, and in other places where vegetation is dense enough to afford concealment, but they are not nearly as common in undisturbed or natural habitats.

Especially because of the numbers of Mice used in laboratories, allergy to Mice is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Like Rats, Mice interact unseen with humans, through mainly nocturnal foraging, which leaves behind urine, feces, saliva and skin flakes on many surfaces, especially those used for the preparation of food.

Allergens

Mouse allergens were identified over two decades ago. Major allergens were found in Mouse skin, serum, and urine: a 67 kDa protein, identical to Mouse albumin, and an approximately 17 kDa protein. Some individuals were sensitised predominantly to

e72 Mouse urine proteins

the large allergen, some to the smaller allergen, and a not one group of patients reacted to both allergens (1).

The concentration of the major allergens from Mouse, including Mouse serum albumin (MSA) and Mouse urinary protein (MUP) complex, vary in urine, serum, and pelts of Mice (2). Male rodents excrete higher levels of urinary allergens than female rodents (3).

As rodents have permanent proteinuria, the allergen is constantly present in their urine. They spray urine on their surroundings, where the proteins dry up and become airborne on dust particles.

To date, a number of allergens have been characterized.

Mus m 1 is a major allergen and a prealbumin. This 19 kDa protein is found in hair, dander and urine. This allergen is a lipocalin-odorant binding protein (4-5) and was formerly known as MUP (major urinary protein) and also known as MAI and Ag1 (6-12). Mus m 1 is produced in liver cells, circulates in the bloodstream, and is cleared by the kidneys. Males produce approximately 4 times more of this allergen than females. The allergen is low in serum (7,13).

Mus m 2, a 16 kDa glycoprotein, is found in hair and dander.

Albumin, a 65-69 kDa protein, is found in serum and urine. Approximately 30% of Mouse-sensitised individuals are sensitised to this allergen (14).

Rat and mouse urinary allergens are mainly present as large particles (>5.8 microm). The higher the number of animals in a room, the higher the allergen concentrations (15).

Hair and epithelial fragments also carry allergenic molecules, which are primarily derived from urine and saliva. Most of the allergenic components of urine and saliva have also been detected in the fur extract. Significant concentrations of airborne rodent allergens have been measured in both laboratories and apartments in inner cities (16-18).

Mouse allergens are carried mainly on particles of 6-18 microns. Allergen levels have been shown to correlate well with the number of animals present in the room and the degree of worker activity during sampling (19). The higher the number of animals in a room, the higher the allergen concentrations, and higher concentrations were also associated with cleaning activities. The highest personal exposure levels occurred when contaminated bedding and high numbers of conscious animals were handled. The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been reported to occur during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table (20-21). The proportion of time spent on these tasks determined the degree of allergen exposure to a large extent.

A study reported that total Mus m 1 recovered ranged from 0.2 to 1.5 ng/m³ in rooms without Mice and 0.5 to 15.1 ng/m³ in rooms with Mice. Allergen recovered from the zone of worker activity ranged from 1.2 to 2.7 ng/m^3 in rooms without Mice and from 16.6 to 563.0 ng/m³ in rooms with Mice. Direct Mouse contact was associated with the highest levels of exposure to Mus m I. Analysis revealed the bulk of allergen to be in mid-particle size range (3.3 to 10 microns) for Mouse-containing rooms and in small particle size range (0.43 to 3.3 microns) for non-Mouse-containing rooms, suggesting that small particles were carried along corridors from rooms with Mice into non-Mouse-containing rooms (22).

In disturbed air, allergen concentration has been shown to increase between 1.4-fold, for albumin allergens, and 5-fold, for crude allergens. The proportion of small particles increased from 1.4% in calm air to 4.5% in disturbed air (23).

Measurements of Mouse urine proteins showed that people with direct contact with Mice (animal technicians) have the highest exposure, followed in decreasing order by those working with anaesthetised animals, post-mortem workers, and those with indirect contact with Mice (e.g., supervisors, office workers, and slide production workers) (24). The concentration and type of Mouse allergen varies between locations and within the same location. Mouse pelt extract allergenic activity may be detected in rooms away from Mouse-care rooms, whereas Mouse urine allergenic activity may be found only in the Mouse-care room. In a study, airborne allergen content ranged from 1.8 to 825 ng/m³ and varied according to both the number of Mice and the amount of work activity in the rooms (2).

Mouse allergens are also very prevalent in ordinary homes. Of inner-city homes in Baltimore and Cleveland, USA, 95% had detectable Mouse allergen (Mus m 1) in at least one room, with the highest levels found in kitchens (kitchen: range, 0-618 µg/g; median, 1.60 $\mu g/g$; bedroom: range, 0-294 µg/g; median, 0.52 µg/g; television-living room: range, $0-203 \mu g/g$; median, $0.57 \mu g/g$). By city, 100% of the kitchens in Baltimore had detectable Mouse allergen, with a lower percentage (74%) in Cleveland. Mouse allergen levels correlated according to room. Furthermore, 49% of the homes had reported problems with Mice within the previous year, and 29% of the homes had evidence of Mice in one or more rooms on home inspection; these homes had higher levels of Mouse allergen. Higher allergen levels were also associated with evidence of cockroach infestation in any room (25).

Potential cross-reactivity

In IgE immunoblot inhibition studies and histamine release tests, it has been demonstrated that patients who react to Dog albumin exhibit IgE reactivity with purified albumins from Cat, Mouse, Chicken, and Rat. Significant sequence homologies have been demonstrated with albumins from different species: Human: 82.6%, Pig: 81.8%, Cattle: 77.3%, Sheep: 78.8%, Mouse: 75.8%, and Rat: 76.2% (26).

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Mouse, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (5). A certain degree of crossreactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Mouse allergens found in dust, urine, epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (2,27-29).

Various studies have examined the prevalence of allergic disease in the workplace to Mouse. Initial studies reported that about 20% of the exposed workers have symptoms of allergy to Mice (30). In a study evaluating the risk of laboratory animal allergy among research staff working in laboratories separate from the animal confinement area, 20% of the subjects had serum-specific IgE >0.35 kU/l to Rat urinary allergens and/or Mouse urinary allergens, and 32% had experienced animal workrelated symptoms, although 90% of aeroallergen samples from the laboratories in question were below the detection limit. More than 4 years of exposure significantly increased laboratory animal sensitisation and symptoms. Working mainly with male rodents resulted in increased risk for sensitisation and for symptoms (3).

Hollander *et al.* demonstrated that the prevalence rates of allergy symptoms caused by working with Rats and Mice were 19% and 10%, respectively (31). A large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers reported symptoms in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea Pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to Monkeys (32). Allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, sneezing and itchy, watery eyes can occur in up to 80% of symptomatic workers (10).

Although Mouse allergen is known to cause occupational asthma in laboratory workers, its potential significance in home environments has been underplayed. Through skin-specific IgE tests, 89 (18%) of 499 inner-city children were shown to be sensitised to Mouse. Children whose homes had Mouse allergen levels above 1.60 μ g/g in the kitchen had a significantly higher rate of Mouse sensitization than those with levels below (23% vs 11%). Atopy was also

e72 Mouse urine proteins

significantly related to Mouse sensitization, with 40% of those with more than 4 positive skin-specific IgE responses having Mouse sensitivity, compared with 4% of those with no other positive skin-specific IgE responses (33).

Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to skin- and serum-specific IgE measurement. Of these individuals, 8.3% were sensitised to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (34).

Importantly, children of parents exposed to Mice, Rats and Hamsters in an occupational setting, e.g., a laboratory, were shown to be more likely to have allergic symptoms, and to have significantly more positive skin-prick tests against allergens from the hair of laboratory animals, compared to children of non-exposed parents (35).

Other reactions

See under Geographical distribution.

- 1. Siraganian RP, Sandberg AL. Characterization of mouse allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1979;63(6):435-42
- Twiggs JT, Agarwal MK, Dahlberg MJ, Yunginger JW. Immunochemical measurement of airborne mouse allergens in a laboratory animal facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982;69(6):522-6
- Renstrom A, Karlsson AS, Malmberg P, Larsson PH, van Hage-Hamsten M. Working with male rodents may increase risk of allergy to laboratory animals. Allergy 2001;56(10):964-70
- Robertson DHL, Cox KA, Gaskell SJ, Evershed RP, Benyon RJ. Molecular heterogeneity in the major mouse urinary proteins on the house mouse *Mus musculus*. Biochem J 1996;316:265-272
- 5. Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Schumacher MJ. Characterization of allergens from urine and pelts of laboratory mice. Mol Immunol 1980;17:1087-95
- Lorusso JR, Moffat S, Ohman JL. Immunologic and biochemical properties of the major mouse urinary allergen (Mus m 1). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986;78:928-37
- McDonald B, Kuo MC, Ohman JL, Rosenwasser LJ. A 29 amino acid peptide derived from rat alpha 2 euglobulin triggers murine allergen specific human T cells (abst). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988;83:251
- Clarke AJ, Cissold PM, Shawi RA, Beattie P, Bishop J. Structure of mouse urinary protein genes: differential splicing configurations in the 3'-non-coding region. EMBO J 1984;3:1045-1052
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. I. Identification of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and investigation of their possible origin. Clin Allergy 1987;17:43-53
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to mice. II. Further characterization of two major mouse allergens (Ag 1 and Ag 3) and immunohistochemical investigations of their sources. Clin Exp Allergy 1990;20:71-77
- Finlayson JS, Asofsky R, Potter M, Runner CC. Major urinary protein complex of normal mice: origin. Science 1965;149:981-2
- 14. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G, Kromhout H. Determinants of airborne rat and mouse urinary allergen exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health 1998 Jun;24(3):228-35

- Swanson MC, Agarwwal MK, Reed CE. An immunochemical approach to indoor aeroallergen quantitation with a new volumetric air sampler: studies with mite, roach, cat, mouse and guinea pig antigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76:724-9
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H et al. Evaluation of countermeasures for reduction of mouse airborne allergens. Laboratory Animal Science 1990;40:613
- Longbottom JL, Price JA. Allergy to laboratory animals: characterization and source of two major mouse allergens, Ag 1 and Ag 3. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1987;82(3-4):450-2
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. ELISA method for measurement of airborne levels of major laboratory animal allergens. Clin Allergy 1988;18(1):95-107
- Thulin H, Bjorkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G, Kromhout H. Determinants of airborne rat and mouse urinary allergen exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health 1998;24(3):228-35
- Ohman JL Jr, Hagberg K, MacDonald MR, Jones RR Jr, Paigen BJ, Kacergis JB. Distribution of airborne mouse allergen in a major mouse breeding facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;94(5):810-7
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H, Kamimura H, Kimura M, Yamazaki S. Particle size of airborne mouse crude and defined allergens. Lab Anim Sci 1989;39(3):234-6
- 24. Gordon S, Kiernan LA, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Cook AD, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Measurement of exposure to mouse urinary proteins in an epidemiological study. Occup Environ Med 1997;54(2):135-40
- Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA. Mouse allergen. I. The prevalence of mouse allergen in inner-city homes. The National Cooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1070-4
- 26. Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P, Muhl S, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H et al. Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a cross-reactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27

- 27. Vojta PJ, Friedman W, Marker DA, Clickner R, Rogers JW, Viet SM, Muilenberg ML, Thorne PS, Arbes SJ Jr, Zeldin DC. First National Survey of Lead and Allergens in Housing: survey design and methods for the allergen and endotoxin components. Environ Health Perspect 2002;110(5):527-32
- Huang JL, Wang SY, Lin KL, Hsieh KH. Mouse dander-allergic bronchial asthma--a case report. Zhonghua Min Guo Wei Sheng Wu Ji Mian Yi Xue Za Zhi 1991;24(2):248-54
- 29. Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74
- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5
- Hollander A, Gordon S, Renstrom A, Thissen J, Doekes G, Larsson PH *et al.* Comparison of methods to assess airborne rat and mouse allergen levels. I. Analysis of air samples. Allergy 1999;54(2):142-9
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- 33. Phipatanakul W, Eggleston PA, Wright EC, Wood RA; National Coooperative Inner-City Asthma Study. Mouse allergen. II. The relationship of mouse allergen exposure to mouse sensitization and asthma morbidity in inner-city children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2000;106(6):1075-80
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Gorski P. Allergy to laboratory animals in children of parents occupationally exposed to mice, rats and hamsters. Eur Respir J 1999;14(2):352-6

e213 Parrot feathers

Ara spp. Family:

Common names: Psittacidae

Parrot, Macaws; also se below

Source material:

Feathers

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird allergens may be major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Parrot is one of the most common domestic birds, together with Budgerigars and Canaries. In 1994, Parrots were estimated at 25 million in US households, and more than 8 millions in German ones (1).

Parrot is the common name for members of the order *Psittaciformes*, comprising 315 species of colorful birds, pantropical in distribution, including such divergent types as the small Parakeet and the large, crested Cockatoo. Parrots have large heads and short necks, strong feet with two toes in front and two in back (facilitating climbing and grasping), and strong, thick bills, with the larger hooked upper mandible hinged to the bones of the head. They are prized worldwide as pets and zoo animals for their beautiful, bright plumage, their sociability, and their ability as mimics.

Environment

See above.

Unexpected exposure

Cockatoos have a down powder beneath their feathers, which provides insulation to keep them warm. The down also sheds a thick powder, which the birds use to waterproof and clean their outer feathers.



Allergens

Well-defined major allergenic bands with molecular mass of 20-30 kDa and 67 kDa have been detected and identified in IgE immunoblots with feather extracts as well as with serum proteins of Budgerigar, Parrot, Pigeon, Canary, and Hen. Inhalable feather dust was shown to contain several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1). The allergens have not been fully characterized yet.

Potential cross-reactivity

As noted above, inhalable feather dust contains several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/ antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

Cross-reactivity between Parrot and other phylogenetically related bird species may be expected, and in Parrot-allergic patients, significant IgE antibody titers to Canary, Budgerigar, Chicken, Pigeon, Goose and Duck have been reported (2-3), even in patients without known exposure (1). Moreover, cross-reactivity to Hen's egg, Bird-Egg Syndrome, should be considered. Here the livetins present in egg yolk have been suggested as the major cross-reacting allergen (4-5).

e213 Parrot feathers

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may result following exposure to Canary feathers, epithelial cells or droppings (6,7). The allergic manifestations may present as Bird Fancier's Asthma and as the so-called Bird-Egg Syndrome, with symptoms such as rhinitis, urticaria and angioedema (2), and also as gastro-intestinal problems (3).

Specific IgE has been found in patients exposed to Parrots (1-3). In 2 case reports (2,5), adult patients, both having developed allergy after acquiring a Parrot, experienced urticaria, angioedema and asthma after eating egg. Previously, they had never had allergy to egg. They had specific IgE to egg, but in these cases it seems that the egg yolk was the trigger, not the egg white, which is the common causative allergen in childhood egg allergy.

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulin antibodies including IgE (1), IgM (8), IgA and various IgG subclasses (9-11). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (12) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (13). The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and, in the case of Pigeons, Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their lofts, or exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling or roof where birds nest.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (14).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (15).

Hypersensitivity pneumonitis has also been reported following contact with a wild Moluccan cockatoo (16).

Other reactions

Bird Breeder's Lung has also been described as caused by Parrot droppings (17).

- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- de Maat-Bleeker F, van Dijk AG, Berrens L. Allergy to egg yolk possibly induced by sensitization to bird serum antigens. Ann Allergy 1985;54(3):245-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Huijskes-Heins MI, Gerth van Wijk R. Different pattern of IgE binding to chicken egg yolk between patients with inhalant allergy to birds and foodallergic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1994;104(2):199-203
- Mandallaz MM, de Weck AL, Dahinden CA. Bird-egg syndrome. Cross-reactivity between bird antigens and egg-yolk livetins in IgEmediated hypersensitivity. International Archives of Allergy & Applied Immunology 1988;87(2):143-50
- de Blay F, Hoyet C, Candolfi E, Thierry R, Pauli G. Identification of alpha livetin as a cross reacting allergen in a bird- egg syndrome. Allergy Proc 1994;15(2):77-8
- van Toorenenbergen AW, Gerth van Wijk R, van Dooremalen G, Dieges PH. Immunoglobulin E antibodies against budgerigar and canary feathers. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1985;77(4):433-7
- Gerth Van Wijk R, Van Toorenenbergen AW, Dieges PH. Nasal allergy to avian antigens. Clin Allergy 1987;17(6):515-21
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9

- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- 12. McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C *et al.* Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease. Occup Environ Med 2000;57(3):159-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- 15. Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Choy AC, Patterson R, Ray AH, Roberts M. Hypersensitivity pneumonitis in a raptor handler and a wild bird fancier. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1995;74(5):437-41
- Tokojima M, Ihi T, Kyoraku Y, Hiratsuka T, Matsumoto K, Matsumoto N, Katoh S, Mukae H, Matsukura S. A case of Bird Fanciers' Disease caused by parrot droppings. [Japanese] Nihon Kokyuki Gakkai Zasshi 2001;39(10):739-43

e7 Pigeon droppings

Columba livia		
Family:	Columbidae	
Common		
names:	Pigeon, Feral pigeon,	
	Town pigeon,	
	City pigeon	
Source		
material:	Droppings	
See also:	Pigeon feathers e215	
Direct or indirect contact with Pigeon		
allergens frequently causes sensitisation.		
Pigeon allergens may be major		
components in house dust.		



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The number of domestic birds is currently estimated at 25 million in the USA and more than 8 million in German households. In Germany, an additional 11 million Pigeons are kept by more than 140,000 registered breeders of fancy Pigeons. (The Homing/ racing pigeon is a specifically bred variety of Pigeon. These Pigeons are capable of returning home within the day after being released several hundred miles from their loft.) This number does not include the breeding of fattened Pigeons for the table.

There are over 300 species of Pigeons and Doves around the world. Feral, Town or City pigeons are believed to have descended from domesticated strains of the Rock dove. In the wild they then interbred (and continue to interbreed) with Racing pigeons and Pigeons from bird fanciers' lofts. The Feral pigeon is found worldwide. It is closely associated with humans and is a common sight in urban environments.

Feral pigeons are seen as a pest, due to the noise they create from cooing and scratching; damage to cars, domestic premises, monuments and commercial properties due to droppings; the resultant smell, and of course the potential slip hazard. (Gutters and drainpipes may become blocked, leading to flooding and associated problems.) Extensive damage to air conditioning units and other rooftop machinery is commonplace.

Environment

Feral pigeons build their nests in or on buildings and other structures, where they are usually found on ledges or in hollows often under eaves or on girders. They may, however, be found in more rural situations, e.g., farmland, parks, golf courses, moorland and woodland.

Allergens

Pigeon droppings contain excreted serum protein antigens which may have been degraded, making identification difficult. But it is clear that IgA and intestinal mucin are major antigen components. Droppings may also include bacterial endotoxin and other non-specific biological substances.

In a study of patients with Pigeon Breeder's Lung, a 21-kDa protein was shown, by immunoblotting tests, to be the only protein that identified individuals exposed to Pigeons (1). Antigens identified by indirect immunofluorescence staining,

e7 Pigeon droppings

and specific for sera from patients with Pigeon Breeders' Lung or healthy Pigeon breeders, have been isolated from Pigeon intestinal mucus. Two antigenic peaks, one being Pigeon intestinal mucin and the other IgA, were isolated. These studies demonstrate that antibodies to 2 quite different antigens are associated specifically with sera from Pigeon breeders (2). Pigeon intestinal mucin is a complex highmolecular-weight glycoprotein shown to be a key antigen in the development of Pigeon Breeder's Lung. Different IgG subclasses appear to recognise different epitopes on mucin (3).

Potential cross-reactivity

Positive IgE antibody reactions to sera and feathers from 5 bird species (Pigeon, Budgerigar, Parrot, Canary and Hen), and to Pigeon droppings, have been found in subjects with Bird Fancier's Asthma (4). Since antibodies of each of the patients also recognised antigens of birds with which they were not in contact, immunological crossreactivity between different avian species was suggested. Pigeon allergens also appear to cross-react with Dove droppings (5).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Diseases associated with exposure to Pigeon include Extrinsic Allergic Alveolitis/ hypersensitivity pneumonitis, asthma, allergic rhinitis, ornithosis (microbial infections transmitted to man) and lung inflammation caused by irritant dusts (6).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result. The disease is also known as Pigeon Breeder's Disease, a type of hypersensitivity lung disease due to the inhalation of Pigeon-derived antigens, such as antigens from dried Pigeon droppings (6-8). In Mexico, the most frequent form is due to the inhalation of avian antigens, mainly Pigeon proteins (9). A nasal form of Pigeon Breeder's Disease also exists (10).

It occurs after exposure to organic dust and may occur after close contact with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, and Doves. Exposure results in the development of various immunoglobulins including IgE (4), IgM (11), IgA and various IgG subclasses (12-14). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (15) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (16).

The allergenic proteins are found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). "Fancy" birds produce copious bloom; poultry (Duck, Chicken, Turkey) produces very little bloom. Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning the loft, or from exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling where birds nest.

Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (17).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of Extrinsic Allergic Alveolitis caused by bird antigens (18).

Extrinsic Allergic Alveolitis may also occur in families, as reported in a study where the cause was wild city Pigeons (19).

Extrinsic Allergic Alveolitis is not common in childhood (20-22). A study from Malta reports on 5 cases in the pediatric population. All were males, and were initially diagnosed as having other respiratory illnesses or mental disturbances. A final correct diagnosis was made based on a history of exposure to birds, clinical findings, positive avian precipitins, a restrictive defect shown on pulmonary function tests, and a suggestive chest X-ray appearance (23). A typical clinical presentation would be a male Pigeon breeder who develops a sudden fever, cough and dyspnoea, with diffuse nodular shadows on the chest X-ray film (24). In a study conducted in the Canary Islands, of 343 Pigeon breeders, 29 (8%) fulfilled the classic Pigeon Breeder's Disease criteria. One hundred and six (31%) had rhinitis, 62 (19%) had immediate bronchial symptoms, and 51 (15%) suffered from chronic bronchitis. A significant level of specific IgG was detected in 139 (40%) cases. A statistical relationship between the intensity of exposure and specific IgG response was also found (17).

The presence of IgG, IgA, IgM and IgE antibodies against Pigeon serum and Pigeon droppings has been demonstrated in serum from symptomatic breeders (6,25-27). Positive IgE antibody reactions to sera and feathers from 5 bird species (Pigeon, Budgerigar, Parrot, Canary and Hen), and to Pigeon droppings, have been found in subjects with Bird Fancier's Asthma (4). Pigeon Breeder's Disease has been found in 6-21% of breeders (6), with the figure differing from country to country. Rhinitis in bird fanciers can be associated with an IgE-mediated allergy to bird antigens.

A 61-year-old woman was diagnosed with chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis due to Wild Pigeons. The patient was not a Pigeon breeder, but she could have been exposed to Pigeons at her workplace. She had specific antibodies against Pigeon serum and droppings, and her peripheral lymphocytes showed proliferation in response to Pigeon serum. A positive provocation test involving inhalation of Pigeon serum confirmed that she had chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis caused by allergy to Pigeons. This is a rare case of chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis, associated with Wild Pigeons, that progressed to pulmonary fibrosis (28).

Other reactions

Acute urticaria may be caused by Pigeon ticks, which, according to a report, had dropped from wooden ceiling beams. The patient was living in the centre of Milan in a very old house, where numerous Pigeons had built their nests under the rooftop (29). The House Dust mite *Dermatophagoides farinae* has been found in samples from a Pigeon loft. Besides Mites of the family *Pyroglyphidae*, Mites of the *Tyroglyphidae* family and/or mucedine were found. House dust mites should be considered in patients with apparent allergic disease to Pigeon (30).

- Hisauchi-Kojima K, Sumi Y, Miyashita Y, Miyake S, Toyoda H, Kurup VP, Yoshizawa Y. Purification of the antigenic components of pigeon dropping extract, the responsible agent for cellular immunity in pigeon breeder's disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(6):1158-65
- Todd A, Coan RM, Allen A. Pigeon breeders' lung: pigeon intestinal mucin, an antigen distinct from pigeon IgA. Clin Exp Immunol 1991;85(3):453-8
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. Pigeon fanciers' lung: identification of disease-associated carbohydrate epitopes on pigeon intestinal mucin. Clin Exp Immunol 1999;117(2):230-6
- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49:448-53
- McClellan JS, Albers GM, Noyes BE, Sotelo C, Petterchak JA, Knutsen AP. B-lymphocyte aggregates in alveoli from a child with hypersensitivity pneumonitis (bird breeders lung). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1999;83(5):357-60
- Pelikan Z, Schlot JDL, Koedijk FHJ. The late bronchus-obstructive response to bronchial challenge with pigeon faeces and its correlation with precipitating antibodies (IgG) in the serum of patients having long-term contact with pigeons. Clin Allergy 1983;13:203-11
- 7. Fink JN. Hypersensitivity pneumonitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1973;52:309-17.
- Liang SL. Exogenous allergic alveolitis--a clinico-radiologic analysis of 15 cases of pigeon breeder's lung. [Chinese] Zhonghua Fang She Xue Za Zhi 1989;23(3):146-8
- Chapela-Mendoza R, Selman-Lama M. Extrinsic allergic alveolitis. Clinical experience at the Instituto National de Enfermedades Respiratorias (INER). [Spanish] Gac Med Mex 1999;135(6):577-87
- Pelikan Z, Pelikan-Filipek M. A new disease: a nasal form of pigeon breeder's disease. Allergy 1983;38:309-18
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7

e7 Pigeon droppings

- 12. Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung: IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9
- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- 15. McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C *et al.* Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease. Occup Environ Med 2000;57(3):159-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- du Marchie Sarvaas GJ, Merkus PJ, de Jongste JC. A family with extrinsic allergic alveolitis caused by wild city pigeons: A case report. Pediatrics 2000;105(5):E62
- Hilhorst MI, van Ewijk E, Veenhoven RH, Roorda RJ. Asthmatic child without asthma. [Dutch] Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 1999;143(49):2449-52
- Tsai E, Couture D, Hughes DM. A pediatric case of pigeon breeder's disease in Nova Scotia. Can Respir J 1998;5(6):507-10

- Severien C, Artlich A, Jonas S. Pigeon breeder's disease in childhood. [German] Klin Padiatr 1998;210(6):413-7
- Grech V, Vella C, Lenicker H. Pigeon breeder's lung in childhood: varied clinical picture at presentation. Pediatr Pulmonol 2000;30(2):145-8
- Mouri T, Obara A, Konishi K, Tamura M, Tomichi N, Ishii M, Kudou K. A case of pigeon breeder's lung. [Japanese] Nihon Kyobu Shikkan Gakkai Zasshi 1990;28(1):165-71
- Patterson R, Schatz M, Fink JN, DeSwarte RS, Roberts M, Cugell D. Pigeon Breeder's disease. I. Serum immunoglobulin concentrations; IgG, IgM, IgA and IgE antibodies against pigeon serum. Am J Med 1976;60:144-51.
- Ebner H, Kraft D, Goetz M, Rumpold H, Muhar F, Schroder H, Yman L. Inhalationsallergien durch Vogelantigene: Nachweis von IgE-Antikörpern gegen Taubenserum- und Taubenkot-Komponenten mittels RAST. Berichtsband 1981:161-65
- Fairshter RD, Martinez IP, Novey HS. Chronic airflow obstruction in a patient with pigeon breeder's lung; Prevalence of IgE antibodies to avian antigens. Respiration 1982;43:142-9
- Muramatsu T, Miyazaki E, Sawabe T, Shigenaga T, Matsumoto T, Sugisaki K, Kumamoto T, Tsuda T. A case of chronic hypersensitivity pneumonitis due to wild pigeons. [Japanese] Nihon Kokyuki Gakkai Zasshi 2001;39(3):220-5
- Veraldi S, Scarabelli G, Grimalt R. Acute urticaria caused by pigeon ticks (Argas reflexus). Int J Dermatol 1996;35(1):34-5
- Enge A, Hiepe T, Ribbeck R. Occurrence of housedust mites (Astigmata; Pyroglyphidae) in stables. [German] Angew Parasitol 1984;25(3):132-41

e215 Pigeon feathers

Columba livia		
Family:	Columbidae	
Common		
names:	Pigeon, Feral pigeon,	
	Town pigeon,	
	City pigeon	
Source		
material:	Feathers	
See also:	Pigeon droppings e7	
Direct or indirect contact with bird		
allergens may cause sensitisation. Bird		
allergens may be major components of		
house dust.		

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The number of domestic birds is currently estimated at 25 million in the USA and more than 8 million in German households. In Germany, an additional 11 million Pigeons are kept by more than 140,000 registered breeders of fancy Pigeons. (The Homing/ racing pigeon is a specifically bred variety of Pigeon. These Pigeons are capable of returning home within the day after being released several hundred miles from their loft.) This number does not include the breeding of fattened Pigeons for the table.

There are over 300 species of Pigeons and Doves around the world. Feral, Town or City pigeons are believed to have descended from domesticated strains of the Rock dove. In the wild they then interbred (and continue to interbreed) with Racing pigeons and Pigeons from bird fanciers' lofts. The Feral pigeon is found worldwide. It is closely associated with humans and is a common sight in urban environments.

Feral pigeons are seen as a pest, due to the noise they create from cooing and scratching; damage to cars, domestic premises, monuments and commercial properties due to droppings, the resultant smell, and of course the potential slip hazard.



Environment

Feral pigeons build their nests in or on buildings and other structures, where they are usually found on ledges or in hollows often under eaves or on girders. They may, however, be found in more rural situations, e.g., farmland, parks, golf courses, moorland and woodland.

Allergens

"Pigeon bloom" consists of keratin particles. These are produced copiously from feathers and transport serum proteins to peripheral airways and may act as a local irritant or adjuvant.

Well-defined major allergenic bands with molecular mass of 20-30 kDa and 67 kDa have been detected and identified in IgE immunoblots with feather extracts as well as with serum proteins of Budgerigar, Parrot, Pigeon, Canary, and Hen. Inhalable feather dust was shown to contain several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1). These allergens have not yet been fully characterized.

The allergens detected to date include numerous proteins in Pigeon serum (2-3). Pigeon intestinal mucin, an allergen found in Pigeon droppings, may also be found in Pigeon sera and feathers (4).

e215 Pigeon feathers

Potential cross-reactivity

As noted above, inhalable feather dust contains several allergenic components which cross-react with serum allergens/ antigens of the same as well as of other bird species (1).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis may occur after exposure to Pigeons (5-7). Other diseases associated with exposure to Pigeon include extrinsic allergic alveolitis/hypersensitivity pneumonitis, asthma, allergic rhinitis, ornithosis (microbial infections transmitted to man) and lung inflammation caused by irritant dusts (8).

Extrinsic allergic alveolitis, also known as hypersensitivity pneumonitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung, is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result. The disease is also known as Pigeon Breeder's Disease, an example of hypersensitivity lung disease due to the inhalation of Pigeon-derived antigens.

The disease occurs after exposure to organic dust, especially after close contact with Pigeons or other birds such as Budgerigars, Parrots, Canaries, Parakeets, Cockatiels, Doves or Finches. Exposure results in the development of immunoglobulin antibodies including IgE (1), IgM (9), IgA and various IgG subclasses (10-12). The antibodies may be found in the sera and saliva of patients (13) as well as in the sera of asymptomatic but exposed subjects (14).

The allergenic proteins may be found in bird serum, droppings, skin scales, feathers and, in the case of Pigeons, Pigeon bloom (a waxy fine dust which coats the feathers of Pigeons). Contact may result from handling birds, cleaning their lofts, or exposure to the organic dust drifting down from a ceiling or roof where birds nest. Diagnosis is based on a characteristic clinical picture and a typical x-ray pattern, accompanied by the presence of specific IgG antibodies (15).

The measurement of specific IgG using IgG tracer technology has been shown to be a sensitive and specific assay for the routine diagnostic testing of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (16).

A typical clinical presentation would be a male Pigeon breeder who develops a sudden fever, cough and dyspnea with diffuse nodular shadows on the chest X-ray film (17). In a study conducted in the Canary Islands, of 343 Pigeon breeders, 29 (8%) fulfilled the classic Pigeon Breeder's Disease criteria. One hundred and six (31%) had rhinitis, 62 (19%) had immediate bronchial symptoms, and 51 (15%) suffered from chronic bronchitis. A significant level of specific IgG was detected in 139 (40%) cases. A statistical relationship between the intensity of exposure and specific IgG response was also found (15).

Other reactions

The House dust mite *Dermatophagoides farinae* was found in 5 samples derived from conventional Hen housing with fowls and Pigeons and from a test animal hutch with Rats, Mice and Rabbits. Besides Mites of the family *Pyroglyphidae*, Mites of the *Tyroglyphidae* family and/or mucedine were found, which affects the development of Mite populations. House dust mites should be considered in the aetiology of allergic diseases from Dog, Cat and livestock (18).

Feather mites are a major source of soluble proteins derived from feathers, accounting for up to 10% of the total weight of the feather. RAST inhibition indicated feather Mites had species-specific epitopes as well as ones that cross-reacted with *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* (19-20).

A case has been reported where acute urticaria was caused by Pigeon ticks, which had dropped from wooden ceiling beams. The patient was living in the center of Milan in a very old house, where numerous Pigeons had built their nests under the rooftop (21). *Cryptococcus neoformans* is a Yeast with a large polysaccharide capsule that may be found in Pigeon droppings and result in opportunistic infections in man, but not in Pigeons. Inhalation of spores can cause pulmonary infection, although this is usually mild and sometimes even asymptomatic (22).

See also: Pigeon droppings e7.

- Tauer-Reich I, Fruhmann G, Czuppon AB, Baur X. Allergens causing bird fancier's asthma. Allergy 1994;49(6):448-53
- 2. de Beer PM, Bouic PJ, Joubert JR. Identification of a 'disease-associated' antigen in pigeon breeder's disease by western blotting. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1990;91(4):343-7
- McSharry C, Anderson K, Boyd G. A review of antigen diversity causing lung disease among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 2000;30(9)1221-9
- Baldwin CI, Stevens B, Connors S, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Calvert JE, Allen A. Pigeon fanciers' lung: the mucin antigen is present in pigeon droppings and pigeon bloom. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1998;117(3):187-93
- Hargreave FE, Pepys J. Allergic respiratory reactions in bird fanciers provoked by allergen inhalation provocation tests. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1972;50:157
- Gerth Van Wijk R, Van Toorenenbergen AW, Dieges PH. Nasal allergy to avian antigens. Clin Allergy 1987;17(6):515-21
- Bosenecker A, Musken H, Bergmann KC. Sensitization in budgerigar owners. [German] Pneumologie 1998;52(4):209-13
- Pelikan Z, Schlot JDL, Koedijk FHJ. The late bronchus-obstructive response to bronchial challenge with pigeon faeces and its correlation with precipitating antibodies (IgG) in the serum of patients having long-term contact with pigeons. Clin Allergy 1983;13:203-11
- Martinez-Cordero E, Aquilar Leon DE, Retana VN. IgM antiavian antibodies in sera from patients with pigeon breeder's disease. J Clin Lab Anal 2000:14(5):201-7
- Yoshizawa Y, Miyashita Y, Inoue T, Sumi Y, Miyazaki Y, Sato T *et al.* Sequential evaluation of clinical and immunological findings in hypersensitivity pneumonitis: serial subclass distribution of antibodies. Clin immunol Immunopathol 1994;73(3):330-7
- Todd A, Coan R, Allen A. Pigeon breeder's lung; IgG subclasses to pigeon Intestinal mucin and IgA antigens. Clin Exp Immunol 1993;92(3):494-9

- Baldwin CI, Todd A, Bourke SJ, Allen A, Calvert JE. IgG subclass responses to pigeon intestinal mucin are related to development of pigeon fancier's lung. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(3):349-57
- McSharry C, Macleod K, McGregor S, Speekenbrink AB, Sriram S, Boyd F et al. Mucosal immunity in extrinsic allergic alveolitis: salivary immunoglobulins and antibody against inhaled avian antigens among pigeon breeders. Clin Exp Allergy 1999;29(7):957-64
- Rodrigo MJ, Benavent MI, Cruz MJ, Rosell M, Murio C, Pascual C et al. Detection of specific antibodies to pigeon serum and bloom antigens by enzyme linked immunosorbent assay in pigeon breeder's disease. Occup Environ Med 2000;57(3):159-64
- Rodriguez de Castro F, Carrillo T, Castillo R, Blanco C, Diaz F, Cuevas M. Relationship between characteristics of exposure to pigeon antigens. Clinical manifestations and humoral immune response. Chest 1993;103(4):1059-63
- Lopata A, Schinkel M, Andersson C, Johansson G, van Hage-Hamsten M. Quantification of IgG antibodies to bird antigens in the diagnosis of extrinsic allergic alveolitis (EAA) using the UniCAP system. (Manuscript in preparation)
- Mouri T, Obara A, Konishi K, Tamura M, Tomichi N, Ishii M, Kudou K. A case of pigeon breeder's lung. [Japanese] Nihon Kyobu Shikkan Gakkai Zasshi 1990 Jan;28(1):165-71
- Enge A, Hiepe T, Ribbeck R. Occurrence of housedust mites (Astigmata; Pyroglyphidae) in stables. [German] Angew Parasitol 1984;25(3):132-41
- Colloff MJ, Merrett TG, Merrett J, McSharry C, Boyd G. Feather mites are potentially an important source of allergens for pigeon and budgerigar keepers. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(1):60-7
- Merrett TG, Colloff M, McSharry C, Merret J. Feather mite specific IgE antibodies are commonly found among pigeon keepers. Ann Allergy 1993;70:65
- Veraldi S, Scarabelli G, Grimalt R. Acute urticaria caused by pigeon ticks (*Argas reflexus*). Int J Dermatol 1996;35(1):34-5
- 22. Springston JP. The Birds. Occup Health & Safety 1998:86-89

e82 Rabbit epithelium

Oryctolagus cuniculus

Family: Common names: Leporidae

Rabbit, Common European rabbit, Domestic rabbit

The New World genus *Sylvilagus* includes the many species of Cottontail rabbit, which resemble the European rabbit in appearance. The North American species called Jackrabbit are actually Hares (having longer ears and legs, and giving birth to already furred and open-eyed young), as is the Snowshoe rabbit. The domesticated socalled Belgian hare, on the other hand, is a Rabbit.

Source material:

See also:

Epithelium Rabbit urine proteins Re211 and Rabbit serum proteins Re206

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens may be major components of house dust or laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Common European rabbit is native to Southern Europe and Africa, but is now found, in its domestic varieties, throughout the world; wild varieties have also been introduced in some places, such as England. All Domestic rabbits belong to this species. They may be various colours but are commonly white, and are bred for food and for their fur, which is often used in making fur trim and felt. They are also frequently used as laboratory animals and are kept as pets. Wild rabbits feed on a wide variety of vegetation and are responsible in many areas for the stunted nature of the ground cover.

Environment

See under Geographical distribution.



Allergens

Several allergens have been identified in Rabbit saliva, fur, urine, dander and dust. Allergenic proteins of 18-38 kDa have been detected (1). To date, 2 have been characterized:

Ory c 1, a 18 kDa protein, found in hair, dander and saliva (2-3).

Ory c 2, found in hair, dander and urine (2-3).

Serum albumin may be of minor allergenic importance (4-6).

Serum-specific IgE suggests that epithelium has different allergens from those in saliva, urine and fur. Saliva is the most potent extract. Overall, 26 protein bands are recognised as allergens. Saliva has 12, urine 7 and fur 7. Molecular weights varied from 8 kDa in saliva to 80 kDa in urine. An 18 kDa and 21 kDa protein were shown to belong to the lipocalin family. Saliva appears to contain the most potent allergen, which probably has a high homology with a 21 kDa lipocalin-odorant binding protein from Rabbit nasal mucosa (2-3,7).

e82 Rabbit epithelium

Potential cross-reactivity

A 15 kDa allergen separated from a mixed Rabbit fur and dander extract was shown to cross-react with IgE antibodies in Deerallergic individuals (7). (This is possibly not a dominant cross-reactivity. – Editor)

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Of the 90,000 laboratory animal workers in the United States, between 21% and 46% develop allergy to laboratory animals. Of those who develop symptoms, more than 10% eventually develop occupation-related asthma with symptoms that persist even after exposure ceases (3,8-9). These individuals are susceptible to life-threatening (but rare) anaphylactic reactions following animal bites and scratches and pricking with needles contaminated with the animal proteins (8). Many animals associated with laboratories may actually be adopted as pets, resulting in allergies in their owners and owners' family members.

Allergy to animals may range from allergic rhinitis to allergic conjunctivitis to dermatitis to severe asthma. These may result from inhalation of or contact with the animal's dander, epithelium cells, urine, saliva, serum or hair. Most animals shed allergens through these substances, but not all species or strains do so equally. Different routes of exposure, e.g., respiratory, oral, mucosal and transdermal, elicit different symptoms.

A large study of laboratory animal workers in Japan recorded that symptoms were reported in 26% of workers exposed to Mice, 25% for Rats, 31% for Guinea pigs, 30% for Rabbits, 26% for Hamsters, 30% for Cats, 25% for Dogs and 24% for Monkeys. About 70% of laboratory animal allergy (LAA) subjects developed symptoms during their first 3 years of exposure. A close relation between nasal symptoms and exposure to Rabbits and between skin symptoms and exposure to Rats was found. LAA subjects developed symptoms most quickly to Rabbits (10). The commonest symptom is allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, sneezing and itchy, watery eyes, which can occur in up to 80% of symptomatic workers (2).

While Rabbits are common as pets, severe allergic reactions to Domestic Rabbits in homes are unusual. Typically, allergic manifestations are mild to moderate allergic rhinitis, conjunctivitis, pruritus and/or asthma, contact urticaria and contact dermatitis in laboratory animal caretakers with frequent exposure (1,11-12). In a study of atopic children with contact with pets, 18% were sensitised to Rabbit and 12.3% showed clinical signs in the animal's presence (13). Cumulative duration of exposure to domestic animals is a significant determinant for immediate sensitisation to animal-derived antigens in subjects with asthma (12).

An atopic child developed anaphylaxis following inhalant exposure to a Rabbit. The patient had elevated serum-specific IgE to Rabbit epithelium and fur but not to Rabbit serum (14).

A 32-year-old male research physician accidentally received a minor wound from a needle which had been previously used on Rabbit tissue. Within 15 minutes serious anaphylactic reactions started and he was taken to hospital, where his condition stabilised within 5 hours. Serum immuno-globulin E antibodies to Rabbit epithelium were high (16.2 U/ml) (15).

Other reactions

Papular urticaria may result from contact with the Rabbit fur mite or Cat flea that may be found on Rabbits (16).

Wild Rabbits are frequently infected with tularemia, which may be transmitted to humans.

See also: Rabbit urine proteins Re211 and Rabbit serum proteins Re206.

e82 Rabbit epithelium

- Ohman JL, Lowell FC, Block KJ. Allergens of mammalian origin. II. Characterization of allergens extracted from rat, mouse, guinea pig and rabbit pelts.
 J Allergy Clin Immunol 1975;55:16-24
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- 3. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Warner JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits. III. Further identification and characterisation of rabbit allergens. Allergy 1991;46(7):481-91
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits.

 Specificity and non-specificity of RAST and crossed-radioimmunoelectrophoresis due to the presence of light chains in rabbit allergenic extracts. Allergy 1986;41:603-12
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits. II. Identification and characterization of a major rabbit allergen. Allergy 1988;43:39-48
- Baker J, Berry A, Boscato LM, Gordon S, Walsh BJ, Stuart MC. Identification of some rabbit allergens as lipocalins. Clin Exp Allergy 2001;31(2):303-12
- Wolfle T, Bush RK. The Science and Pervasiveness of Laboratory Animal Allergy ILAR 2001;42(1):1-3
- Bland SM, Evens R III, Rivera JC. Allergy to laboratory animals in health care personnel. Occup Med 1987;2:525-546
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Palczynski C, Gorski P. Laboratory animals as a cause of occupational allergy. [Polish] Med Pr 1996;47(5):523-31
- Desjardins A, Benoit C, Ghezzo H, L'Archeveque J, Leblanc C, Paquette L, Cartier A, Malo JL. Exposure to domestic animals and risk of immunologic sensitization in subjects with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;91(5):979-86
- Lelong M, Bras C, Thelliez P, Drain JP. Does the allergic child become sensitized to small domestic mammals (guinea pig, hamster, rabbit?). [French] Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1990;22(1):23-5
- Prince E, Zacharisen MC, Kurup VP. Anaphylaxis to rabbit: a case report. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1998;81(3):272-3
- Watt AD, McSharry CP. Laboratory animal allergy: anaphylaxis from a needle injury. Occup Environ Med 1996;53(8):573-4
- Burns DA. Papular urticaria produced by the mite *Listrophorus gibbus*. Clin Exp Dermatol 1987;12(3):200-1

Re206 Rabbit, serum proteins

Oryctolagus cuniculus

Family: Common names: Leporidae

Rabbit, Common European rabbit, Domestic rabbit

The New World genus *Sylvilagus* includes the many species of Cottontail rabbit, which resemble the European rabbit in appearance. The North American species called Jackrabbit are actually Hares (having longer ears and legs, and giving birth to already furred and open-eyed young), as is the Snowshoe rabbit. The domesticated socalled Belgian hare, on the other hand, is a Rabbit.

Source

material: See also:

Serum Rabbit epithelium e82 and Rabbit urine proteins Re211

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Common European rabbit is native to Southern Europe and Africa, but is now found, in its domestic varieties, throughout the world; wild varieties have also been introduced in some places, such as England. All Domestic rabbits belong to this species. They may be various colours but are commonly white, and are bred for food and for their fur, which is often used in making fur trim and felt. They are also frequently used as laboratory animals and are kept as pets. Wild rabbits feed on a wide variety of vegetation and are responsible in many areas for the stunted nature of the ground cover.

Environment

See under Geographical distribution.



Allergens

Several allergens have been identified in Rabbit saliva, fur, urine, dander and dust, but most have not been fully characterised yet. Serum albumin may be of minor allergenic importance (1-4).

Serum-specific IgE results suggest that saliva is the most potent extract. Overall, 26 protein bands are recognised as allergens. Saliva has 12, urine 7 and fur 7. Molecular weights varied from 8 kDa in saliva to 80 kDa in urine. An 18 kDa and 21 kDa protein were recognised as lipocalins. Saliva appears to contain the most potent allergen, which probably has a high homology with a 21 kDa lipocalin-odorant binding protein from Rabbit nasal mucosa (5,6-7).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Of the 90,000 laboratory animal workers in the United States, between 21% and 46% develop allergy to laboratory animals. Of those who develop symptoms, more than

Re206 Rabbit, serum proteins

10% eventually develop occupation-related asthma, with symptoms that persist even after exposure ceases (6,8-9). These individuals are susceptible to life-threatening (but rare) anaphylactic reactions following animal bites and scratches and pricking with needles contaminated with the animal proteins (8). Many animals associated with laboratories may actually be adopted as pets, resulting in allergies in their owners and owners' family members.

Allergy to animals may range from allergic rhinitis to allergic conjunctivitis to dermatitis to severe asthma. These may result from inhalation of or contact with the animal's dander, epithelium cells, urine, saliva, serum or hair. Most animals shed allergens through these substances, but not all species or strains do so equally. Different routes of exposure, e.g., respiratory, oral, mucosal and transdermal, elicit different symptoms.

A large study of laboratory animal workers in Japan recorded that symptoms were reported in 26% of workers exposed to Mice, 25% for Rats, 31% for Guinea pigs, 30% for Rabbits. 26% for Hamsters. 30% for Cats, 25% for Dogs and 24% for Monkeys. About 70% of laboratory animal allergy (LAA) subjects developed symptoms during their first three years of exposure. A close relation between nasal symptoms and exposure to Rabbits and between skin symptoms and exposure to Rats was found. LAA subjects developed symptoms most quickly to Rabbits (10). The commonest symptom is allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, sneezing and itchy, watery eyes, which can occur in up to 80% of symptomatic workers (5).

While Rabbits are common as pets, severe allergic reactions to domestic Rabbits in homes are unusual. Typically, allergic manifestations are mild to moderate allergic rhinitis, conjunctivitis, pruritus and/or asthma, contact urticaria and contact dermatitis in laboratory animal caretakers with frequent exposure (4,11-12). In a study of atopic children with contact with pets, 18% were sensitised to Rabbit and 12.3% showed clinical signs in the animals presence (13). Cumulative duration of exposure to domestic animals is a significant determinant for immediate sensitisation to animal-derived antigens in subjects with asthma (12).

Other reactions

See also: Rabbit epithelium e82 and Rabbit urine proteins Re211.

- Warner JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits. III. Further identification and characterisation of rabbit allergens. Allergy 1991;46(7):481-91
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits.

 Specificity and non-specificity of RAST and crossed-radioimmunoelectrophoresis due to the presence of light chains in rabbit allergenic extracts. Allergy 1986;41:603-12
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits. II. Identification and characterization of a major rabbit allergen. Allergy 1988;43:39-48
- Ohman JL, Lowell FC, Block KJ. Allergens of mammalian origin. II. Characterization of allergens extracted from rat, mouse, guinea pig and rabbit pelts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1975;55:16-24
- 5. Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy
- J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112 6. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens.
- ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Baker J, Berry A, Boscato LM, Gordon S, Walsh BJ, Stuart MC. Identification of some rabbit allergens as lipocalins. Clin Exp Allergy 2001;31(2):303-12
- 8. Wolfle T, Bush RK. The Science and Pervasiveness of Laboratory Animal Allergy ILAR 2001;42(1):1-3
- 9. Bland SM, Evens R III, Rivera JC. Allergy to laboratory animals in health care personnel. Occup Med 1987;2:525-546
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Palczynski C, Gorski P. Laboratory animals as a cause of occupational allergy. [Polish] Med Pr 1996;47(5):523-31
- Desjardins A, Benoit C, Ghezzo H, L'Archeveque J, Leblanc C, Paquette L, Cartier A, Malo JL. Exposure to domestic animals and risk of immunologic sensitization in subjects with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;91(5):979-86
- Lelong M, Bras C, Thelliez P, Drain JP. Does the allergic child become sensitized to small domestic mammals (guinea pig, hamster, rabbit?). [French] Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1990;22(1):23-5

Re211 Rabbit, urine proteins

Oryctolagus cuniculus

Family: Common names: Leporidae

Rabbit, Common European rabbit, Domestic rabbit

The New World genus *Sylvilagus* includes the many species of Cottontail rabbit, which resemble the European rabbit in appearance. The North American species called Jackrabbit are actually Hares (having longer ears and legs, and giving birth to already furred and open-eyed young), as is the Snowshoe rabbit. The domesticated socalled Belgian hare, on the other hand, is a Rabbit.

Source

material: Urine See also: Rabbit and Ra

Rabbit epithelium e82 and Rabbit serum proteins Re206

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens may be major components in house dust or laboratory dust.



Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Common European rabbit is native to Southern Europe and Africa, but is now found, in its domestic varieties, throughout the world; wild varieties have also been introduced in some places, such as England. All Domestic rabbits, belong to this species. They may be various colours but are commonly white, and are bred for food and for their fur, which is often used in making fur trim and felt. They are also frequently used as laboratory animals and are kept as pets. Wild rabbits feed on a wide variety of vegetation and are responsible in many areas for the stunted nature of the ground cover.

Environment

See under Geographical distribution.

Allergens

Several allergens have been identified in Rabbit saliva, fur, urine, dander and dust, but most have not been fully characterized yet (1-4).

Ory c 2, found in hair, dander and urine (5-6).

Serum-specific IgE results suggest that epithelium has different allergens from those in saliva, urine and fur. Saliva is the most potent extract. Overall, 26 protein bands are recognised as allergens. Saliva has 12, urine 7 and fur 7. Molecular weights varied from 8 kDa in saliva to 80 kDa in urine. An 18 kDa and 21 kDa protein were shown to belong to the lipocalin family. Saliva appears to contain the most potent allergen, which probably has a high homology with a 21 kDa lipocalin-odorant binding protein from Rabbit nasal mucosa (5-7).

Re211 Rabbit, urine proteins

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Of the 90,000 laboratory animal workers in the United States, between 21% and 46% develop allergy to laboratory animals. Of those who develop symptoms, more than 10% eventually develop occupation-related asthma with symptoms that persist even after exposure ceases (6,8-9). These individuals are susceptible to life-threatening (but rare) anaphylactic reactions following animal bites and scratches and pricking with needles contaminated with the animal proteins (8). Many animals associated with laboratories may actually be adopted as pets, resulting in allergies in their owners and other family members.

Allergy to animals may range from allergic rhinitis to allergic conjunctivitis to dermatitis to severe asthma. These may result from the inhalation of or contact with the animal's dander, epithelium cells, urine, saliva, serum or hair. Most animals shed allergens through these substances, but not all species or strains do so equally. Different routes of exposure, e.g., respiratory, oral, mucosal and transdermal, elicit different symptoms.

A large study of laboratory animal workers in Japan recorded that symptoms were reported in 26% of workers exposed to Mice, 25% for Rats, 31% for Guinea pigs, 30% for Rabbits, 26% for Hamsters, 30% for Cats, 25% for Dogs and 24% for Monkeys. About 70% of laboratory animal allergy (LAA) subjects developed symptoms during their first three years of exposure. A close relation between nasal symptoms and exposure to Rabbits, and between skin symptoms and exposure to Rats, were found. LAA subjects developed symptoms most quickly to Rabbits (10). The commonest symptom is allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with nasal congestion, rhinorrhoea, sneezing and itchy, watery eyes, which can occur in up to 80% of symptomatic workers (5).

While Rabbits are common as pets, severe allergic reactions to Domestic rabbits in homes are unusual. Typically, allergic manifestations are mild to moderate allergic rhinitis, conjunctivitis, pruritus and/or asthma, contact urticaria and contact dermatitis in laboratory animal caretakers with frequent exposure (4,11-12). In a study of atopic children with contact with pets, 18% were sensitised to Rabbit and 12.3% showed clinical signs in the animal's presence (13). Cumulative duration of exposure to domestic animals is a significant determinant for immediate sensitisation to animalderived antigens in subjects with asthma (12)

In a cross-sectional survey carried out on 138 workers exposed to laboratory animals, 60 (44%) had symptoms, as shown in a selfcompleted questionnaire, that were consistent with laboratory animal allergy (LAA); of these individuals, 15 (11%) had chest symptoms. There was a positive skinprick test to one or more animal urine extracts (Rat, Mouse, Guinea pig, Rabbit) in 13%, and 38% had a positive specific IgE test to urine extract (14).
- Warner JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits. III. Further identification and characterisation of rabbit allergens. Allergy 1991;46(7):481-91
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits.

 Specificity and non-specificity of RAST and crossed-radioimmunoelectrophoresis due to the presence of light chains in rabbit allergenic extracts. Allergy 1986;41:603-12
- Price JA, Longbottom JL. Allergy to rabbits. II. Identification and characterization of a major rabbit allergen. Allergy 1988;43:39-48
- Ohman JL, Lowell FC, Block KJ. Allergens of mammalian origin. II. Characterization of allergens extracted from rat, mouse, guinea pig and rabbit pelts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1975;55:16-24
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- 6. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Baker J, Berry A, Boscato LM, Gordon S, Walsh BJ, Stuart MC. Identification of some rabbit allergens as lipocalins. Clin Exp Allergy 2001;31(2):303-12
- Wolfle T, Bush RK. The Science and Pervasiveness of Laboratory Animal Allergy ILAR 2001;42(1):1-3
- Bland SM, Evens R III, Rivera JC. Allergy to laboratory animals in health care personnel. Occup Med 1987;2:525-546
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Palczynski C, Gorski P. Laboratory animals as a cause of occupational allergy. [Polish] Med Pr 1996;47(5):523-31
- Desjardins A, Benoit C, Ghezzo H, L'Archeveque J, Leblanc C, Paquette L, Cartier A, Malo JL. Exposure to domestic animals and risk of immunologic sensitization in subjects with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;91(5):979-86
- Lelong M, Bras C, Thelliez P, Drain JP. Does the allergic child become sensitized to small domestic mammals (guinea pig, hamster, rabbit?). [French] Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1990;22(1):23-5
- Venables KM, Tee RD, Hawkins ER, Gordon DJ, Wale CJ, Farrer NM, Lam TH, Baxter PJ, Newman Taylor AJ. Laboratory animal allergy in a pharmaceutical company. Br J Ind Med 1988;45(10):660-6

Rattus norvegicus

	-
Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Rat, Brown rat, House
	rat, Norway rat
Source	
material:	Epithelium
See also:	Rat e87, Rat urine
	proteins e74, and Rat
	serum proteins e75

Selective breeding in this species has produced the albino Laboratory rat, widely used for medical and other research purposes.

House rats comprise two species, *Rattus norvegicus*, the Brown or Norway rat, and *Rattus Rattus*, the Black or Alexandrine rat, which also originated in Asia, spread worldwide by ships, and is a well-known disease carrier, but has been largely displaced in cooler regions by the Brown rat. They are roughly similar in appearance and habits. (The Brown rat is larger, but with a shorter tail and smaller ears, while the dark-grey Black rat is a better climber.)

Besides the House rats, the genus *Rattus* contains several hundred wildliving species. In addition, many other members of the order Rodentia are called Rats: e.g., the Bandicoot rat, the Wood or Pack rat, the Rice rat, the Muskrat, and the Kangaroo rat. Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are

major components of house and laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

This species of Rat is not a native of Norway, as its name suggests. The species originated in Asia, reached Europe early in the eighteenth century and arrived in North America about 1775 on ships from England. Its distribution is now worldwide.



Many consider this Rat to be the greatest mammal pest of all time. It has caused more deaths than all the wars in history. It harbours lice and fleas and has been the source of bubonic plague, typhus, trichina, tularemia, infectious jaundice and other serious diseases. These Rats are usually a contributing factor of first importance in the spread of pandemics during war. They also cause considerable depletion and pollution of human food stores, and damage to buildings and their contents from destructive chewing of wiring, pipes, and walls. But despite human efforts to exterminate Rats, the House rat population is probably equal to the human population.

The Brown rat grows up to 25 cm long, excluding the naked, scaly tail, and sometimes weighs more than half a kilogram. It is commonly brown with whitish underparts and pink ears, feet, and tail. It breeds, and therefore aggressively forages, all year round.

Environment

As small, intelligent, bold, prolifically breeding omnivores, nesting in practically any sort of disused cavity or burrowing in the ground, and adept at swimming, jumping and climbing, Brown rats are highly adaptable and live in a great variety of environments. They may hide in huge numbers in and around human dwellings, especially in cities, towns and their surroundings, There, they live principally in basements, on the ground floor, in subways, and in burrows under sidewalks or outbuildings. They are also frequently found in cultivated fields, grain storage facilities, livestock housing and garbage dumps. Basically, they are at home wherever there is a food source and sufficient cover from predators, and this includes some unexpected places like the salt marshes of the US Atlantic coast, where edible flotsam is washed up on the beaches.

Especially because of the numbers of Rats used in laboratories, allergy to Rats is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Most exposure to Brown rats is unexpected. These secretive, mainly nocturnal animals pass unseen in more or less regular scavenging journeys over a variety of surfaces with which humans have daily contact. Their skin flakes, urine, feces, and saliva are left behind. They have also been known to bite sleepers.

Allergens

Hair and epithelial fragments carry allergenic molecules, which are primarily derived from urine and saliva. Most of the allergenic components of urine and saliva have also been detected in the fur extract. Some of the minor allergens are those antigens which appear to be unique to urine, saliva or the skin, suggesting that sensitisation to Rats can result from exposure to allergenic material from any of these 3 sources. Significant concentrations of airborne rodent allergens have been measured in both laboratories and apartments in inner cities (1-5). Through the study of Rat-allergic patients, at least 23 allergens have been identified in Rat fur. Allergens of molecular weights of 55, 51, 19, and 17 kDa were isolated and determined to be "major" allergens. Other allergens of 74, 67 (probably albumin) and 21.5 (diffuse) kDa molecular weights were also isolated. Fur is the most probable source of the highmolecular-weight allergens found in Rat room dust. There was considerable variation among the Rat-allergic individuals in the binding of IgE to the separated fur and saliva allergens (6).

The number of Rats, Rats' bedding, cage design, and stock density influence the level of aeroallergen concentration and exposure (7). Rat allergen can also be carried on clothes or by wind to distant sites, with traces of Rat urinary aeroallergens measured in tea rooms inside and near offices outside the animal housing (8-9).

The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been measured during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table, and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table. Using ventilated cage-changing wagons has been shown to reduce the allergen exposure level from 77 to 17 ng/m³ (10). Similar results can be expected with Rats. Airborne Rat allergens are particles ranging from 1 to 20 micrometres in size, and can remain airborne for 60 minutes or more after disturbance. Rat allergen exposure levels less than 0.7 μ g/m³ appear not to be associated with an increased risk of occupational asthma (11).

Rat dust is a complex allergenic source and contains allergens from Rats' urine, epithelium and saliva (12).

Potential cross-reactivity

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Rat, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (13). A certain degree of cross-reactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Rat allergens found in dust, urine, epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (14-16).

There is a strong association between work-related symptoms and specific sensitisation (17). Workers exposed to laboratory animals are at risk of developing asthma, rhinitis, angioedema, conjunctivitis, and urticaria. Between 10% and 33% of scientists and technicians handling small animals will develop laboratory animal allergy symptoms within 3 years of employment. Many of them will have severe symptoms requiring a change of occupation (18-21).

In workers exposed to Rats, Rat urinary allergen sensitisation risk increased with increasing exposure intensity. Workers who were atopic had a clearly elevated sensitisation risk at low allergen exposure levels (22). In a cross-sectional study performed on 540 workers at 8 facilities to quantify the exposure-response relationship for allergy to Rats, no clear exposureresponse relationship was observed. However, in the group of workers with less than 4 years of working experience with laboratory animals, the prevalence rate of sensitisation to Rat allergens was clearly associated with exposure levels. The exposure-response relationship was steepest for workers with atopy-associated risk factors, i.e., self-reported allergy or sensitisation to Cats or Dogs, or elevated total serum IgE. The prevalence rates of sensitisation to Rat allergens for these workers were about 15, 9.5, and 7.3 times higher in the high-, medium-, and lowexposure group, respectively, compared with the internal reference group (23).

A large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers reported symptoms in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to monkeys (24). Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to skin- and serum-specific IgE measurement. Of these individuals, 8.3% were sensitised to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (25).

Importantly, children of parents exposed to Mice, Rats and Hamsters in an occupational setting, e.g., a laboratory, were shown to be more likely to have allergic symptoms, and to have significantly more positive skin-specific IgE tests against allergens from the hair of laboratory animals, compared to children of nonexposed parents (26).

- Walls AF, Longbottom JL. Quantitative immunoelectrophoretic analysis of rat allergen extracts. II. Fur, urine and saliva studied by crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis. Allergy 1983;38(7):501-12
- Walls AF, Longbottom JL. Comparison of rat fur, urine, saliva, and other rat allergen extracts by skin testing, RAST, and RAST inhibition. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;75(2):242-51
- Twiggs JT, Agarwal MK, Dahlberg MJE, Yunginger JW. Immunochemical measurement of airborne mouse allergens in a laboratory facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982;69:522-6
- Swanson MC, Agarwwal MK, Reed CE. An immunochemical approach to indoor aeroallergen quantitation with a new volumetric air sampler: studies with mite, roach, cat, mouse and guinea pig antigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76:724-9
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H *et al.* Evaluation of countermeasures for reduction of mouse airborne allergens. Laboratory Animal Science 1990;40:613
- 6. Gordon S, Tee RD, Stuart MC, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of allergens in rat fur and saliva. Allergy 2001;56(6):563-7
- Taylor AJ, Gordon S, Tee RD. Influence of bedding, cage design, and stock density on rat urinary aeroallergen levels. Am J Ind Med 1994;25(1):89
- Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Exposure to dust and rat urinary aeroallergens in research establishments. Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):593-6

- Gordon S, Tee RD, Lowson D, Wallace J, Newman Taylor AJ. Reduction of airborne allergenic urinary proteins from laboratory rats. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(6):416-22
- Thulin H, Bjorkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Baur X, Chen Z, Liebers V. Exposure-response relationships of occupational inhalative allergens. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(5):537-44
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of the allergenic composition of rat dust. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26(5):533-41
- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Moller NE, Wurden KV. Allergy to laboratory rats. [Danish] Ugeskr Laeger 1984;146(49):3869-72
- Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74
- 16. Platts-Mills TA, Longbottom J, Edwards J, Heymann PW. Asthma and rhinitis related to laboratory rats: use of a purified rat urinary allergen to study exposure in laboratories and the human immune response. N Engl Reg Allergy Proc 1987;8(4):245-51
- Cullinan P, Lowson D, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Work related symptoms, sensitisation, and estimated exposure in workers not previously exposed to laboratory rats.

Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):589-92

 Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of the allergenic composition of rat dust. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26(5):533-41

- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Brunekreef B. Work-related changes in peak expiratory flow among laboratory animal workers. Eur Respir J 1998;11(4):929-36
- Hesford JD, Platts-Mills TA, Edlich RF. Anaphylaxis after laboratory rat bite: an occupational hazard. J Emerg Med 1995;13(6):765-8
- 22. Heederik D, Venables KM, Malmberg P, Hollander A, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A, Doekes G, Nieuwenhijsen M, Gordon S. Exposure-response relationships for workrelated sensitization in workers exposed to rat urinary allergens: results from a pooled study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(4):678-84
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G. Respiratory allergy to rats: exposure-response relationships in laboratory animal workers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155(2):562-7
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Gorski P. Allergy to laboratory animals in children of parents occupationally exposed to mice, rats and hamsters. Eur Respir J 1999;14(2):352-6

Rattus norvegicus

Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Rat, Brown rat, House rat, Norway rat
Source	
material:	Epithelium, serum and urine
See also:	Rat epithelium e73, Rat urine proteins e74, and Rat serum proteins e75

Selective breeding in this species has produced the albino Laboratory rat, widely used for medical and other research purposes.

House rats comprise two species, *Rattus norvegicus*, the Brown or Norway rat, and *Rattus Rattus*, the Black or Alexandrine rat, which also originated in Asia, spread worldwide by ships, and is a well-known disease carrier, but has been largely displaced in cooler regions by the Brown rat. They are roughly similar in appearance and habits. (The Brown rat is larger, but with a shorter tail and smaller ears, while the dark-grey Black rat is a better climber.)

Besides the House rats, the genus *Rattus* contains several hundred wildliving species. In addition, many other members of the order Rodentia are called Rats: e.g., the Bandicoot rat, the Wood or Pack rat, the Rice rat, the Muskrat, and the Kangaroo rat.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house and laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

This species of Rat is not a native of Norway, as its name suggests. The species originated in Asia, reached Europe early in the eighteenth century and arrived in North America about 1775 on ships from England. Its distribution is now worldwide.



Many consider this Rat to be the greatest mammal pest of all time. It has caused more deaths than all the wars in history. It harbours lice and fleas and has been the source of bubonic plague, typhus, trichina, tularemia, infectious jaundice and other serious diseases. These Rats are usually a contributing factor of first importance in the spread of pandemics during war. They also cause considerable depletion and pollution of human food stores, and damage to buildings and their contents from destructive chewing of wiring, pipes, and walls. But despite human efforts to exterminate Rats, the House rat population is probably equal to the human population.

The Brown rat grows up to 25 cm long excluding the naked, scaly tail, and sometimes weighs more than half a kilogram. It is commonly brown with whitish underparts and pink ears, feet, and tail. It breeds, and therefore aggressively forages, all year round.

Environment

As small, intelligent, bold, prolifically breeding omnivores, nesting in practically any sort of disused cavity or burrowing in the ground, and adept at swimming, jumping and climbing, Brown rats are highly adaptable and live in a great variety of environments. They may hide in huge numbers in and around human dwellings, especially in cities, towns and their surroundings, There, they live principally in basements, on the ground floor, in subways, and in burrows under sidewalks or outbuildings. They are also frequently found in cultivated fields, grain storage facilities, livestock housing and garbage dumps. Basically, they are at home wherever there is a food source and sufficient cover from predators, and this includes some unexpected places like the salt marshes of the US Atlantic coast, where edible flotsam is washed up on the beaches.

Especially because of the numbers of Rats used in laboratories, allergy to Rats is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Most exposure to Brown rats is unexpected. These secretive, mainly nocturnal animals pass unseen in more or less regular scavenging journeys over a variety of surfaces with which humans have daily contact. Their skin flakes, urine, feces, and saliva are left behind. They have also been known to bite sleepers.

Allergens

Rat dust is a complex allergenic source and contains allergens from Rats' urine, epithelium and saliva (1).

Allergens characterized to date include:

Rat n 1, a 17 kDa protein (1-4).

Rat n 1.01.

Rat n 1.02, a major allergen, a 17 kDa protein (also called alpha 2u-globulin).

Rat n 1A (previously known as Ag4), a 20-21 kDa protein, and Rat n 1B (previously known as Ag13), a 16-17 kDa sized protein, are both variants of the same protein. These allergens are found in hair, dander, urine and saliva (4-6).

Rat n 1A is a prealbumin. Rat n 1B is an alpha-2-eu-globulin and primarily a male Rat allergen (6).

Rat n 1.01 and Rat n 1.02 are lipocalins (lipocalin-pheromone binding proteins) (7).

Rat urine has been identified as a major source of the allergens in laboratory animal allergy. The age and sex of the Rat can influence the allergenic composition of the urine (1,8). Male rodents excrete higher levels of urinary allergens than female rodents (9).

Rodents have permanent proteinuria, and thus the allergen is constantly present in their urine. They spray urine on their surroundings, where the proteins dry up and become airborne on dust particles.

Hair and epithelial fragments also carry allergenic molecules, which are primarily derived from urine and saliva. Most of the allergenic components of urine and saliva have also been detected in the fur extract. Some of the minor allergens are those antigens which appear to be unique to urine, saliva or the skin, suggesting that sensitisation to Rats can result from exposure to allergenic material from all 3 of these sources. Significant concentrations of airborne rodent allergens have been measured in both laboratories and apartments in inner cities (10-14).

Through the study of Rat-allergic patients, at least 23 allergens have been identified in Rat fur. Allergens of molecular weights of 55, 51, 19, and 17 kDa were isolated and determined to be "major" allergens. Other allergens of 74, 67 (probably albumin) and 21.5 (diffuse) kDa molecular weights were also isolated. Salivary allergens were 17 in number, with "major" allergens of the sizes 21.5, 19.5, 19, 18, and 17.5 kDa. Many Rat-allergic subjects had serum-specific IgE to the 67 kDa (56%) and 43 kDa (64%) allergens. The most important salivary allergens have molecular weights of less than 22 kDa. Fur is the most probable source of the high-

molecular-weight allergens found in Rat room dust. There was considerable variation among the Rat-allergic individuals in the binding of IgE to the separated fur and saliva allergens (8).

In serum, 75 kDa and 68 kDa serum protein allergens have been isolated, the former probably serum albumin and the latter probably transferrin. These proteins are also present in Rat urine (15). The prevalence of specific IgE in Rat-allergic patients to the 68 kDa (albumin) allergen is between 24% and 28.9% (16-18).

Prealbumin and alpha(2)-euglobulin (as these were previously termed), detected in Rat urine, are highly homologous and have now been identified as alpha(2)-globulin species. The "prealbumin" fraction corresponds to alpha(2u)-globulin originating from the salivary gland, and the "alpha(2)-euglobulin" fraction has been shown to be identical to the major urinary protein (MUP) or alpha(2u)-globulin. The two major protein fractions of Rat urine thus appear to constitute different forms of the same parent protein, alpha(2u)-globulin. These allergens are found mainly in adult male Rats. Rat n 1B is produced in the liver. where it is androgen-dependant, and in the salivary, mammary and other exocrine glands, where its production is not androgen dependant (7).

The number of Rats, Rats' bedding, cage design, and stock density influence the level of aeroallergen concentration and exposure (19). Rat allergen can also be carried on clothes or by wind to distant sites, with traces of Rat urinary aeroallergens measured in tea rooms inside and near offices outside the animal housing (20-21).

The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been measured during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table, and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table. Using ventilated cage-changing wagons has been shown to reduce the allergen exposure level from 77 to 17 ng/m³ (22). Similar results can be expected with Rats. Airborne Rat allergens are particles ranging from 1 to 20 micrometres in size, and can remain airborne for 60 minutes or more after disturbance. Rat allergen exposure levels less than 0.7 μ g/m³ appear not to be associated with an increased risk of occupational asthma (23). More intense exposure to airborne Rat n 1 and endotoxin occurs not only during cleaning, but also during feeding tasks, probably because the allergens become airborne during the disturbance (24).

The 17 kDa dust allergen has immunological identity with Rat n 1 and is a suitable marker protein for the quantification of airborne Rat allergen (1).

Potential cross-reactivity

In IgE immunoblot inhibition studies and histamine release tests, it has been demonstrated that patients who react to Dog albumin exhibit IgE reactivity with purified albumins from Cat, Mouse, Chicken, and Rat. Significant sequence homologies have been demonstrated with albumins from different species: Human: 82.6%, Pig: 81.8%, Cattle: 77.3%, Sheep: 78.8%, Mouse: 75.8%, and Rat: 76.2% (25).

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Rat, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (26). A certain degree of cross-reactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Rat allergens found in dust, urine, epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (27-29).

There is a strong association between work-related symptoms and specific sensitisation (30). Workers exposed to laboratory animals are at risk of developing asthma, rhinitis, angioedema, conjunctivitis, and urticaria. Between 10% and 33% of scientists and technicians handling small

animals will develop laboratory animal allergy symptoms within 3 years of employment. Many of them will have severe symptoms requiring a change of occupation (1,31-33).

In workers exposed to Rats, Rat urinary allergen sensitisation risk increased with increasing exposure intensity. Workers who were atopic had a clearly elevated sensitisation risk at low allergen exposure levels (34). In a cross-sectional study performed on 540 workers at 8 facilities to quantify the exposure-response relationship for allergy to Rats, no clear exposureresponse relationship was observed. However, in the group of workers with less than 4 years of working experience with laboratory animals, the prevalence rate of sensitisation to Rat allergens was clearly associated with exposure levels. The exposure-response relationship was steepest for workers with atopy-associated risk factors, i.e., self-reported allergy or sensitisation to Cats or Dogs, or elevated total serum IgE. The prevalence rates of sensitisation to Rat allergens for these workers were about 15, 9.5, and 7.3 times higher in the high-, medium-, and lowexposure group, respectively, compared with the internal reference group (35).

A large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers reported symptoms in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea Pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to monkeys (36).

Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to skin- and serum-specific IgE measurement. Of these individuals, 8.3% were sensitized to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (37).

Importantly, children of parents exposed to Mice, Rats and Hamsters in an occupational setting, e.g., a laboratory, were shown to be more likely to have allergic symptoms, and to have significantly more positive skin-prick tests against allergens from the hair of laboratory animals, compared to children of non-exposed parents (38).

In a study evaluating the risk of laboratory animal allergy among research staff working in laboratories separate from the animal confinement area, 20% of the subjects had serum-specific IgE >0.35 kU/l to Rat urinary allergens and/or Mouse urinary allergens, and 32% had experienced animal work-related symptoms, although 90% of aeroallergen samples from the laboratories in question were below the detection limit. More than 4 years of exposure significantly increased laboratory animal sensitisation and symptoms. Working mainly with male rodents resulted in increased risk for sensitisation and for symptoms (9).

The suitability of radioallergosorbent test (RAST) inhibition to quantify occupational exposure to Rat urinary aeroallergen (RUA) has been assessed. The authors conclude that, in view of the complexity of Rat allergens, RAST inhibition is an appropriate method for the quantification of occupational exposure to Rats (39).

Anaphylaxis following a Rat bite in a laboratory setting has been described and is clearly an occupational hazard (33).

- Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of the allergenic composition of rat dust. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26(5):533-41
- Longbottom, J. L. Chracterization of allergens from the urines of experimental animals. McMillan Press, London 1983;525-529
- Laperche, Y., K. R. Lynch, K. P. Dolans, and P. Feigelsen. Tissue-specific control of alpha 2u globulin gene expression: constitutive synthesis in submaxillary gland. Cell 1983;32:453-460
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- Spitzauer S. Allergy to mammalian proteins: at the borderline between foreign and self? Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1999;120(4):259-69
- 6. Schou C. Defining allergens of mammalian origin. Clin Exp Allergy 1993;23:7-14
- Bayard C, Holmquist L, Vesterberg O. Purification and identification of allergenic alpha (2u)-globulin species of rat urine. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1290(2):129-34
- 8. Gordon S, Tee RD, Stuart MC, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of allergens in rat fur and saliva. Allergy 2001;56(6):563-7
- Renstrom A, Karlsson AS, Malmberg P, Larsson PH, van Hage-Hamsten M. Working with male rodents may increase risk of allergy to laboratory animals. Allergy 2001;56(10):964-70
- Walls AF, Longbottom JL. Quantitative immunoelectrophoretic analysis of rat allergen extracts. II. Fur, urine and saliva studied by crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis. Allergy 1983;38(7):501-12
- Walls AF, Longbottom JL. Comparison of rat fur, urine, saliva, and other rat allergen extracts by skin testing, RAST, and RAST inhibition. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;75(2):242-51
- Twiggs JT, Agarwal MK, Dahlberg MJE, Yunginger JW. Immunochemical measurement of airborne mouse allergens in a laboratory facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982;69:522-6
- Swanson MC, Agarwwal MK, Reed CE. An immunochemical approach to indoor aeroallergen quantitation with a new volumetric air sampler: studies with mite, roach, cat, mouse and guinea pig antigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76:724-9
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H et al. Evaluation of countermeasures for reduction of mouse airborne allergens. Laboratory Animal Science 1990;40:613
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Taylor AJ. Analysis of rat serum allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99(5):716-7

- Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of rat urine proteins and allergens by sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel eletrophoresis and immunoblotting. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;92:298-305
- Wahn U, Peters T, Siraganian RP. Studies on the allergenic significance and structure of rat serum albumin. J Immunol 1980;125:2544-9
- 18. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Taylor AJ, Gordon S, Tee RD. Influence of bedding, cage design, and stock density on rat urinary aeroallergen levels. Am J Ind Med 1994;25(1):89
- Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Exposure to dust and rat urinary aeroallergens in research establishments. Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):593-6
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Lowson D, Wallace J, Newman Taylor AJ. Reduction of airborne allergenic urinary proteins from laboratory rats. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(6):416-22
- Thulin H, Bjorkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Baur X, Chen Z, Liebers V. Exposure-response relationships of occupational inhalative allergens. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(5):537-44
- 24. Lieutier-Colas F, Meyer P, Larsson P, Malmberg P, Frossard N, Pauli G, de Blay F. Difference in exposure to airborne major rat allergen (Rat n 1) and to endotoxin in rat quarters according to tasks. Clin Exp Allergy 2001;31(9):1449-56
- 25. Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P, Muhl S, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H et al. Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a cross-reactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27
- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Moller NE, Wurden KV. Allergy to laboratory rats. [Danish] Ugeskr Laeger 1984;146(49):3869-72
- Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74
- Platts-Mills TA, Longbottom J, Edwards J, Heymann PW. Asthma and rhinitis related to laboratory rats: use of a purified rat urinary allergen to study exposure in laboratories and the human immune response. N Engl Reg Allergy Proc 1987;8(4):245-51

 Cullinan P, Lowson D, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Work related symptoms, sensitisation, and estimated exposure in workers not previously exposed to laboratory rats.

Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):589-92

- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Brunekreef B. Work-related changes in peak expiratory flow among laboratory animal workers. Eur Respir J 1998;11(4):929-36
- Hesford JD, Platts-Mills TA, Edlich RF. Anaphylaxis after laboratory rat bite: an occupational hazard. J Emerg Med 1995;13(6):765-8
- 34. Heederik D, Venables KM, Malmberg P, Hollander A, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A, Doekes G, Nieuwenhijsen M, Gordon S. Exposure-response relationships for workrelated sensitization in workers exposed to rat urinary allergens: results from a pooled study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(4):678-84
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G. Respiratory allergy to rats: exposure-response relationships in laboratory animal workers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155(2):562-7
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Krakowiak A, Szulc B, Gorski P. Allergy to laboratory animals in children of parents occupationally exposed to mice, rats and hamsters. Eur Respir J 1999;14(2):352-6
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Lowson D, Harris J, Newman Taylor AJ. Measurement of airborne rat urinary allergen in an epidemiological study. Clin Exp Allergy 1994;24(11):1070-7

e75 Rat serum proteins

Rattus norvegicus

	-
Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Rat, Brown rat, House
	rat, Norway rat
Source	
material:	Serum
See also:	Rat e87, Rat
	epithelium e73, and
	Rat urine proteins e74

Selective breeding in this species has produced the albino Laboratory rat, widely used for medical and other research purposes.

House rats comprise two species, *Rattus norvegicus*, the Brown or Norway rat, and *Rattus Rattus*, the Black or Alexandrine rat, which also originated in Asia, spread worldwide by ships, and is a well-known disease carrier, but has been largely displaced in cooler regions by the Brown rat. They are roughly similar in appearance and habits. (The Brown rat is larger, but with a shorter tail and smaller ears, while the dark-grey Black rat is a better climber.)

Besides the House rats, the genus *Rattus* contains several hundred wildliving species. In addition, many other members of the order Rodentia are called Rats: e.g., the Bandicoot rat, the Wood or Pack rat, the Rice rat, the Muskrat, and the Kangaroo rat.

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house and laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

This species of Rat is not a native of Norway, as its name suggests. The species originated in Asia, reached Europe early in the eighteenth century and arrived in North America about 1775 on ships from England. Its distribution is now worldwide.



Many consider this Rat to be the greatest mammal pest of all time. It has caused more deaths than all the wars in history. It harbours lice and fleas and has been the source of bubonic plague, typhus, trichina, tularemia, infectious jaundice and other serious diseases. These Rats are usually a contributing factor of first importance in the spread of pandemics during war. They also cause considerable depletion and pollution of human food stores, and damage to buildings and their contents from destructive chewing of wiring, pipes, and walls. But despite human efforts to exterminate Rats, the House Rat population is probably equal to the human population.

The Brown rat grows up to 25 cm long excluding the naked, scaly tail, and sometimes weighs more than half a kilogram. It is commonly brown with whitish underparts and pink ears, feet, and tail. It breeds, and therefore aggressively forages, all year round.

Environment

As small, intelligent, bold, prolifically breeding omnivores, nesting in practically any sort of disused cavity or burrowing in the ground, and adept at swimming, jumping and climbing, Brown rats are highly adaptable and live in a great variety of

e75 Rat serum proteins

environments. They may hide in huge numbers in and around human dwellings, especially in cities, towns and their surroundings, There, they live principally in basements, on the ground floor, in subways, and in burrows under sidewalks or outbuildings. They are also frequently found in cultivated fields, grain storage facilities, livestock housing and garbage dumps. Basically, they are at home wherever there is a food source and sufficient cover from predators, and this includes some unexpected places like the salt marshes of the US Atlantic coast, where edible flotsam is washed up on the beaches.

Especially because of the numbers of Rats used in laboratories, allergy to Rats is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Most exposure to Brown rats is unexpected. These secretive, mainly nocturnal animals pass unseen in more or less regular scavenging journeys over a variety of surfaces with which humans have daily contact. Their skin flakes, urine, feces, and saliva are left behind. They have also been known to bite sleepers.

Allergens

In serum, 75 kDa and 68 kDa serum protein allergens have been isolated, the former probably serum albumin and the latter probably transferrin. These proteins are also present in Rat urine (1). The prevalence of specific IgE in Rat-allergic patients to the 68 kDa (albumin) allergen is between 24% and 28.9% (2-4).

The number of Rats, Rats' bedding, cage design, and stock density influence the level of aeroallergen concentration and exposure (5). Rat allergen can also be carried on clothes or by wind to distant sites, with traces of Rat urinary aeroallergens measured in tea rooms inside and near offices outside the animal housing (6-7).

The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been measured during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table, and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table. Using ventilated cage-changing wagons has been shown to reduce the allergen exposure level from 77 to 17 ng/m³ (8). Similar results can be expected with Rats. Airborne Rat allergens are particles ranging from 1 to 20 micrometres in size, and can remain airborne for 60 minutes or more after disturbance. Rat allergen exposure levels less than 0.7 microg/m³ appear not to be associated with an increased risk of occupational asthma (9). More intense exposure to airborne Rat n 1 and endotoxin occurs not only during cleaning, but also during feeding tasks, probably because the allergens become airborne during the disturbance (10).

Rat dust is a complex allergenic source and contains allergens from Rats' urine (containing serum proteins), epithelium and saliva (11).

Potential cross-reactivity

In IgE immunoblot inhibition studies and histamine release tests, it has been demonstrated that patients who react to Dog albumin exhibit IgE reactivity with purified albumins from Cat, Mouse, Chicken, and Rat. Significant sequence homologies have been demonstrated with albumins from different species: Human: 82.6%, Pig: 81.8%, Cattle: 77.3%, Sheep: 78.8%, Mouse: 75.8%, and Rat: 76.2% (12).

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Rat, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (13). A certain degree of cross-reactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Rat allergens found in dust, urine (containing serum proteins), epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (14-16).

There is a strong association between work-related symptoms and specific sensitisation (17). Workers exposed to laboratory animals are at risk of developing asthma, rhinitis, angioedema, conjunctivitis, and urticaria. Between 10% and 33% of scientists and technicians handling small animals will develop laboratory animal allergy symptoms within 3 years of employment. Many of them will have severe symptoms requiring a change of occupation (11,18-20).

In workers exposed to Rats, Rat urinary allergen sensitisation risk increased with increasing exposure intensity. Workers who were atopic had a clearly elevated sensitisation risk at low allergen exposure levels (21). In a cross-sectional study performed on 540 workers at 8 facilities to quantify the exposure-response relationship for allergy to Rats, no clear exposureresponse relationship was observed. However, in the group of workers with less than 4 years of working experience with laboratory animals, the prevalence rate of sensitisation to Rat allergens was clearly associated with exposure levels. The exposure-response relationship was steepest for workers with atopy-associated risk factors, i.e., self-reported allergy or sensitisation to Cats or Dogs, or elevated total serum IgE. The prevalence rates of sensitisation to Rat allergens for these workers were about 15, 9.5, and 7.3 times higher in the high-, medium-, and lowexposure group, respectively, compared with the internal reference group (22).

A large epidemiological study of 5,000 laboratory workers reported symptoms in 26% exposed to Mice, 25% to Rats, 31% to Guinea Pigs, 30% to Rabbits, 26% to Hamsters, 25% to Dogs, 30% to Cats and 24% to monkeys (23).

Two hundred and sixty-three United Arab Emirates nationals with a respiratory disease suspected of being of allergic origin were submitted to skin- and serum-specific IgE measurement. Of these individuals, 8.3% were sensitised to Cat fur, 4.9% to Goat hair, and 0.7% to Rat hair and Mouse hair (24). The suitability of radioallergosorbent test (RAST) inhibition to quantify occupational exposure to Rat urinary aeroallergen (RUA) has been assessed. The authors conclude that, in view of the complexity of Rat allergens, RAST inhibition is an appropriate method for the quantification of occupational exposure to Rats (25).

- Gordon S, Tee RD, Taylor AJ. Analysis of rat serum allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99(5):716-7
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of rat urine proteins and allergens by sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel eletrophoresis and immunoblotting. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;92:298-305
- Wahn U, Peters T, Siraganian RP. Studies on the allergenic significance and structure of rat serum albumin. J Immunol 1980;125:2544-9
- 4. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Taylor AJ, Gordon S, Tee RD. Influence of bedding, cage design, and stock density on rat urinary aeroallergen levels. Am J Ind Med 1994;25(1):89
- Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Exposure to dust and rat urinary aeroallergens in research establishments. Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):593-6
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Lowson D, Wallace J, Newman Taylor AJ. Reduction of airborne allergenic urinary proteins from laboratory rats. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(6):416-22
- Thulin H, Bjorkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Baur X, Chen Z, Liebers V. Exposure-response relationships of occupational inhalative allergens. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(5):537-44
- Lieutier-Colas F, Meyer P, Larsson P, Malmberg P, Frossard N, Pauli G, de Blay F. Difference in exposure to airborne major rat allergen (Rat n 1) and to endotoxin in rat quarters according to tasks. Clin Exp Allergy 2001;31(9):1449-56
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of the allergenic composition of rat dust. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26(5):533-41
- Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P, Muhl S, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H *et al.* Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a cross-reactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27

e75 Rat serum proteins

- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Moller NE, Wurden KV. Allergy to laboratory rats. [Danish] Ugeskr Laeger 1984;146(49):3869-72
- Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74
- 16. Platts-Mills TA, Longbottom J, Edwards J, Heymann PW. Asthma and rhinitis related to laboratory rats: use of a purified rat urinary allergen to study exposure in laboratories and the human immune response. N Engl Reg Allergy Proc 1987;8(4):245-51
- 17. Cullinan P, Lowson D, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Work related symptoms, sensitisation, and estimated exposure in workers not previously exposed to laboratory rats.

Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):589-92

- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Brunekreef B. Work-related changes in peak expiratory flow among laboratory animal workers. Eur Respir J 1998;11(4):929-36
- Hesford JD, Platts-Mills TA, Edlich RF. Anaphylaxis after laboratory rat bite: an occupational hazard. J Emerg Med 1995;13(6):765-8

- Heederik D, Venables KM, Malmberg P, Hollander A, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A, Doekes G, Nieuwenhijsen M, Gordon S. Exposure-response relationships for workrelated sensitization in workers exposed to rat urinary allergens: results from a pooled study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(4):678-84
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G. Respiratory allergy to rats: exposure-response relationships in laboratory animal workers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155(2):562-7
- Aoyama K, Ueda A, Manda F, Matsushita T, Ueda T, Yamauchi C. Allergy to laboratory animals: an epidemiological study. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(1):41-7
- Lestringant GG, Bener A, Frossard PM, Abdulkhalik S, Bouix G. A clinical study of airborne allergens in the United Arab Emirates. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999;31(8):263-7
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Lowson D, Harris J, Newman Taylor AJ. Measurement of airborne rat urinary allergen in an epidemiological study. C lin Exp Allergy 1994;24(11):1070-7

e74 Rat urine proteins

Rattus norvegicus

	-
Family:	Muridae
Common	
names:	Rat, Brown rat, House rat, Norway rat
Source	
material:	Urine
See also:	Rat e87, Rat
	epithelium e73, and
	Rat serum
	proteins e75

Selective breeding in this species has produced the albino Laboratory rat, widely used for medical and other research purposes.

House Rats comprise two species, *Rattus norvegicus*, the Brown or Norway rat, and *Rattus Rattus*, the Black or Alexandrine rat, which also originated in Asia, spread worldwide by ships, and is a well-known disease carrier, but has been largely displaced in cooler regions by the Brown rat. They are roughly similar in appearance and habits. (The Brown rat is larger, but with a shorter tail and smaller ears, while the dark-grey Black rat is a better climber.)

Besides the House Rats, the genus *Rattus* contains several hundred wildliving species. In addition, many other members of the order Rodentia are called Rats: e.g., the Bandicoot rat, the Wood or Pack rat, the Rice rat, the Muskrat, and the Kangaroo rat. Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of house and laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

This species of Rat is not a native of Norway, as its name suggests. The species originated in Asia, reached Europe early in the eighteenth century and arrived in North America about 1775 on ships from England. Its distribution is now worldwide.



Many consider this Rat to be the greatest mammal pest of all time. It has caused more deaths than all the wars in history. It harbours lice and fleas and has been the source of bubonic plague, typhus, trichina, tularemia, infectious jaundice and other serious diseases. These Rats are usually a contributing factor of first importance in the spread of pandemics during war. They also cause considerable depletion and pollution of human food stores, and damage to buildings and their contents from destructive chewing of wiring, pipes, and walls. But despite human efforts to exterminate Rats, the House rat population is probably equal to the human population.

The Brown rat grows up to 25 cm long excluding the naked, scaly tail, and sometimes weighs more than half a kilogram. It is commonly brown with whitish underparts and pink ears, feet, and tail. It breeds, and therefore aggressively forages, all year round.

e74 Rat urine proteins

Environment

As small, intelligent, bold, prolifically breeding omnivores, nesting in practically any sort of disused cavity or burrowing in the ground, and adept at swimming, jumping and climbing, Brown rats are highly adaptable and live in a great variety of environments. They may hide in huge numbers in and around human dwellings, especially in cities, towns and their surroundings, There, they live principally in basements, on the ground floor, in subways, and in burrows under sidewalks or outbuildings. They are also frequently found in cultivated fields, grain storage facilities, livestock housing and garbage dumps. Basically, they are at home wherever there is a food source and sufficient cover from predators, and this includes some unexpected places like the salt marshes of the US Atlantic coast, where edible flotsam is washed up on the beaches.

Especially because of the numbers of Rats used in laboratories, allergy to Rats is an important occupational health problem.

Unexpected exposure

Most exposure to Brown rats is unexpected. These secretive, mainly nocturnal animals pass unseen in more or less regular scavenging journeys over a variety of surfaces with which humans have daily contact. Their skin flakes, urine, feces, and saliva are left behind. They have also been known to bite sleepers.

Allergens

Allergens characterized to date include:

Rat n 1, a 17 kDa protein (1-3,25).

Rat n 1.01.

Rat n 1.02, a major allergen, a 17 kDa protein (also called alpha 2u-globulin).

Rat n 1A (previously known as Ag4), a 20-21 kDa protein, and Rat n 1B (previously known as Ag13), a 16-17 kDa sized protein, are both variants of the same protein. These allergens are found in hair, dander, urine and saliva (3-5). Rat n 1A is a prealbumin. Rat n 1B is an alpha-2-eu-globulin and primarily a male Rat allergen (5).

Rat n 1.01 and Rat n 1.02 are lipocalins (lipocalin-pheromone binding proteins) (6).

Rat urine has been identified as a major source of the allergens in laboratory animal allergy. The age and sex of the Rat can influence the allergenic composition of the urine (7,25). Male rodents excrete higher levels of urinary allergens than female rodents (8). Rat and mouse urinary allergens are mainly present as large particles (>5.8 microm) (9).

Rodents have permanent proteinuria, and thus the allergen is constantly present in their urine. They spray urine on their surroundings, where the proteins dry up and become airborne on dust particles.

Some of the minor allergens are those antigens which appear to be unique to urine, saliva or the skin, suggesting that sensitisation to Rats can result from exposure to allergenic material from any of these 3 sources. Significant concentrations of airborne rodent allergens have been measured in both laboratories and apartments in inner cities (10-14).

Also isolated from Rat urine are 75 kDa and 68 kDa serum protein allergens, the former probably serum albumin and the latter probably transferrin (15). The prevalence of specific IgE in Rat-allergic patients to the 68 kDa (albumin) allergen is between 24% and 28.9% (16-18).

Prealbumin and alpha(2)-euglobulin (as these were previously termed), detected in Rat urine, are highly homologous and have now been identified as alpha(2)-globulin species. The "prealbumin" fraction corresponds to alpha(2u)-globulin originating from the salivary gland, and the "alpha(2)-euglobulin" fraction has been shown to be identical to the major urinary protein (MUP) or alpha(2u)-globulin. The two major protein fractions of Rat urine thus appear to constitute different forms of the same parent protein, alpha(2u)-globulin. These allergens are found mainly in adult male Rats. Rat n 1B is produced in the liver, where it is and rogen-dependent, and in the

salivary, mammary and other exocrine glands, where its production is not androgen dependant (6).

The number of Rats, Rats' bedding, cage design, and stock density influence the level of aeroallergen concentration and exposure (19). Rat allergen can also be carried on clothes or by wind to distant sites, with traces of Rat urinary aeroallergens measured in tea rooms inside and near offices outside the animal housing (20-21).

The highest airborne Mouse allergen levels have been measured during manual emptying of cages, during changing of cages on an unventilated table, and during handling of male animals on an unventilated table. Using ventilated cage-changing wagons has been shown to reduce the allergen exposure level from 77 to 17 ng/m³ (22). Similar results can be expected with Rats. Airborne Rat allergens are particles ranging from 1 to 20 micrometres in size, and can remain airborne for 60 minutes or more after disturbance. Rat allergen exposure levels less than 0.7 μ g/m³ appear not to be associated with an increased risk of occupational asthma (23). More intense exposure to airborne Rat n 1 and endotoxin occurs not only during cleaning, but also during feeding tasks, probably because the allergens become airborne during the disturbance (24).

Rat dust is a complex allergenic source and contains allergens from Rats' urine, epithelium and saliva. Fur is the most probable source of the high-molecular-weight allergens found in Rat room dust (7,25).

The 17 kDa dust allergen has immunological identity with Rat n 1 and is a suitable marker protein for the quantification of airborne Rat allergen (25).

Potential cross-reactivity

In IgE immunoblot inhibition studies and histamine release tests, it has been demonstrated that patients who react to Dog albumin exhibit IgE reactivity with purified albumins from Cat, Mouse, Chicken, and Rat. Significant sequence homologies have been demonstrated with albumins from different species: Human: 82.6%, Pig: 81.8%, Cattle: 77.3%, Sheep: 78.8%, Mouse: 75.8%, and Rat: 76.2% (26).

Practically all respiratory animal allergens, including Rat, characterised at the molecular level belong to the lipocalin family of proteins. Examples are the major allergens of Horse, Cow, Dog, Mouse and Cockroach as well as beta-lactoglobulin of Cow's milk (27). A certain degree of cross-reactivity is thus possible.

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Rat allergens found in dust, urine, epithelium and saliva are a frequent cause of asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis, mainly in laboratory workers but also in ordinary individuals (28-30).

There is a strong association between work-related symptoms and specific sensitisation (31). Workers exposed to laboratory animals are at risk of developing asthma, rhinitis, angioedema, conjunctivitis, and urticaria. Between 10% and 33% of scientists and technicians handling small animals will develop laboratory animal allergy symptoms within 3 years of employment. Many of them will have severe symptoms requiring a change of occupation (9,25,32-33).

In workers exposed to Rats, Rat urinary allergen sensitisation risk increased with increasing exposure intensity. Workers who were atopic had a clearly elevated sensitisation risk at low allergen exposure levels (34). In a cross-sectional study performed on 540 workers at 8 facilities to quantify the exposure-response relationship for allergy to Rats, no clear exposureresponse relationship was observed. However, in the group of workers with less than 4 years of working experience with laboratory animals, the prevalence rate of sensitisation to Rat allergens was clearly associated with exposure levels. The exposure-response relationship was steepest for workers with atopy-associated risk factors, i.e., self-reported allergy or sensitisation to Cats or Dogs, or elevated

e74 Rat urine proteins

total serum IgE. The prevalence rates of sensitisation to Rat allergens for these workers were about 15, 9.5, and 7.3 times higher in the high-, medium-, and low-exposure group, respectively, compared with the internal reference group (35).

In a case-referent analysis of a cohort of 342 newly employed laboratory animal workers, examining the relationship between exposure to Rat urinary allergens, atopic status, smoking and the development of allergic symptoms and specific sensitisation, of those who developed illness, 80% reported that their symptoms started within 2 years of employment. The odds ratio for development of each symptom type (respiratory, eye or nose, and skin) and of an immediate skin-specific IgE positivity was increased in those with direct contact with Rats (36).

In a study evaluating the risk of laboratory animal allergy among research staff working in laboratories separate from the animal confinement area, 20% of the subjects had serum-specific IgE >0.35 kU/l to Rat urinary allergens and/or Mouse urinary allergens, and 32% had experienced animal work-related symptoms, although 90% of aeroallergen samples from the laboratories in question were below the detection limit. More than 4 years of exposure significantly increased laboratory animal sensitisation and symptoms. Working mainly with male rodents resulted in increased risk for sensitisation and for symptoms (8).

The suitability of radioallergosorbent test (RAST) inhibition to quantify occupational exposure to Rat urinary aeroallergen (RUA) has been assessed. The authors conclude that, in view of the complexity of Rat allergens, RAST inhibition is an appropriate method for the quantification of occupational exposure to Rats (37).

- Longbottom, J. L. Chracterization of allergens from the urines of experimental animals. McMillan Press, London 1983;525-529
- Laperche, Y., K. R. Lynch, K. P. Dolans, and P. Feigelsen. Tissue-specific control of alpha 2u globulin gene expression: constitutive synthesis in submaxillary gland. Cell 1983;32:453-460
- Bush RK, Wood RA, Eggleston PA. Laboratory animal allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(1):99-112
- 4. Spitzauer S. Allergy to mammalian proteins: at the borderline between foreign and self? Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1999;120(4):259-69
- 5. Schou C. Defining allergens of mammalian origin. Clin Exp Allergy 1993;23:7-14
- Bayard C, Holmquist L, Vesterberg O. Purification and identification of allergenic alpha (2u)-globulin species of rat urine. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1290(2):129-34
- 7. Gordon S, Tee RD, Stuart MC, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of allergens in rat fur and saliva. Allergy 2001;56(6):563-7
- Renstrom A, Karlsson AS, Malmberg P, Larsson PH, van Hage-Hamsten M. Working with male rodents may increase risk of allergy to laboratory animals. Allergy 2001;56(10):964-70
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G, Kromhout H. Determinants of airborne rat and mouse urinary allergen exposure. Scand J Work Environ Health 1998 Jun;24(3):228-35
- Walls AF, Longbottom JL. Quantitative immunoelectrophoretic analysis of rat allergen extracts. II. Fur, urine and saliva studied by crossed radioimmunoelectrophoresis. Allergy 1983;38(7):501-12
- Walls AF, Longbottom JL. Comparison of rat fur, urine, saliva, and other rat allergen extracts by skin testing, RAST, and RAST inhibition. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;75(2):242-51
- Twiggs JT, Agarwal MK, Dahlberg MJE, Yunginger JW. Immunochemical measurement of airborne mouse allergens in a laboratory facility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982;69:522-6
- Swanson MC, Agarwwal MK, Reed CE. An immunochemical approach to indoor aeroallergen quantitation with a new volumetric air sampler: studies with mite, roach, cat, mouse and guinea pig antigens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985;76:724-9
- Sakaguchi M, Inouye S, Miyazawa H et al. Evaluation of countermeasures for reduction of mouse airborne allergens. Laboratory Animal Science 1990;40:613
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Taylor AJ. Analysis of rat serum allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997;99(5):716-7

e74 Rat urine proteins

- Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of rat urine proteins and allergens by sodium dodecylsulfate-polyacrylamide gel eletrophoresis and immunoblotting. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993;92:298-305
- Wahn U, Peters T, Siraganian RP. Studies on the allergenic significance and structure of rat serum albumin. J Immunol 1980;125:2544-9
- 18. Wood RA. Laboratory animal allergens. ILAR J 2001;42(1):12-6
- Taylor AJ, Gordon S, Tee RD. Influence of bedding, cage design, and stock density on rat urinary aeroallergen levels. Am J Ind Med 1994;25(1):89
- Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Exposure to dust and rat urinary aeroallergens in research establishments. Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):593-6
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Lowson D, Wallace J, Newman Taylor AJ. Reduction of airborne allergenic urinary proteins from laboratory rats. Br J Ind Med 1992;49(6):416-22
- Thulin H, Bjorkdahl M, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A. Reduction of exposure to laboratory animal allergens in a research laboratory. Ann Occup Hyg 2002;46(1):61-8
- Baur X, Chen Z, Liebers V. Exposure-response relationships of occupational inhalative allergens. Clin Exp Allergy 1998;28(5):537-44
- 24. Lieutier-Colas F, Meyer P, Larsson P, Malmberg P, Frossard N, Pauli G, de Blay F. Difference in exposure to airborne major rat allergen (Rat n 1) and to endotoxin in rat quarters according to tasks. Clin Exp Allergy 2001;31(9):1449-56
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Newman Taylor AJ. Analysis of the allergenic composition of rat dust. Clin Exp Allergy 1996;26(5):533-41
- 26. Spitzauer S, Schweiger C, Sperr WR, Pandjaitan B, Valent P, Muhl S, Ebner C, Scheiner O, Kraft D, Rumpold H et al. Molecular characterization of dog albumin as a cross-reactive allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994;93(3):614-27
- Mantyjarvi R, Rautiainen J, Virtanen T. Lipocalins as allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2000;1482(1-2):308-17
- Moller NE, Wurden KV. Allergy to laboratory rats. [Danish] Ugeskr Laeger 1984;146(49):3869-72
- 29. Hunskaar S, Fosse RT. Allergy to laboratory mice and rats: a review of the pathophysiology, epidemiology and clinical aspects. Lab Anim 1990;24(4):358-74

- Platts-Mills TA, Longbottom J, Edwards J, Heymann PW. Asthma and rhinitis related to laboratory rats: use of a purified rat urinary allergen to study exposure in laboratories and the human immune response. N Engl Reg Allergy Proc 1987;8(4):245-51
- Cullinan P, Lowson D, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Gordon S, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Newman Taylor AJ. Work related symptoms, sensitisation, and estimated exposure in workers not previously exposed to laboratory rats. Occup Environ Med 1994;51(9):589-92
- Hunskar S. Allergy to laboratory animals. A new problem of the occupational environment. [Norwegian] Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 1989;109(24):2453-5
- Hesford JD, Platts-Mills TA, Edlich RF. Anaphylaxis after laboratory rat bite: an occupational hazard. J Emerg Med 1995;13(6):765-8
- 34. Heederik D, Venables KM, Malmberg P, Hollander A, Karlsson AS, Renstrom A, Doekes G, Nieuwenhijsen M, Gordon S. Exposure-response relationships for workrelated sensitization in workers exposed to rat urinary allergens: results from a pooled study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999;103(4):678-84
- Hollander A, Heederik D, Doekes G. Respiratory allergy to rats: exposure-response relationships in laboratory animal workers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997;155(2):562-7
- 36. Cullinan P, Cook A, Gordon S, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Tee RD, Venables KM, McDonald JC, Taylor AJ. Allergen exposure, atopy and smoking as determinants of allergy to rats in a cohort of laboratory employees. Eur Respir J 1999;13(5):1139-43
- Gordon S, Tee RD, Nieuwenhuijsen MJ, Lowson D, Harris J, Newman Taylor AJ. Measurement of airborne rat urinary allergen in an epidemiological study. Clin Exp Allergy 1994;24(11):1070-7

Re202 Reindeer epithelium

Rangifer tarandus

Family:
Common
names:

Source

Cervidae Reindeer, Eurasian

reindeer, Caribou

material: Epithelium

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of the dust of Reindeer leather workshops.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Historically, Reindeer were found in all northern latitudes, but due to extensive hunting by humans are now extinct in many parts of their former range. The largest herds now occur in Alaska, Canada, Scandinavia and Russia. This is the only Deer in which both sexes have antlers. Reindeer have long fur, light brown in summer and whitish in winter, with dense woolly undercoats. Reindeer are gregarious and migratory; they travel up to 1,000 km between their summer and winter grounds in herds of up to 200,000 animals. They are small but extremely strong and have great powers of endurance. A Reindeer can travel 64 km a day, pulling twice its own weight on a sled. They have been domesticated for many centuries in Lapland and Siberia, where they provide meat, milk, clothing, and transportation. The Laplanders until recently were completely dependent upon the Reindeer for their livelihood and followed the herds on their annual migrations. The wild Reindeer of North America, called Caribou, are larger than but otherwise quite similar to the Eurasian type. They have never been domesticated. Domesticated reindeer were introduced into Alaska from Siberia in the 1890s and became essential to the economy of the Alaskan Eskimo. Herds were established in Canada in the 1930s.



Environment

Reindeer inhabit tundra, taiga, and temperate forests, although they are now rare in temperate climates.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized.

Potential cross-reactivity

Reindeer and Deer are members of the same family. Deer dander allergens have been shown to be cross-reactive with the corresponding Cow allergens (1). RAST inhibition studies have also demonstrated antigenic cross-reactivity among Deer, Elk, Cat, Cattle and Horse (2). A certain degree of cross-reactivity may be expected for reindeer as well.

Re202 Reindeer epithelium

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis following exposure to Reindeer epithelial allergens may occur among Reindeer herders and in workshops where Reindeer leather is processed (3-4).

Reindeer herding is a major source of livelihood for more than 4,200 inhabitants of northern Finland. The prevalence of allergic symptoms among Reindeer herders was investigated. Specific IgE antibodies to Reindeer epithelium and total serum IgE were evaluated in 99 herders, 5 persons who handled Reindeer leather indoors, 21 atopic patients with Cow allergy and another 20 subjects with specific IgE to other inhalant allergens. Positive SPT to Reindeer epithelium was detected in 1, and specific IgE (by using enzyme allergosorbent test (EAST); a positive result being greater than or equal to 0.8 PRU/ml) in 7 herders (4). In a second report, these authors claim that positive skin-specific IgE to common allergens in Reindeer herders was to some extent lower than expected and that only 1 of 211 subjects had positive SPT to Reindeer epithelium (5).

Workers exposed by inhalation to dry epithelial Reindeer dust during their working shifts were examined for serum-specific IgE to Reindeer epithelial allergen. One of 5 workers was positive. Reindeer epithelial antigen concentrations varied from 0.01 μ g to 3.9 μ g/m³ in the air of the workshop. With the exception of 1 worker, all claimed work-associated respiratory symptoms (3).

- Spitzauer S, Valenta R, Muhl S, Rumpold H, Ebner H, Ebner C. Characterization of allergens from deer: cross-reactivity with allergens from cow dander. Clin Exp Allergy 1997;27(2):196-200
- Amrol DJ, Georgitis JW, Dunagan DP. Anaphylaxis to deer dander in a child: a case report. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2000;85(5):372-3
- Reijula K, Virtanen T, Halmepuro L, Anttonen H, Mantyjarvi R, Hassi J. Detection of airborne reindeer epithelial antigen by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay inhibition. Allergy 1992;47(3):203-6
- Reijula K, Halmepuro L, Hannuksela M, Larmi E, Hassi J. Specific IgE to reindeer epithelium in Finnish reindeer herders. Allergy 1991;46(8):577-81
- Reijula K, Larmi E, Hassi J, Hannuksela M. Respiratory symptoms and ventilatory function among Finnish reindeer herders. Arctic Med Res 1990;49(2):74-80

e81 Sheep epithelium

Ovis aries	
Family:	Bovidae
Common names:	Sheep, Domestic sheep, Ewe
Source material:	Epithelium
See also:	Sheep's whey Rf326 and Sheep's milk Rf325
Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation.	

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

Sheep were first domesticated c. 7,000 years ago, and the first use of their fleeces for wool is dated c. 4000 BC. (Wild Sheep, found in mountainous parts of Asia, North America, and the Mediterranean region, are agile rock climbers with large, spiraling horns. They do not bear wool.) The present-day breeds of domesticated Sheep vary greatly because they were developed for different purposes and environments. Sheep are bred for their wool, meat (mutton or lamb, according to age), skins, and, in certain parts of Europe and the Middle East, their milk, from which cheese is made. Among the important breeds are the Columbia, Cotswold, Dorset, Hampshire, Karakul, Leicester, Lincoln, Merino, Oxford, Rambouillet, Shropshire, Southdown, and Suffolk Sheep.

Environment

Sheep are found mostly in temperate climates and thrive on roughage. They tend to be kept in herds. Their wool is one of the most common sources of textiles in human culture.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized.



Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Exposure to epidermal allergens may result in asthma, allergic rhinitis and allergic conjunctivitis (1).

In a Spanish questionnaire-based study of 1,164 farmers, with 808 subjects included after non-exposed workers were excluded, Sheep workers reported the highest prevalence of chronic phlegm (38.5%), work-related symptoms (53.9%) and symptoms of organic dust toxic syndrome (35.9%) (2).

Other reactions

Allergy reactions to Sheep wool have been described, but conflicting results are apparent.

A study reported that in early stages of wool processing the overall frequency of respiratory work-related symptoms was low and that the symptoms were mainly nasal and/or ocular. The symptoms were not related to the stage of processing. Serumspecific IgE against wool extracts was not detectable (3).

In 64 wool textile workers, skin testing was performed with different wool allergens

e81 Sheep epithelium

(domestic and Australian). The prevalence of positive skin-specific IgE to all allergens was higher in wool than in control workers, although the difference was statistically significant only for washed domestic wool (wool workers: 42.2%; control workers: 19.6%). Increased serum IgE levels were more frequent in wool (26.6%) than in control workers (3.1%). In wool textile workers there was a high prevalence of acute and chronic respiratory symptoms. Many of the wool workers had an PEF₂₅ lower than 70% of that predicted. The authors report that, in general, the prevalence of symptoms and the lung function abnormalities did not correlate with the results of specific (wool) skin tests, but that their data suggested that exposure to wool dust in some workers may be associated with the development of acute and chronic respiratory symptoms and impairment of lung function, and that immunological abnormalities, although frequent in this group, did not appear to be associated with the severity of these changes (4).

Occupational dermatitis in Ewe milkers has been reported. This may be as a result of contact with milk rather than Sheep epithelium (5-6). IgE-mediated hypersensitivity resulting in respiratory crisis in a young man every time he milked his Sheep has been reported (7).

Sheepskins may be a source of House Dust mite and Cat allergens, as they rapidly accumulate allergens from the domestic environment. Sheepskins as infant bedding should be discouraged for infants at risk of sensitisation to House Dust mites and Cats (8-9).

See also Sheep's whey Rf326 and Sheep's milk Rf325.

- Radon K, Danuser B, Iversen M, Jorres R, Monso E, Opravil U, Weber C, Donham KJ, Nowak D. Respiratory symptoms in European animal farmers. Eur Respir J 2001;17(4):747-54
- Magarolas R, Monso E, Aguilar X, Radon K, Nowak D, Martinez C, Morera J. Prevalence and risk factors of respiratory symptoms in farmers; comment. [Spanish] Med Clin (Barc) 2000;114(18):685-9
- Moscato G, Catenacci G, Dellabianca A, Lecchi A, Omodeo P, Manfredi S, Tonin C. A respiratory and allergy survey in textile workers employed in early stages of wool processing. G Ital Med Lav Ergon 2000;22(3):236-40
- Zuskin E, Kanceljak B, Mustajbegovic J, Godnic-Cvar J, Schachter EN. Immunological reactions and respiratory function in wool textile workers. Am J Ind Med 1995;28(3):445-56
- 5. Gallo R, Cozzani E, Brusati C, Guarrera M. Ewe milker's hand dermatitis. Contact Dermatitis 2000;42(6):361-2
- 6. Quirce S, Olaguibel JM, Muro MD, Tabar AI. Occupational dermatitis in a ewe milker. Contact Dermatitis 1992;27(1):56
- Vargiu A, Vargiu G, Locci F, Del Giacco S, Del Giacco GS. Hypersensitivity reactions from inhalation of milk proteins. Allergy 1994;49(5):386-7
- Siebers RW, O'Grady GB, Fitzharris P, Crane J. House dust mite allergen accumulation on sheepskins. N Z Med J 1998;111(1076):408-9
- Sawyer G, Kemp T, Shaw R, Patchett K, Siebers R, Lewis S, Beasley R, Crane J, Fitzharris P. Biologic pollution in infant bedding in New Zealand: high allergen exposure during a vulnerable period. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102(5):765-70

e83 Swine epithelium

Sus scrofa	
Family:	Suidae
Common	
names:	Swine, Pig, Hog, Boar
Source	
material:	Epithelium
See also:	Swine urine proteins
	Re212, Swine serum
	albumin Re222, and
	Pork meat f26

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of farm, home and animal laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The name Swine is applied mainly to domestic animals, though several wild varieties, native to Eurasia and North Africa and introduced to North America and other regions, belong to the same species. (But 16 species of Pigs and Hogs in 8 genera make up the modern family *Suidae*.) Swine are valued for their flesh, prepared as Ham, Bacon, and Pork, and for their fat (lard); they also provide many other products, e.g., leather for gloves and footballs, and bristles for brushes.

Environment

A great majority of US Swine production has moved from open pens to enclosed, mechanised facilities. The trend is toward huge, factory-like farms where Swine are born and bred inside structures that feed, water, and dispose of wastes while controlling ambient temperature. The giant modern farms produce enormous amounts of waste; this has become of increasing concern as a potential source of water pollution.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized.



Potential cross-reactivity

Inhibition experiments have demonstrated that the spectrum of IgE reactivity to Cat serum albumin completely contains IgE reactivity to Swine serum albumin, suggesting that sensitisation to Cat is the primary event. The frequency of sensitisation to Cat serum albumin lies between 14% and 23%. Sensitisation to Swine albumin was found to be between 3% and 10%. About 1/3 of these individuals may experience allergic symptoms following Pork consumption, the Cat-Pork syndrome. Sensitisation to Cat serum albumin should be considered a useful marker of possible cross-sensitisation not only to Swine serum albumin but also to other mammalian serum albumins (1).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, occupational asthma, allergic rhinitis (2-3) and Swine Breeder's Lung, a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis (4) may occur in Swine/Pig breeders following exposure to Swine epithelium, Swine serum albumin and Swine urine proteins. Reports in the literature have not differentiated which of the 3 is predominantly responsible for adverse symptoms, and as with other

e83 Swine epithelium

mammalian allergens, the assumption is reasonable that all 3 contribute.

Reports in the literature of the atopic sensitisation risk that Swine pose to farmers and other individuals, and of the prevalence of allergic conditions, are contradictory.

An early study reported that Pig farming was a risk factor for asthma, chronic bronchitis, and wheezing during work (5).

Subsequent studies have concurred that Pig farmers have increased wheezing and significantly lower FEV_1 measurements than controls, but that few Pig farmers demonstrate atopy as determined by skinspecific IgE tests, suggesting that occupational exposure in Swine confinement buildings is associated only with mild increases of nonspecific, nonatopic airways responsiveness in Pig farmers (6-7).

Further studies, including cross-sectional surveys among Pig farmers, report an increased prevalence of cough, morning phlegm and chronic bronchitis, but not of asthma, despite many factors promoting the manifestation of asthma. Importantly, compared with controls, Pig farmers reported fewer allergies to common allergens and fewer symptoms of atopy in childhood (8-9). Health-based selection of nonasthmatics for Pig farming, a selection that tends to mask a work-related hazard for asthma, was offered as an explanation for these results (9).

The results of a questionnaire sent to 6,156 randomly selected animal farmers in Denmark, Germany, Switzerland, and Spain showed that Pig farmers were at highest risk for the development of work-related symptoms. A significant dose-response relationship between symptoms and daily hours worked inside animal houses was established for Pig. Self-reported nasal allergies and nasal irritation during work were said to be associated with the development of chronic phlegm (10). A Swiss study concurred that Pig farming was a risk factor for reporting nasal irritation at work (11).

A study conducted among farmers in eastern Poland examined 68 farmers from 17 randomly selected family farms. None of the farmers complained of any symptoms when working with Cows or Pigs. In 13 farmers positive skin-specific IgE and/or the presence of serum-specific IgE to Cow dander and/or Pig epithelia was found. Seven farmers were positive on skin-specific IgE tests: 2 to cow epithelium, 2 to Pig epithelium, and 3 to both allergens (12).

In New Zealand, in a postal questionnaire sent to a random sample of 2,500 farmers throughout the country, 77% of the 2,203 who were eligible replied. Asthma prevalence was higher for Horse breeders/groomers (16.5%), Pig farmers (18.2%), poultry farmers (17.4%), and those working with oats (17.4%) (13).

Furthermore, farmers have more complaints of work-related symptoms of smell impairment, and more often have nasal polyps and hyperaemia of the nasal mucosa. They also have higher levels of myeloperoxidase in nasal lavage (especially dairy farmers and Pig farmers), and a tendency to more-swollen nasal mucosa and lower olfactory threshold (especially grain farmers) (14).

Although reports of atopic sensitisation to Swine do not necessarily concur, some authors conclude that detection of Cow and Swine antigen-specific IgE may be a useful screening tool, although an exact assessment of sensitivity and specificity of the method in a larger population of exposed farmers will be required (15).

Swine farmers may develop Swine Breeder's Lung, a form of extrinsic allergic alveolitis, although this condition does not appear to be commonly reported as associated with Swine farming. A study reported on 2 Pig breeders who had typical symptoms after working in a pigsty. The diagnosis of Swine Breeder's Lung was confirmed by the finding of precipitating antibodies against Pig epidermal components and Pig serum in the patients' sera (4,16). An earlier study reported that sensitisation against Swine antigens correlated with exposure but not with the presence of symptoms and that a large antigen panel should be used in testing for sensitisation because of the many immunogenic dusts that are present in the air in Swine barns (17). This early study has been supported by a more recent report that demonstrated an increased prevalence of bronchitis, but showed that Swine building workers had no precipitins to antigens found in their environment and no clinical evidence of extrinsic allergic alveolitis. The number of years on the farm, dual exposure with Dairy cattle, positive skin prick tests, type of piggery, and type of feeding did not change the respiratory health impact of Swine buildings (18).

Other reactions

Major constituents of Swine confinement dust include not only Mites and animal dander, but bacteria, endotoxin, and fungal spores. Gaseous pollutants include ammonia, methane, and hydrogen sulfide. These contribute to chronic inflammation of the airways and a high prevalence of respiratory symptoms. Non-obstructive (and obstructive) bronchitis and Organic Dust Toxic Syndrome have been reported in Pig farmers (19-21).

Reactive Airways Dysfunction Syndrome (RADS) was reported in a 58-year-old male, following exposure to a high level of toxic gases in a Swine confinement building. This previously healthy, nonatopic man developed moderate, partially reversible airway obstruction and increased responsiveness within a month after the toxic exposure (22).

Allergic and photoallergic contact dermatitis to Olaquindox, a growth promotor added to animal feed, has been reported in Pig breeders (23-25). Photoallergenic dermatitis to airborne Olaquindox dust has also been documented in a group of 15 Pig breeders (26).

Compared to that of a control group, a significantly higher prevalence of positive skin reaction to *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* was reported among meat processing workers (41 vs. 13%), animal food workers (30 vs. 13%), Swine farmers (34 vs. 13%) and wool-textile workers (32% vs. 13%) (27). Exposure to domestic Mite allergens should be taken into account when assessing occupational exposure to allergens and the respiratory health of farmers (28).

Some Swine diseases are transmissible to humans. Among them are brucellosis, trichinosis, and cysticercosis.

See also Swine urine proteins Re212, Swine serum albumin Re222, and Pork meat f26

- Hilger C, Kohnen M, Grigioni F, Lehners C, Hentges F. Allergic cross-reactions between cat and pig serum albumin. Study at the protein and DNA levels. Allergy 1997;52(2):179-87
- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Fedotova EV, Spirin VF, Smirnov IV. Prevalence of allergic diseases in workers of industrial swine breeding. [Russian] Med Tr Prom Ekol 1995;(8):32-3
- Schlegel V, Liebetrau G, Pohl WD. Swine breeder's lung--a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis. [German] Z Erkr Atmungsorgane 1990;174(2):143-8
- Iversen M, Dahl R, Korsgaard J, Hallas T, Jensen EJ. Respiratory symptoms in Danish farmers: an epidemiological study of risk factors. Thorax 1988;43(11):872-7
- Zhou C, Hurst TS, Cockcroft DW, Dosman JA. Increased airways responsiveness in swine farmers. Chest 1991;99(4):941-4
- Scheefeldt M, Wilfert A, Lehnigk B, Wosnitzka H. Bronchial hyperreactivity of employees in swine and cattle breeding. [German] Z Erkr Atmungsorgane 1990;174(2):131-6
- Choudat D, Goehen M, Korobaeff M, Boulet A, Dewitte JD, Martin MH. Respiratory symptoms and bronchial reactivity among pig and dairy farmers. Scand J Work Environ Health 1994;20(1):48-54
- Vogelzang PF, van der Gulden JW, Tielen MJ, Folgering H, van Schayck CP. Health-based selection for asthma, but not for chronic bronchitis, in pig farmers: an evidence-based hypothesis. Eur Respir J 1999;13(1):187-9
- Radon K, Danuser B, Iversen M, Jorres R, Monso E, Opravil U, Weber C, Donham KJ, Nowak D. Respiratory symptoms in European animal farmers. Eur Respir J 2001;17(4):747-54
- Danuser B, Weber C, Kunzli N, Schindler C, Nowak D. Respiratory symptoms in Swiss farmers: an epidemiological study of risk factors. Am J Ind Med 2001;39(4):410-8
- Spiewak R. Sensitization to cow and pig allergens among farmers in Eastern Poland. [Polish] Med Pr 2001;52(5):351-4

e83 Swine epithelium

- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- Ahman M, Holmstrom M, Kolmodin-Hedman B, Thelin A. Nasal symptoms and pathophysiology in farmers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2001;74(4):279-84
- Spiewak R, Dutkiewicz J, Skorska C. Detection of specific IgE as a screening tool for cow and swine breeders' occupational allergic dermatoses. Ann Agric Environ Med 2000;7(2):145-7
- Baur X. Case report published by V. Schlegel, G. Liebetrau, W. D. Pohl, "Swine breeder's lung-– a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis". [Letter] [German] Pneumologie 1992;46(9):491
- Katila ML, Mantyjarvi RA, Ojanen TH. Sensitisation against environmental antigens and respiratory symptoms in swine workers. Br J Ind Med 1981;38(4):334-8
- Cormier Y, Boulet LP, Bedard G, Tremblay G. Respiratory health of workers exposed to swine confinement buildings only or to both swine confinement buildings and dairy barns. Scand J Work Environ Health 1991;17(4):269-75
- Nowak D. Health effects of airborne pollutants, particularly in swine confinement stalls, from the viewpoint of occupational medicine. [German] Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr 1998;105(6):225-34
- Vogelzang PF, van der Gulden JW, Folgering H, van Schayck CP. Organic dust toxic syndrome in swine confinement farming. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(4):332-4
- Vogelzang PF, van der Gulden JW, Folgering H, Heederik D, Tielen MJ, van Schayck CP. Longitudinal changes in bronchial responsiveness associated with swine confinement dust exposure. Chest 2000;117(5):1488-95

- Cormier Y, Coll B, Laviolette M, Boulet LP. Reactive airways dysfunction syndrome (RADS) following exposure to toxic gases of a swine confinement building. Eur Respir J 1996;9(5):1090-1
- Kumar A, Freeman S. Photoallergic contact dermatitis in a pig farmer caused by olaquindox. Contact Dermatitis 1996;35(4):249-50
- Sanchez-Pedreno P, Frias J, Martinez-Escribano J, Rodriguez M, Hernandez-Carrasco S. Occupational photoallergic contact dermatitis to olaquindox. Am J Contact Dermat 2001;12(4):236-8
- Lonceint J, Sassolas B, Guillet G. Photoallergic reactions to olaquindox in swine raisers: role of growth promotors used in feed. [French] Ann Dermatol Venereol 2001;128(1):46-8
- 26. Schauder S, Schroder W, Geier J. Olaquindox-induced airborne photoallergic contact dermatitis followed by transient or persistent light reactions in 15 pig breeders. Contact Dermatitis 1996;35(6):344-54
- Macan J, Kanceljak-Macan B. Prevalence of sensitization to Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus in several industrial populations. Arh Hig Rada Toksikol 1995;46(4):399-404
- Radon K, Schottky A, Garz S, Koops F, Szadkowski D, Radon K, Nowak D, Luczynska C. Distribution of dust-mite allergens (Lep d 2, Der p 1, Der f 1, Der 2) in pig-farming environments and sensitization of the respective farmers. Allergy 2000;55(3):219-25

Re222 Swine serum albumin

Sus scrofa	
Family:	Suidae
Common	Curino Dia Llag Door
names:	Swine, Pig, Hog, Boar
Source	Comment
material:	Serum
See also:	Swine epithelium e83,
	Swine urine proteins
	Re212, and
	Pork meat f26
Direct or indire	ct contact with animal

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of farm, home and animal laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The name Swine is applied mainly to domestic animals, though several wild varieties, native to Eurasia and North Africa and introduced to North America and other regions, belong to the same species. (But 16 species of Pigs and Hogs in 8 genera make up the modern family *Suidae*.) Swine are valuable for their flesh, prepared as Ham, Bacon, and Pork, and for their fat (lard); they also provide many other products, e.g., leather for gloves, footballs, and other articles, and bristles for brushes.

Environment

A great majority of US Swine production has moved from open pens to enclosed, mechanized facilities. The trend is toward huge, factory-like farms where Swine are born and bred inside structures that feed, water, and dispose of wastes while controlling ambient temperature. The giant modern farms produce enormous amounts of waste; this has become of increasing concern as a potential source of water pollution.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized.



Potential cross-reactivity

Inhibition experiments have demonstrated that the spectrum of IgE reactivity to Cat serum albumin completely contains IgE reactivity to Swine serum albumin, suggesting that sensitisation to Cat is the primary event. The frequency of sensitisation to Cat serum albumin lies between 14% and 23%. Sensitisation to Swine albumin was found to be between 3% and 10%. About 1/3 of these individuals may experience allergic symptoms following Pork consumption, the Cat-Pork syndrom. Sensitisation to Cat serum albumin should be considered a useful marker of possible cross-sensitisation not only to Swine serum albumin but also to other mammalian serum albumins (1).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, occupational asthma, allergic rhinitis (2-3) and Swine Breeder's Lung, a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis (4), may occur in Swine/Pig breeders following exposure to Swine epithelium, Swine serum albumin and Swine urine proteins. Reports in the literature have not differentiated which of the 3 is predominantly responsible for adverse symptoms, and as with other

Re222 Swine serum albumin

mammalian allergens, the assumption is reasonable that all 3 contribute.

Reports in the literature of the atopic sensitisation risk that Swine pose to farmers and other individuals, and of the prevalence of allergic conditions, are contradictory.

An early study reported that Pig farming was a risk factor for asthma, chronic bronchitis, and wheezing during work (5).

Subsequent studies have concurred that Pig farmers have increased wheezing and significantly lower FEV_1 measurements than controls, but that few Pig farmers demonstrate atopy as determined by skinspecific IgE tests, suggesting that occupational exposure in Swine confinement buildings is associated only with mild increases of nonspecific, nonatopic airways responsiveness in Pig farmers (6-7).

Further studies, including cross-sectional surveys among Pig farmers, report an increased prevalence of cough, morning phlegm and chronic bronchitis, but not of asthma, despite many factors promoting the manifestation of asthma. Importantly, compared with controls, Pig farmers reported fewer allergies to common allergens and fewer symptoms of atopy in childhood (8-9). Health-based selection of nonasthmatics for Pig farming, a selection that tends to mask a work-related hazard for asthma, was offered as an explanation for these results (9).

The results of a questionnaire sent to 6,156 randomly selected animal farmers in Denmark, Germany, Switzerland, and Spain showed that Pig farmers were at highest risk for the development of work-related symptoms. A significant dose-response relationship between symptoms and daily hours worked inside animal houses was established for Pig. Self-reported nasal allergies and nasal irritation during work were said to be associated with the development of chronic phlegm (10). A Swiss study concurred that Pig farming was a risk factor for reporting nasal irritation at work (11).

A study conducted among farmers in eastern Poland examined 68 farmers from 17 randomly selected family farms. None of the farmers complained of any symptoms when working with Cows or Pigs. In 13 farmers positive skin-specific IgE and/or the presence of serum-specific IgE to Cow dander and/or Pig epithelia was found. Seven farmers were positive on skin-specific IgE tests: 2 to Cow epithelium, 2 to Pig epithelium, and 3 to both allergens (12).

In New Zealand, in a postal questionnaire sent to a random sample of 2,500 farmers throughout the country, 77% of the 2,203 who were eligible replied. Asthma prevalence was higher for Horse breeders/groomers (16.5%), Pig farmers (18.2%), poultry farmers (17.4%), and those working with Oats (17.4%) (13).

Furthermore, farmers have more complaints of work-related symptoms of smell impairment, and more often have nasal polyps and hyperaemia of the nasal mucosa. They also have higher levels of myeloperoxidase in nasal lavage (especially dairy farmers and Pig farmers), and a tendency to more-swollen nasal mucosa and lower olfactory threshold (especially grain farmers) (14).

Although reports of atopic sensitisation to Swine do not necessarily concur, some authors conclude that detection of Cow and Swine antigen-specific IgE may be a useful screening tool, although an exact assessment of sensitivity and specificity of the method in a larger population of exposed farmers will be required (15).

Swine farmers may develop Swine Breeder's Lung, a form of extrinsic allergic alveolitis, although this condition does not appear to be commonly reported as associated with Swine farming. A study reported on 2 Pig breeders who had typical symptoms after working in a pigsty. The diagnosis of Swine Breeder's Lung was confirmed by the finding of precipitating antibodies against Pig epidermal components and Pig serum in the patients' sera (4,16). An earlier study reported that sensitisation against Swine antigens correlated with exposure but not with the presence of symptoms and that a large antigen panel should be used in testing for sensitisation because of the many immunogenic dusts that are present in the air in Swine barns (17). This early study has been supported by a more recent report that demonstrated an increased prevalence of bronchitis, but showed that Swine building workers had no precipitins to antigens found in their environment and no clinical evidence of extrinsic allergic alveolitis. The number of years on the farm, dual exposure with Dairy cattle, positive skin prick tests, type of piggery, and type of feeding did not change the respiratory health impact of Swine buildings (18).

In healthy subjects, acute inhalation of Swine dust has been shown to cause an influx of inflammatory cells into the airways and increased bronchial responsiveness. The exposure may also cause fever and generalised symptoms. Proinflammatory cytokines appear to be involved in the response to inhaled Swine dust. A significant correlation between the IL-6 response in BAL fluid and exposure to airborne dust endotoxin activity and 3-OH fatty acids was demonstrated (19).

Other reactions

Some Swine diseases are transmissible to humans. Among them are brucellosis, trichinosis, and cysticercosis.

See also Swine epithelium e83, Swine urine proteins Re212, and Pork meat f26.

- Hilger C, Kohnen M, Grigioni F, Lehners C, Hentges F. Allergic cross-reactions between cat and pig serum albumin. Study at the protein and DNA levels. Allergy 1997;52(2):179-87
- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Fedotova EV, Spirin VF, Smirnov IV. Prevalence of allergic diseases in workers of industrial swine breeding. [Russian] Med Tr Prom Ekol 1995;(8):32-3
- Schlegel V, Liebetrau G, Pohl WD. Swine breeder's lung – a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis. [German] Z Erkr Atmungsorgane 1990;174(2):143-8
- Iversen M, Dahl R, Korsgaard J, Hallas T, Jensen EJ. Respiratory symptoms in Danish farmers: an epidemiological study of risk factors. Thorax 1988;43(11):872-7
- Zhou C, Hurst TS, Cockcroft DW, Dosman JA. Increased airways responsiveness in swine farmers. Chest 1991;99(4):941-4
- Scheefeldt M, Wilfert A, Lehnigk B, Wosnitzka H. Bronchial hyperreactivity of employees in swine and cattle breeding. [German] Z Erkr Atmungsorgane 1990;174(2):131-6
- Choudat D, Goehen M, Korobaeff M, Boulet A, Dewitte JD, Martin MH. Respiratory symptoms and bronchial reactivity among pig and dairy farmers. Scand J Work Environ Health 1994;20(1):48-54
- Vogelzang PF, van der Gulden JW, Tielen MJ, Folgering H, van Schayck CP. Health-based selection for asthma, but not for chronic bronchitis, in pig farmers: an evidence-based hypothesis. Eur Respir J 1999;13(1):187-9
- Radon K, Danuser B, Iversen M, Jorres R, Monso E, Opravil U, Weber C, Donham KJ, Nowak D. Respiratory symptoms in European animal farmers. Eur Respir J 2001;17(4):747-54
- Danuser B, Weber C, Kunzli N, Schindler C, Nowak D. Respiratory symptoms in Swiss farmers: an epidemiological study of risk factors. Am J Ind Med 2001;39(4):410-8
- 12. Spiewak R. Sensitization to cow and pig allergens among farmers in Eastern Poland. [Polish] Med Pr 2001;52(5):351-4
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- Ahman M, Holmstrom M, Kolmodin-Hedman B, Thelin A. Nasal symptoms and pathophysiology in farmers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2001;74(4):279-84

Re222 Swine serum albumin

- Spiewak R, Dutkiewicz J, Skorska C. Detection of specific IgE as a screening tool for cow and swine breeders' occupational allergic dermatoses. Ann Agric Environ Med 2000;7(2):145-7
- Baur X. Case report published by V. Schlegel, G. Liebetrau, W. D. Pohl, "Swine breeder's lung-– a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis". [Letter] [German] Pneumologie 1992;46(9):491
- Katila ML, Mantyjarvi RA, Ojanen TH. Sensitisation against environmental antigens and respiratory symptoms in swine workers. Br J Ind Med 1981;38(4):334-8
- Cormier Y, Boulet LP, Bedard G, Tremblay G. Respiratory health of workers exposed to swine confinement buildings only or to both swine confinement buildings and dairy barns. Scand J Work Environ Health 1991;17(4):269-75
- Wang Z, Larsson K, Palmberg L, Malmberg P, Larsson P, Larsson L. Inhalation of swine dust induces cytokine release in the upper and lower airways. Eur Respir J 1997;10(2):381-7

Re212 Swine, urine proteins

Sus scrofa	
Family:	Suidae
Common names:	Swine, Pig, Hog, Boar
Source material:	Urine

See also: Swine epithelium e83, Swine serum albumin Re222, and Pork meat f26

Direct or indirect contact with animal allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Animal allergens are major components of farm, home and animal laboratory dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The name Swine is applied mainly to domestic animals, though several wild varieties, native to Eurasia and North Africa and introduced to North America and other regions, belong to the same species. (But 16 species of Pigs and Hogs in 8 genera make up the modern family *Suidae*.) Swine are valuable for their flesh, prepared as Ham, Bacon, and Pork, and for their fat (lard); they also provide many other products, e.g., leather for gloves, footballs, and other articles, and bristles for brushes.

Environment

A great majority of US Swine production has moved from open pens to enclosed, mechanized facilities. The trend is toward huge, factory-like farms where Swine are born and bred inside structures that feed, water, and dispose of wastes while controlling ambient temperature. The giant modern farms produce enormous amounts of waste; this has become of increasing concern as a potential source of water pollution.

Allergens

No allergens from this animal have yet been characterized.



Potential cross-reactivity

Inhibition experiments have demonstrated that the spectrum of IgE reactivity to Cat serum albumin completely contains IgE reactivity to porcine serum albumin, suggesting that sensitisation to Cat is the primary event. The frequency of sensitisation to Cat serum albumin lies between 14% and 23%. Sensitisation to porcine albumin was found to be between 3% and 10%. About 1/3 of these individuals may experience allergic symptoms following Pork consumption, the Cat-Pork syndrom. Sensitisation to Cat serum albumin should be considered a useful marker of possible cross-sensitisation not only to porcine serum albumin but also to other mammalian serum albumins (1).

Clinical Experience

IgE mediated reactions

Asthma, occupational asthma, allergic rhinitis (2-3), and Swine Breeder's Lung, a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis (4), may occur in Swine/Pig breeders following exposure to Swine epithelium, Swine serum albumin and Swine urine proteins. Reports in the literature have not differentiated which of the 3 is predominantly responsible for adverse symptoms, and as with other

Re212 Swine, urine proteins

mammalian allergens, the assumption is reasonable that all 3 contribute. One study reports on occupational asthma that was caused by allergy to Pigs' urine (5).

Reports in the literature of the atopic sensitisation risk that Swine pose to farmers and other individuals, and of the prevalence of allergic conditions, are contradictory.

An early study reported that Pig farming was a risk factor for asthma, chronic bronchitis, and wheezing during work (6).

Subsequent studies have concurred that Pig farmers have increased wheezing and significantly lower FEV_1 measurements than controls, but that few Pig farmers demonstrate atopy as determined by skinspecific IgE tests, suggesting that occupational exposure in Swine confinement buildings is associated only with mild increases of nonspecific, nonatopic airways responsiveness in Pig farmers (7-8).

Further studies, including cross-sectional surveys among Pig farmers, report an increased prevalence of cough, morning phlegm and chronic bronchitis, but not of asthma, despite many factors promoting the manifestation of asthma. Importantly, compared with controls, Pig farmers reported fewer allergies to common allergens and fewer symptoms of atopy in childhood (9-10). Health-based selection of nonasthmatics for Pig farming, a selection that tends to mask a work-related hazard for asthma, was offered as an explanation for these results (10).

The results of a questionnaire sent to 6,156 randomly selected animal farmers in Denmark, Germany, Switzerland, and Spain showed that Pig farmers were at highest risk for the development of work-related symptoms. A significant dose-response relationship between symptoms and daily hours worked inside animal houses was established for Pig. Self-reported nasal allergies and nasal irritation during work were said to be associated with the development of chronic phlegm (11). A Swiss study concurred that Pig farming was a risk factor for reporting nasal irritation at work (12). A study conducted among farmers in eastern Poland examined 68 farmers from 17 randomly selected family farms. None of the farmers complained of any symptoms when working with Cows or Pigs. In 13 farmers positive skin-specific IgE and/or the presence of serum-specific IgE to Cow dander and/or Pig epithelia was found. Seven farmers were positive on skin-specific IgE tests: 2 to Cow epithelium, 2 to Pig epithelium, and 3 to both allergens (13).

In New Zealand, in a postal questionnaire sent to a random sample of 2,500 farmers throughout the country, 77% of the 2,203 who were eligible replied. Asthma prevalence was higher for Horse breeders/groomers (16.5%), Pig farmers (18.2%), poultry farmers (17.4%), and those working with Oats (17.4%) (14).

Furthermore, farmers have more complaints of work-related symptoms of smell impairment, and more often have nasal polyps and hyperaemia of the nasal mucosa. They also have higher levels of myeloperoxidase in nasal lavage (especially dairy farmers and Pig farmers), and a tendency to more-swollen nasal mucosa and lower olfactory threshold (especially grain farmers) (15).

Although reports of atopic sensitisation to Swine do not necessarily concur, some authors conclude that detection of Cow and Swine antigen-specific IgE may be a useful screening tool, although an exact assessment of sensitivity and specificity of the method in a larger population of exposed farmers will be required (16).

Swine farmers may develop Swine Breeder's Lung, a form of extrinsic allergic alveolitis, although this condition does not appear to be commonly reported as associated with Swine farming. A study reported on 2 Pig breeders who had typical symptoms after working in a pigsty. The diagnosis of Swine Breeder's Lung was confirmed by the finding of precipitating antibodies against Pig epidermal components and Pig serum in the patients' sera (4,17). An earlier study reported that sensitisation against Swine antigens correlated with exposure but not with the
presence of symptoms and that a large antigen panel should be used in testing for sensitisation because of the many immunogenic dusts that are present in the air in Swine barns (18). This early study has been supported by a more recent report that demonstrated an increased prevalence of bronchitis, but showed that Swine building workers had no precipitins to antigens found in their environment and no clinical evidence of extrinsic allergic alveolitis. The number of years on the farm, dual exposure with Dairy cattle, positive skin prick tests, type of piggery, and type of feeding did not change the respiratory health impact of Swine buildings (19).

In healthy subjects, acute inhalation of Swine dust has been shown to cause an influx of inflammatory cells into the airways and increased bronchial responsiveness. The exposure may also cause fever and generalised symptoms. Proinflammatory cytokines appear to be involved in the response to inhaled Swine dust. A significant correlation between the IL-6 response in BAL fluid and exposure to airborne dust endotoxin activity and 3-OH fatty acids was demonstrated (20).

Other reactions

Some Swine diseases are transmissible to humans. Among them are brucellosis, trichinosis, and cysticercosis.

See also Swine epithelium e83, Swine serum albumin Re222, and Pork meat f26.

References

- Hilger C, Kohnen M, Grigioni F, Lehners C, Hentges F. Allergic cross-reactions between cat and pig serum albumin. Study at the protein and DNA levels. Allergy 1997;52(2):179-87
- Bessot JC, Blaumeiser M, Kopferschmitt MC, Pauli G. Occupational asthma in an agricultural setting. [French] Rev Mal Respir 1996;13(3):205-15
- Fedotova EV, Spirin VF, Smirnov IV. Prevalence of allergic diseases in workers of industrial swine breeding. [Russian] Med Tr Prom Ekol 1995;(8):32-3
- Schlegel V, Liebetrau G, Pohl WD. Swine breeder's lung--a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis. [German] Z Erkr Atmungsorgane 1990;174(2):143-8
- Harries MG, Cromwell O. Occupational asthma caused by allergy to pigs' urine. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1982;284(6319):867
- Iversen M, Dahl R, Korsgaard J, Hallas T, Jensen EJ. Respiratory symptoms in Danish farmers: an epidemiological study of risk factors. Thorax 1988;43(11):872-7
- Zhou C, Hurst TS, Cockcroft DW, Dosman JA. Increased airways responsiveness in swine farmers. Chest 1991;99(4):941-4
- Scheefeldt M, Wilfert A, Lehnigk B, Wosnitzka H. Bronchial hyperreactivity of employees in swine and cattle breeding. [German] Z Erkr Atmungsorgane 1990;174(2):131-6
- Choudat D, Goehen M, Korobaeff M, Boulet A, Dewitte JD, Martin MH. Respiratory symptoms and bronchial reactivity among pig and dairy farmers. Scand J Work Environ Health 1994;20(1):48-54
- Vogelzang PF, van der Gulden JW, Tielen MJ, Folgering H, van Schayck CP. Health-based selection for asthma, but not for chronic bronchitis, in pig farmers: an evidence-based hypothesis. Eur Respir J 1999;13(1):187-9
- Radon K, Danuser B, Iversen M, Jorres R, Monso E, Opravil U, Weber C, Donham KJ, Nowak D. Respiratory symptoms in European animal farmers. Eur Respir J 2001;17(4):747-54
- Danuser B, Weber C, Kunzli N, Schindler C, Nowak D. Respiratory symptoms in Swiss farmers: an epidemiological study of risk factors. Am J Ind Med 2001;39(4):410-8
- Spiewak R. Sensitization to cow and pig allergens among farmers in Eastern Poland. [Polish] Med Pr 2001;52(5):351-4
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Bradshaw L, Slater T, Erkinjuntti-Pekkanen R, Fishwick D, Pearce N. Asthma and allergy in New Zealand farmers. Am J Ind Med 1999;35(1):51-7
- Ahman M, Holmstrom M, Kolmodin-Hedman B, Thelin A. Nasal symptoms and pathophysiology in farmers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2001;74(4):279-84

Re212 Swine, urine proteins

- Spiewak R, Dutkiewicz J, Skorska C. Detection of specific IgE as a screening tool for cow and swine breeders' occupational allergic dermatoses. Ann Agric Environ Med 2000;7(2):145-7
- Baur X. Case report published by V. Schlegel, G. Liebetrau, W. D. Pohl, "Swine breeder's lung-– a form of exogenous allergic alveolitis". [Letter] [German] Pneumologie 1992;46(9):491
- Katila ML, Mantyjarvi RA, Ojanen TH. Sensitisation against environmental antigens and respiratory symptoms in swine workers. Br J Ind Med 1981;38(4):334-8
- Cormier Y, Boulet LP, Bedard G, Tremblay G. Respiratory health of workers exposed to swine confinement buildings only or to both swine confinement buildings and dairy barns. Scand J Work Environ Health 1991;17(4):269-75
- Wang Z, Larsson K, Palmberg L, Malmberg P, Larsson P, Larsson L. Inhalation of swine dust induces cytokine release in the upper and lower airways. Eur Respir J 1997;10(2):381-7

e89 Turkey feathers

Meleagris gallopavo

-	-	-
Family:		Phasianidae
Common names:		Turkey
Source material:		Feathers
See also:		Turkey f284 for allergy
		to furkey meat

Direct or indirect contact with bird allergens frequently causes sensitisation. Bird allergens are major components of house dust.

Allergen Exposure

Geographical distribution

The Turkey is a New World variety of the pheasant. The domesticated variety is bred mainly for its meat, a traditional holiday dish in the United States. Turkeys are conspicuous for their tail plumage, sometimes carried in a fan-like display like that of peacocks, but in more muted colours. It is estimated that Turkeys have approximately 3,500 feathers at maturity.

Environment

Wild turkeys are still abundant in parts of North America, and are hunted for sport. Domesticated turkeys, though sometimes kept as pets or ornamental animals, are usually raised in large commercial settings. Breeders as well as workers in the Turkey food processing industry are examples of groups with high risk of exposure. Other examples of exposure areas are pillows made with Turkey down, arts and crafts that include Turkey feathers, and wing feathers used in fletching arrows.



Allergens

No allergens have yet been characterized.

Potential cross-reactivity

IgE-mediated reactions

In general, feathers have been reported to cause allergic asthma and rhinitis and possibly also atopic dermatitis. In a study reporting sensitivity to feathers, bird serum, excrement, egg yolk, Hen's egg-white and Chicken meat, it was found that sensitisation was acquired through the inhalation of bird components (1). Laboratory tests found specific IgE to feathers, livetin, Hen's eggwhite and yolk in these patients.

Results from Kilpiö *et al.* suggest that true feather allergy is rare and that some of the positive reactions in skin-prick tests to feather extracts are probably caused by Mite allergens present in feathers (2).

e89 Turkey feathers

Hypersensitivity lung disease has been reported in the Turkey raising industry (3). This disease is also known as extrinsic allergic alveolitis, Bird Fancier's Lung and Farmer's Lung and is a disease of inflammation of the lung parenchyma in the terminal bronchioles and alveoli. Symptoms may start soon after exposure to bird allergens or after many years, and may include breathlessness, cough, occasional chills, and fever. Death may also result.

Clinical allergy to commercial feather products is less common than usually thought, as a result of the removal of dust, washing, and drying at 125 °C. The allergens derived from unrefined feathers include bird serum proteins, bird droppings, and feather Mites (2).

Other reactions

See also Turkey f284 for allergy to Turkey meat.

References

- Wyss M, Huwyler T, Wüthrich B. "Bird-egg" und "egg-bird syndrome" (Bird-egg and eggbird syndrome). Allergologie 1991;14:275-278
- Kilpiö K, Mäkinen-Kiljunen S, Haahtela T, Hannuksela M. Allergy to feathers. Allergy 1998;53(2):159-164
- Boyer RS, Klock LE, Schmidt CD, Hyland L, Maxwell K, Gardner RM, Renzetti AD Jr. Hypersensitivity lung disease in the Turkey raising industry. Am Rev Respir Dis 1974;109(6):630-5

Mixes

These tests consist of a mixture of different allergens, related or unrelated. For specific information about the included allergens consult the separate descriptions.

	exi
Cat dander (e1)	page 29
Horse dander (e3)	page 93
Cow dander (e4)	page 57
Dog dander (e5)	page 63
	ex2
Cat dander (e1)	page 29
Dog dander (e5)	page 63
Guinea pig epithelium (e6)	page 87
Rat epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins (e87)	page 151
Mouse epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins (e88	3) page 107
	ex70
Guinea pig epithelium (e6)	page 87
Rabbit epithelium (e82)	page 137
Hamster epithelium (e84)	page 91
Rat epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins (e87)	page 151
Mouse epithelium, serum proteins and urine proteins (e88	3) page 107
	ex71
Goose feathers (e70)	page 85
Chicken feathers (e85)	page 47
Duck feathers (e86)	page 73
Turkey feathers (e89)	page 183
	ex72
Budgerigar feathers (e78)	page 17
Canary bird feathers (e201)	page 25
Parakeet feathers (Parakeet)	Not as single allergen
Parrot feathers (e213)	page 125
Finch feathers (Re214)	page 77
	ex73
Goose feathers (e70)	page 85
Chicken feathers (e85)	page 47
Duck feathers (e86)	page 73
Parrot feathers (e213)	page 125

thermoscientific.com/phadia

© 2012 Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. All rights reserved. All trademarks are the property of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. and its subsidiaries. Manufacturer, Phadia AB, Uppsala Sweden.

Head office Sweden +46 18 16 50 00 Austria +43 1 270 20 20 Belgium +32 2 749 55 15 Brazil +55 11 3345 5050 China +86 25 8960 5700 Czech Republic +420 220 518 743 Denmark +45 70 23 33 06 Finland +338 9 3291 0110 France +33 161 37 34 30 Germany +49 761 47 8050 India +91 11 4610 7555/56 Itaby +39 02 64 163 411 Japan +81 3 5365 8332 Korea +82 2 2027 5400 Norway +47 21 67 32 80 Portugal +351 21 423 5350 South Africa +27 11 792 6790 Spain +34 928 765 800 Sweden +46 18 16 60 60 Switzerland +41 43 343 4050 Taivan +86 2 2516 0925 The Netherlands +31 30 602 37 00 United Kingdom/Ireland +44 1 908 769 110 USA +1 800 346 4364 Other countries +46 18 16 50 00



52-5107-90/02 RAK Design, 2012